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MINISTER’S FOREWORD
LORD DAVIES OF ABERSOCH

I WAS HONOURED TO BE APPOINTED MINISTER FOR TRADE,
INVESTMENT AND BUSINESS THIS YEAR, LEADING AN
ORGANISATION HELD IN HIGH ESTEEM BY BOTH THE PUBLIC AND
PRIVATE SECTORS, AND ONE THAT WILL PLAY SUCH A MAJOR PART
IN HELPING THE UK ECONOMY OUT OF RECESSION AND TOWARDS
RECOVERY.
2 MINISTER’S FOREWORD

I was honoured to be appointed Minister for Trade,
Investment and Business this year, leading an
organisation held in high esteem by both the public and
private sectors, and one that will play such a major part
in helping the UK economy out of recession and towards
recovery.
The last year was an extremely challenging one for the
global economy, and we remain in uncertain times for
the coming year. The Prime Minister has said that the
global problems we face require global solutions and we
recognise that to emerge from the current downturn, a
unique combination of innovation, determination and
agility, coupled with a strong entrepreneurial spirit,
will be required. It is because of this that we remain
conﬁdent. The UK possesses a high level of resilience
as well as signiﬁcant strengths to help it through these
challenging times. These strengths include a strong,
open business environment with appropriate levels of
regulation; strong intellectual property protection and
excellence in creativity and innovation; world-class
talent and a exible workforce; a creativity hub with
excellent Research & Development (R&D); and a
gateway for international connections, taking companies
beyond the UK and delivering a multiplier effect.
I have no doubt that these strengths provide UK
business with the opportunity to export its way out of
the recession, for it is our ability to compete for business
overseas and to attract the best investment to the UK
that will be crucial to our economic success.

to overseas customers and markets at high proﬁle events
in the UK and overseas.
We are not complacent; we know that we have more
to do and that we can do more to help UK business.
A particular concern is that, while we help over 20,000
companies a year and have 28,000 companies registered
on our website, evidence from a UKTI survey suggests
that only 35% of exporting companies use UKTI
services. It is clear that there is enormous untapped
export potential we could be helping; be they exporting
companies who do not use our services or businesses
currently not exporting but who could if they just had
the right help.
The year ahead will be another busy and challenging
time for all involved in UKTI, and I know that all staff
will rise to this challenge as we help British companies
and the British economy weather the storm and ready
themselves for the upturn.

Lord Davies of Abersoch
Minister for Trade, Investment and Business

UK Trade & Investment (UKTI) has an excellent record
of delivering signiﬁcant beneﬁts to the UK economy,
and last year was no different, as this report shows.
I believe it is recognition of the excellent work we have
achieved that saw the Chancellor announce in his 2009
Budget an extra £10m for UKTI and the ability to pitch
for more of the £750m allocated to the former
Department for Business, Enterprise & Regulatory
Reform (BERR), the new Department for Business,
Innovation and Skills (BIS). This measure supports two
commitments: one, made at the London Summit, to
“Promote global trade and reject protectionism to
underpin prosperity”, and the second, the delivery of the
international dimensions of “Building Britain’s Future –
New Industry, New Jobs”. Over the next two years, this
money will be spent showcasing UK business strengths
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CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S FOREWORD
SIR ANDREW CAHN KCMG

I AM DELIGHTED THAT UKTI’S RESULTS FOR 2008–09 ARE THE BEST
WE HAVE EVER ACHIEVED. THE DEPARTMENTAL REPORT AND
ACCOUNTS 2008–09 DESCRIBES THIS SUCCESS AND THE RESOURCES
DEPLOYED TO ACHIEVE THIS.

4 CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S FOREWORD

I am delighted that UKTI’s results for 2008–09 are the
best we have ever achieved. The Departmental Report
and Accounts 2008–09 describes this success and the
resources deployed to achieve this. The report restates
our commitments to help UK-based companies develop
their international business and to provide support for
overseas companies wishing to locate in the UK.
For a taxpayer outlay of around £230m, UKTI helped
our trade customers achieve an estimated £3.6 billion of
additional proﬁt, a 12.5% increase on the previous year.
In other words, every pound spent by UKTI on trade
services in 2008–09 helped generate £161 additional
proﬁt for UK business. Over 20,000 UK businesses were
able to exploit overseas opportunities because of
assistance from UKTI, a 30% increase on last year.
We also helped UK business secure just over £4 billion
of defence export sales, retaining our position as second
in the world behind the United States. Independent
research proves that our trade customers achieve
improvements in their business performance as a direct
result of our services. UKTI has also increased its income
to over £4.5m for chargeable services, a 26% increase
on last year. This has been re-invested to deliver more
for business.
For inward investment2, at a national level, it was a
record year and the ﬁfth consecutive year of growth.
UKTI directly contributed through involvement in 600
projects, an increase on last year and signiﬁcantly ahead
of our target. We have clearly demonstrated the strength
of the foundations upon which the UK has built and
maintained its standing as the number one investment
location in Europe and that the UK is truly a
springboard for global growth.

companies to diversify their export markets. We are also
working widely across Government, playing a part in a
number of cross-Government initiatives including
contributing to the Government’s Manufacturing
Strategy and through delivering the international
component of Building Britain’s Future – New Industry,
New Jobs, the Government’s strategy to secure the UK’s
future economic prosperity.
We have undertaken signiﬁcant work over the last year,
to maximise the value of our resources by moving them
to where they are most productive for UK business and
are realigning our inward investment resources to
ensure that funding and posts are focused on the most
productive markets.
During 2008–09, the National Audit Ofﬁce (NAO)3
reported on the value for money of UKTI’s trade
services. It stated that UKTI is making good progress
against its targets and has in place a robust system of
assessing delivery and of obtaining regular and
systematic feedback on the quality of services.
I believe that we have built a solid platform from which to
meet the challenges of 2009–10. I do not underestimate
the task of operating in a world where trade ows are
falling; protectionism is rising and economic activity has
reduced. But I am sure that UKTI is an essential part of
the UK’s response to these global challenges. As long as
we continue to work together as a team, we will deliver
strongly for the UK economy in the year ahead. Our hard
work will ensure we are well placed to help the UK and
UK-based businesses of all sizes take advantage of the
recovery when it comes and for international business to
see the UK as the gateway to global growth.

These results have to be taken in the context of the
international banking crisis and credit crunch, and in
the second half of 2008 the impact of the global
economic downturn on countries, companies and global
investment activity. I am proud that our staff achieved
our targets and increased productivity over the year.

Sir Andrew Cahn KCMG
Chief Executive of UK Trade & Investment

In 2008–09 UKTI started work on a number of new
initiatives. This included programmes to assist delivery
of the business and economic beneﬁts of the
Government’s Olympic Legacy objectives; a programme
to target other countries’ ﬁscal stimulus efforts; the
creation of the Business Ambassadors network, and the
delivery of a targeted campaign to encourage UK

1 See Annex A for an explanation of this ratio.
2 UKTI Inward Investment report 2008–09.
See at www.ukinvest.gov.uk/investmentreport08/09
3 The NAO report is discussed in more detail in Chapter 4.
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HRH THE DUKE OF YORK

THE UK SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVE FOR
INTERNATIONAL TRADE AND INVESTMENT

HRH THE DUKE OF YORK HAS BEEN THE UK SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVE
FOR INTERNATIONAL TRADE AND INVESTMENT SINCE 1 OCTOBER
2001. HIS ROLE INCLUDES PROMOTING UK BUSINESS
INTERNATIONALLY, MARKETING THE UK TO POTENTIAL INWARD
INVESTORS AND BUILDING RELATIONSHIPS IN SUPPORT OF
UK BUSINESS INTERESTS.
6 HRH THE DUKE OF YORK

The Duke of York undertakes a wide range of activities
in his role as the UK Special Representative for
International Trade and Investment in support of UKTI’s
objectives. This includes overseas visits, to support
British business and to promote the UK as a springboard
for global growth, and visits to the UK regions, where
he carries out a number of business focused
engagements. The Duke of York also speaks at
high proﬁle conferences and events both in the UK
and overseas.
In the year 2008–09, the Duke of York’s overseas
programme included nine overseas visits, taking in
16 different markets, including China, Italy, Vietnam,
Singapore, the UAE, Qatar and South Korea. The Duke
undertakes an extensive programme of meetings and
engagements during the visits. For example, during a
visit to Egypt in May 2008, the Duke of York was
co-chair of the World Economic Forum for the Middle
East and had the opportunity to meet world leaders
from across the globe. And, at the opening of the
Sakhalin II oil and gas project in the Russian Far East
in February 2009, the Duke of York met the Russian
President to discuss energy and trade issues.

In addition to overseas visits, the Duke of York
undertakes an extensive programme of business related
engagements in the UK, including visits, meetings,
addressing conferences and hosting business events.
The Duke’s unique position gives him unrivalled access
to members of royal families, heads of state,
government ministers and chief executives of
companies. He is able to reafﬁrm the importance the
UK attaches to bilateral relationships at the very highest
level, to lobby on behalf of British business, to open
doors for British business, to bring together groups of
senior business people, to raise the proﬁle of British
business and to promote the UK as an attractive
destination for inward investment.
Further details of the engagements undertaken by
HRH The Duke of York in this role can be found on
www.thedukeofyork.org.

HRH The Duke of York (second from
right), with (left to right) Maria van der
Hoeven, the Minister of Economic Affairs
of the Netherlands, Dmitry Medvedev,
the Russian President, and Taro Aso, the
Prime Minister of Japan, at the opening
of the Sakhalin II oil and gas project
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CHAPTER ONE
THE REPORT

FACT

£16:£1 RETURN FOR UK
BUSINESS IN ADDITIONAL
PROFIT RESULTING FROM
UKTI SUPPORT
CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

£3.6 billion

added to UK businesses bottom
line proﬁt

1.1 INTRODUCTION

1.1.1 THIS REPORT SUMMARISES
UKTI’S ACTIVITY AND PERFORMANCE
FROM 1 APRIL 2008 TO 31 MARCH
2009 AGAINST THE DEPARTMENTAL
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES (DSOs)
AND THE RESOURCES USED.
1.1.2 UKTI published its ﬁve-year Strategy, “Prosperity in
a Changing World”,4 in July 2006, which commits UKTI to
be more customer focused, marketing led and performance
driven. It remains relevant to today’s economic climate,
guiding the overall direction and focus of all we do. The
eventual return to global growth will accelerate those trends
that are reshaping the global economy – above all, ﬁerce
competition in our domestic and global markets. It is crucial
that government policy not only offsets the risks to our
competitiveness that come with a downturn, but ensures
that we are in a stronger position to take advantage of the
opportunities as the global economy returns to growth.
UKTI has an increasingly vital role in stimulating the UK
economy, working in partnership across Government and
with business to deliver sustainable export and inward
investment growth.

1.2

UKTI’S AIMS, OBJECTIVES AND STRATEGY

UKTI is the Government organisation that helps UK-based
companies succeed in an increasingly global economy. Its
range of expert services are tailored to the needs of
individual businesses to maximise their international
success. It provides companies with knowledge, advice
and practical support.
UKTI also helps overseas companies bring high quality
investment to the UK’s economy – acknowledged as
Europe’s best place from which to succeed in global
business. It provides support and advice to investors at all
stages of their business decision making.
UKTI offers expertise and contacts through a network of
international specialists across the English regions and
in British Embassies and other diplomatic posts around
the world.

1.2.1 UKTI has the lead role within Government for
delivering trade development and inward investment
services for business. UKTI is a joint department of
the Foreign and Commonwealth Ofﬁce (FCO) and
the Department for Business, Enterprise &
Regulatory Reform (BERR), and consequently shares
the DSO targets of these parent departments. It
delivers on their behalf through staff mainly
employed by either the FCO or BERR. UKTI’s funding
and human resources also re ect this framework.
1.2.2 On 5 June 2009, the Government announced
the creation of a new department, the Department
for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) merging the
functions of BERR and the Department for
Innovation, Universities and Skills (DIUS).
Throughout this report, reference to BERR should be
read in this context.

4 See www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk/ukti/ﬁleDownload/UKTIStrategyJuly2006.
pdf?cid=391741
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Performance Framework and Resources
UKTI – the organisation by numbers…
UÊËÎÓÎÊqÊ1/½ÃÊÕÌÌÕÀÊvÀÊÓäänqä]
UÊnÊ>ÀiÌÃÊ£ÈäÊV>ÌÃ®]
UÊÊÓ]{ääÊ«i«i]ÊvÊÜ ]
– 1,300 overseas,
– 700 HQ posts, (approximately 655 in London, 40 in
Glasgow and 5 in Cambridge),
– 400 staff in the nine English regions,
of which 90% are in front line delivery posts.

1.2.3 The rationale for this governance arrangement
stems, in part, from UKTI’s objective to support UKbased businesses in overseas markets. There are
synergies to the relationship: BERR offers an
understanding of business, in addition to presence
within the nine English regions through the Regional
Development Agencies (RDAs); while the FCO offers the
skills and knowledge of diplomatic staff.
1.2.4 UKTI works closely with a number of public
sector partners including: the nine English RDAs, the
trade promotion and inward investment organisations
in the Devolved Administrations (DAs), Other
Government Departments (OGDs) and agencies.
1.2.5 UKTI also works with private sector bodies and
now has a network of over 50 private sector specialists
who provide knowledge, expertise and contacts to help
UKTI deliver its strategy.

1.2.6 UKTI’s 2007 Comprehensive Spending Review
(CSR) settlement (which covers the period 2008–09 to
2010–11) conﬁrmed the targets outlined in the UKTI
Strategy for each year of the settlement and the
resources UKTI will use to deliver this performance
framework. The performance framework agreed in the
CSR2007 set ﬁve targets covering trade support, inward
investment and operational performance and is
discussed in more detail in Chapter 4.
1.2.7 UKTI resource has increased in recent years due
to the responsibility for defence export support
transferring from MoD to UKTI on 1 April 2008 and
with the 2009 Budget providing £10m additional
resource over the next two years (£5m each year) for
UKTI to support UK businesses in their export success.
This has resulted in total resource in support for UKTI’s
activities of £323.2m in 2008–09; £329.2m for 2009–10
and £328.5m for 2010–11.
1.3

RESULTS FOR 2008–09

Trade
Number of businesses helped to export by UKTI
(12 months rolling measure)
1.3.1 For an outlay of £226m, UKTI has increased the
number of businesses assisted to 20,700, the ﬁrst time
the 20,000 target has been exceeded and an impressive
30% higher than a year ago. This is coupled with a 37%

Number of businesses helped to export
30,000
23%
25,000
20,000
15,000
10,000
5,000
0
12 months to

Sep-07

Mar-08

Total businesses assisted
of which innovative
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Sep-08

Mar-09

increase year-on-year in the number of innovative
businesses assisted. UKTI has achieved all of this with
the background of the global economic downturn. More
than half of our customers say that their performance
has improved as a result of our assistance and this is
supported by the fact that an additional proﬁt of £3.6
billion was gained by UK businesses as a result of UKTI
assistance. In other words, every pound spent on trade
services by UKTI helped generate £16 additional proﬁt
for UK business.
1.3.2 These trade performance ﬁgures exclude support
provided by UKTI DSO for defence export promotion.
This year with over £4 billion of new orders won, the UK
is the world’s second most successful defence exporter
after the United States, for an outlay of £24m.

Inward Investment
UKTI involved successes by category
1.3.3 For expenditure of £73.3m on inward investment,
UKTI directly assisted 600 inward investment projects, a
9% increase on last year’s ﬁgure and well above our
target. This is the sixth consecutive year of growth.
These 600 projects contributed to the creation of
10,678 new jobs and helped safeguard 18,600. Within
this 600 ﬁgure, 262 were deemed high value, which is
more than double our target and a 43% increase on last
year’s ﬁgures. This also represents a ﬁve-fold increase
during the period of UKTI’s Strategy “Prosperity in a
Changing World”.
www.ukinvest.gov.uk/investmentreport08/09 for latest
UKTI Inward Investment Report 2008–09

Inward Investment successes by category
800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0

2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

Good Quality
High Value
(R)DA priority
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1.4 MEETING THE CHALLENGE OF THE
RECESSION AND PREPARING FOR THE RETURN
TO GROWTH
1.4.1 The strategic vision for Britain’s economic
recovery, “Building Britain’s Future – New Industry,
New Jobs”, was launched in April 2009 and UKTI will
continue to play a role in facilitating an export led
recovery, through delivering the international
component of the Government’s strategy to secure the
UK’s future economic prosperity. The task ahead, in
developing new strengths in Britain, will require that we
continue to improve the business environment across
the board, and focus on our strengths as a knowledge
based economy with high technology at its heart. UKTI
must also take steps to help ﬁrms and workers grasp
opportunities in particular key markets and sectors,
building upon the changes made to the service we
delivered this year, summarised below:
s 4HE NEW Fiscal Compass Programme, which helps
UK-based companies capitalise on opportunities
arising from other countries’ new ﬁscal stimulus
packages or other spending mechanisms such as
sovereign wealth funds.
s ! NEW Gateway to Global Growth package that helps
experienced exporters diversify into new overseas
markets, focusing on innovative SMEs with two to
ten years’ export experience.
s .EW FUNDING RULES FOR THE Tradeshow Access
Programme (TAP) doubling the maximum number
of grants per company to six, as long as they are
participating in tradeshows in more than one market.
s 4HE REDEPLOYMENT OF RESOURCE BETWEEN Priority
markets directed towards those areas with a higher
rate of proven potential.

12 CHAPTER ONE: INTRODUCTION

1.5

BRITAIN’S COMPETITIVENESS

1.5.1 The UK is the best place to do business, and
remains a Springboard for Global Growth for companies,
both UK-owned and those investing from overseas. We
must preserve and reﬁne the foundation of the UK’s
competitiveness. The capacity to produce strong ﬁrms
is also the basis of Britain’s exceptional performance in
attracting inward investment.
1.5.2 In the current economic climate, we need to be
realistic but also positive. Companies have told us clearly
that they value UKTI’s services highly. They say the UK
is a good place to do business because of the:
s Business environment, the appropriate level of
regulation, strong Intellectual Property protection
and exible workforce.
s Excellence in creativity and innovation, world-class
talent, creativity hub and R&D.
s Gateway of international connections, taking
companies beyond the opportunities offered by the
UK and delivering a multiplier effect.
1.5.3 The diagram opposite summarises how UKTI
delivers its targets, objectives and its parent departments’
objectives. This is followed by a map of the world
showing UKTI’s global reach.

UK TRADE & INVESTMENT GLOBAL REACH 200

UKTI presence
s UKTI ofﬁce
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2008–09 2008–09
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08–09

UKTI operates in the
markets that generate
98% of Global GDP
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ACHIEVING THE DEPARTMENTAL
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES OF THE
ORGANISATION

DEPARTMENTAL STRATEGIC OBJECTIVES (DSOs)
BERR’s DSO 1:
Promote the creation and growth of business and
a strong enterprise economy across all regions

FCO’s DSO 2:
Support the British economy

UKTI STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE – 2008–09 to 2010–11
By 2011, deliver measurable improvement in the business performance of
UKTI’s international trade customers, with an emphasis on innovative and R&D
active ﬁrms; increase the contribution of foreign direct investment to
knowledge intensive economic activity in the UK, including R&D; and deliver a
measurable improvement in the reputation of the UK in leading overseas
markets as the international business partner of choice.

UKTI’s TARGETS
1. Attract high value
foreign direct
investment to
the UK

2. Improve the
performance of
UK businesses by
helping them
internationalise

3. Increase the
quantity of R&D
activity in the UK
through business
internationalisation

4. Improve the UK’s
reputation as the
international
business partner
of choice

5. Improve UKTI’s Operational Performance:
a: Increase Professionalism
b: Increase Charging

UKTI Corporate Plan

Overseas Posts
Regional Ofﬁces
Regional Development Agencies & Devolved Administrations
International
Group

Sectors Group

Olympics Legacy
Unit

Business Group

Economics &
Evaluation Team

UKTI Defence &
Security

IT & Finance
Group

Marketing Group

Strategy & Human
Resource Group

CHAPTER TWO
DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY

FACT
DESPITE A GLOBAL ECONOMIC
DOWNTURN, CHINA AND INDIA
ARE STILL PROJECTED TO GROW
BY 7.2% AND 5.1% RESPECTIVELY
SOURCE: WORLD BANK JUNE 2009
CHAPTER TWO: DELIVERING OUR STRATEGY

OVER 40 SENIOR
business leaders from the private
sector contribute directly to
helping UKTI succeed

2.1

STRATEGY

2.1.1 UKTI’S STRATEGY, “PROSPERITY
IN A CHANGING WORLD”, WAS
PUBLISHED IN RESPONSE TO THE
CHALLENGES AND OPPORTUNITIES
OF GLOBALISATION. The UKTI Executive
Board has kept the Strategy5 under constant review,
adjusting and reﬁning the approach to ensure we
continue to deliver our objectives while taking into
account the global economic climate. UKTI will continue
to be a exible, proactive organisation, reappraising,
adapting and redeploying resources as opportunities
arise, within the overall framework of our strategy.
2.1.2 We draw heavily on the senior business
representatives who support our delivery, in particular
our Business Ambassadors, the non-executive board
members, our Sector Advisory Groups (SAGs) and the
Marketing Strategy Boards that are chaired by and made
up of senior business leaders. The themes of UKTI’s
Strategy are:
s -ARKETING – delivering world-class, joined-up marketing
of the strengths of UK business, and of the UK as the
international business partner of choice internationally.
s 0ARTNERSHIPS – working in partnership with business,
across Government and the regions for greatest impact.
s &OCUS – focusing efforts and resources where they
can add most value: in knowledge driven, high value
sectors and R&D, which bring the greatest return to
the UK economy, and in markets with high growth
potential.

UKTI’s strategic delivery during 2008–09
UÊ ,iÃ«ÃLÌÞÊvÀÊ`iviViÊiÝ«ÀÌÊÃÕ««ÀÌÊÌÀ>ÃviÀÀi`Ê
from the Ministry of Defence to UKTI Defence &
Security Organisation (UKTI DSO) with access to
UKTI’s global network of staff based in 98 overseas
markets.
UÊ / iÊVÀi>ÌÊvÊ>ÊBusiness Ambassadors network to
work with Government to promote the UK’s
excellence and support the success of UK business in
overseas markets, focusing on helping small and
medium-sized enterprises (SMEs).
UÊ / iÊ>ÕV ÊvÊtwo further marketing strategies
covering low carbon and advanced engineering in
addition to UKTI marketing strategies across ﬁve
speciﬁc sectors.
UÊ 1/Ê«>Þi`ÊÌÃÊ«>ÀÌÊÊÌ iÊÛiÀiÌ½ÃÊ
Manufacturing Strategy by providing some £1m of
funding to help UK companies of all sizes access
manufacturing value chain opportunities in India and
China.
UÊ iÛiÀ}ÊÌ iÊLÕÃiÃÃÊ>`ÊiVVÊLiiwÌÃÊvÊÌ iÊ
Government’s Olympic Legacy objectives.
UÊ >ÀiÌ}ÊÌ iÊ1ÊiVÞÊ>`Ê1/Ê}L>ÞÊÜÌ Ê
“Take It To The World” and “Time to Explore New
Markets” and other promotions.

UKTI Defence Export Services Promotion
2.1.3 Following the transfer of defence export services
from the Ministry of Defence (MoD) at the beginning of
the year, UKTI established the Defence & Security
Organisation (UKTI DSO), which brings together the full
range of UKTI and wider government support to deliver
a co-ordinated national effort for these sectors. This,
coupled with access to UKTI’s global network of staff,
has enhanced the services provided on behalf of defence
and security sector companies. UKTI DSO has delivered
increased support for international events including
events in India, Australia and Brazil and trade missions
in the United States, France, Portugal and Italy.

5 The UKTI Strategy “Prosperity In A Changing World”, published in July 2006, is
available at: www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk
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17 Key Business and Academic
Leaders were appointed as
Business Ambassadors by the
Prime Minister

“The UK defence industry produces some of the most
innovative equipment in the world and offers turnkey
solutions in both the defence and security sectors.
I am delighted that we in DSO are able to offer advice,
support and guidance aimed at keeping the UK as one of
the most successful global defence exporters. Our aim is
to support both large and small companies and I look
forward to working with both industry and Government to
ensure that the UK offers the best equipment at the right
price with the right support.”
Richard Paniguian
Head, UKTI Defence & Security Organisation

2.1.6 The Security Directorate acts as a focal point to
co-ordinate export activity for the UK’s security sector.
It focuses mainly but not exclusively on high value and
high-tech requirements, where the customer is likely
to be a Ministry of Interior, paramilitary, coastguard,
police or ﬁre organisation. Government-to-government
interactions are most likely in these areas and are where
the Security Directorate can add most value.
“We are pleased to be working with UKTI’s Security
Directorate to help UK companies promote their globally
renowned expertise to the continually expanding
international security market.”
British Security Industry Association

2.1.4 The establishment of the Defence Advisory Group
and Security Advisory Group have enabled the needs of
the industry to be re ected in our activities and plans.
Their input has informed UKTI’s Marketing Strategy for
the defence and security sectors, promoting improved
ethical standards, and has identiﬁed key overseas
markets.
2.1.5 Bringing support under the umbrella of UKTI has
enhanced UKTI DSO’s efforts on behalf of the defence
sector, extending our reach and impact. UKTI DSO
now has access to UKTI’s global network of staff based
in 98 overseas markets and is already producing beneﬁts
from closer integration with the wider UKTI network.
For example:
s 4HE "RITISH %MBASSY 4EAM IN $UBAI ARRANGED
meetings and facilitated introductions for Regional
Directorate Central and the Security Directorate
when we were researching security sector
opportunities in Dubai.
s 5+4) STAFF IN ,ONDON AND 7ASHINGTON TOGETHER WITH
staff from the Defence Trade Ofﬁce, Washington,
participated in joint brieﬁngs during the Association
of the US Army (AUSA) exhibition in Washington in
October and in a “Doing Business with the US”
seminar at the Farnborough Airshow in July.

2.2

THE BUSINESS AMBASSADORS NETWORK

2.2.1 The Business Ambassadors6 network of 17 key
business and academic leaders was established by the
Prime Minister in October 2008, to promote the UK’s
excellence internationally and to highlight trade and
inward investment opportunities, particularly focusing
on helping small businesses. UKTI is responsible for
delivering this joint FCO/BERR initiative and for
providing dedicated secretariat support to the Business
Ambassadors. In the current challenging economic
climate, their business expertise and international
experience has provided vital support to UK business
interests in global markets.
2.2.2 The Business Ambassadors are not paid and give
their time freely. However, UKTI does pay expenses.
In total, £6,106 was paid during 2008–09 for expenses
covering accommodation and in-country transportation
directly linked to the event. Twenty events were attended
in 2008–09 at an average cost of approximately £300.

6 See www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk for more information on the
Business Ambassadors network.
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2.2.3 The Business Ambassador programme started
with a number of extremely successful events.
These included:
s Digby, Lord Jones of Birmingham, leading the largest
ever UKTI mission to Dubai.
s Paul Skinner, Chair, Rio Tinto, speaking to over 400
British and Australian businessmen and women in
Melbourne and Sydney.
s Sir Kevin Smith, Chief Executive, GKN and Digby, Lord
Jones of Birmingham, launching the UKTI Advanced
Engineering Strategy with the Minister for Trade,
Investment and Business, Lord Davies of Abersoch.
s Dr John Hood, Vice-Chancellor, University of Oxford,
addressing and chairing an oncology conference in
Copenhagen.
s 3IR 4ERENCE #ONRAN #HAIR #ONRAN (OLDINGS
meeting with key Japanese developers and architects
in Tokyo.
2.2.4 In contrast to these large events, there have also
been a number of smaller engagements or meetings that
have been built around opportunities that became
available during the Business Ambassadors’ own travel.
These have included Dick Olver, Chairman BAE Systems
meeting with senior business ﬁgures and our
Ambassadors in Oman and Abu Dhabi, and Lord Rogers,
Chairman Rogers Stirk Harbour & Partners, meeting
with our Ambassador and representatives of the
Mexican Ministry of Transport & Telecommunications
and the Ofﬁce of the President in Mexico City.
2.2.5 The Business Ambassadors represent a unique
and valuable resource. At each of their engagements,
they have delivered positive UK trade and economic
messages, reinforcing the important role that top
business and academic leaders can play in promoting
the UK’s strengths.

The Business Ambassadors
s
s
s
s
s
s
s
s
s
s
s
s
s
s
s
s
s
2.3

-ARCUS !GIUS #HAIRMAN "ARCLAYS
3IR 6ICTOR "LANK #HAIRMAN ,LOYDS "ANKING 'ROUP
3IR *OHN "OND #HAIRMAN 6ODAFONE
,ORD *OHN "ROWNE 0RESIDENT 2OYAL !CADEMY
of Engineering and Managing Director of
Riverstone Holdings
3IR 4ERENCE #ONRAN #HAIRMAN #ONRAN (OLDINGS
$R #HRIS 'IBSON 3MITH #HAIRMAN ,ONDON 3TOCK
Exchange and British Land
0ROFESSOR -ALCOLM 'RANT #"% 0ROVOST AND
President, University College London
'ERRY 'RIMSTONE #HAIRMAN 3TANDARD ,IFE
3IR 0HILIP (AMPTON #HAIRMAN 2"3 'ROUP 
J Sainsbury
$R *OHN (OOD 6ICE #HANCELLOR 5NIVERSITY OF
Oxford
$IGBY ,ORD *ONES OF "IRMINGHAM
!NNA -ANN -7- #ONSULTING
$ICK /LVER #HAIRMAN "!% 3YSTEMS
0ROFESSOR !LISON 2ICHARD 6ICE #HANCELLOR
University of Cambridge
,ORD 2OGERS OF 2IVERSIDE #HAIRMAN 2OGERS 3TIRK
Harbour & Partners
0AUL 3KINNER #HAIR 2IO 4INTO
3IR +EVIN 3MITH #"% '+.
MANUFACTURING STRATEGY

2.3.1 The Government’s new Manufacturing Strategy,
“Manufacturing: New Challenges, New Opportunities”7,
published in September 2008, addresses the popular
misconception that UK manufacturing is in decline.

7 “Manufacturing: New Challenges, New Opportunities” is available on the BERR
website at www.berr.gov.uk
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UK companies won £2 billion
worth of business at the
Beijing 2008 Games

Image Courtesy of Andrew Witnell

“The UK has highly competitive advanced engineering
industries and they will play an essential role in generating
employment and prosperity as economic growth returns to
the global economy. The UK Advanced Engineering
Strategy prepared by UKTI is an important development in
promoting the tremendous potential of UK businesses and
the opportunities that are available through innovation
and the use of new technologies.”
Paul Everitt, Chief Executive of the Society of Motor
Manufacturers and Traders

2.3.2 The Manufacturing Strategy announced a new
£1m package of UKTI support to help UK companies
access global value chain opportunities. Four private
sector specialists, are covering Life Science, Information
and Communication Technology (ICT), Advanced
Engineering and Energy, and will focus on opportunities
in China and India. Together they will help some 400
SMEs to access value chain opportunities in these
markets. In addition, two specialists – one on earthquake
reconstruction and one on China’s Sustainable Cities
initiative – will help some 200 UK SMEs into supply
chains in China.
2.4

OLYMPIC OPPORTUNITIES AND LEGACY

2.4.1 We are seeing that London’s hosting of the 2012
Olympic Games is in uencing the activities and strategic
decisions of overseas companies. International
companies are considering investing in or expanding
their operations in the UK in order to be best placed to
bid for 2012 contracts. The games provide a unique
opportunity to deliver key messages about the UK and
promote the UK to international audiences as the best
place to do business. The UKTI 2012 Legacy Unit leads
on the Government’s Olympic Legacy objectives “to
maximise the wider economic beneﬁts of the Games
across the UK, including those for tourism and business
promotion” and “to promote positive images of the UK
to international audiences”.
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The Olympics Parade, Trafalgar Square London 2008

Inspiring Inward Investors to be part of
London 2012
2.4.2 UKTI is encouraging companies to look beyond
2012 and offers them assistance to export their
products, skills and expertise to the future hosts of
global events. UK companies won £2 billion of business
at the Beijing 2008 Games; are currently supplying to
both the Vancouver 2010 and Sochi 2014 Winter
Olympic and Paralympic Games; and are also working
with the candidate cities for the 2016 Summer Olympics.
2.4.3 Through the following UKTI programmes, real
opportunities exist for British business to secure
contracts and develop collaboration with overseas ﬁrms.

In March 2009, UKTI rolled out
“Take It To the World”. In that
month alone it generated an
extra 46,000 visits to our website
compared with February.

s Host2Host: Maximises the economic beneﬁts of
hosting the Games in 2012 by creating trade,
partnership and investment links with other host
nations and cities. UKTI has strategic alliances in
place with Vancouver (hosts of the 2010 Winter
Olympics), Singapore (host of the 2010 Youth
Olympics) and Sochi (host of the 2014 Winter
Olympics) and are looking for similar agreements
with other host nations.
s CompeteFor: A web-based electronic brokerage
system which publicises 2012 Games procurement
opportunities. UK and foreign-based companies
proﬁle themselves to “compete for” the supply chain
opportunities arising from 2012 contracts.
s Sports event sector activity: Delivers a programme
of major sports event sector-focused activities to
raise awareness among international event holders,
and host and bid cities, of the UK’s commercial
capabilities and experience in supplying goods
and services.
s Cross-sector activity: Encourages UKTI sector teams
to ﬁnd their Olympic “touchstone” and develop
their long-term strategies to take advantage of the
opportunities arising from the Olympics.
s Partnership promotion: Working with Nations and
Regions to optimise Olympic opportunities across the
UK and providing an international platform to
promote inward investment and partnership.

“Take It To The World”
2.5.2 In March 2009, UKTI rolled out “Take It To The
World”, a regional initiative which encourages UK
businesses to explore opportunities overseas with
conﬁdence, with expert help from UKTI. Lasting four
weeks, this covered 13 airports and 148 railway sites
and was complemented by a branded taxi campaign
focusing on central London, Heathrow Airport,
Newcastle, Manchester, Liverpool and Birmingham.
Advertisements appeared in easyJet, BMI Voyager and
Virgin Rail’s Hotline and Velocity magazines. Initial
feedback has been very positive as evidenced by an
increase of 46,000 visits to the website in March alone.

2.5 MARKETING UKTI SERVICES AND THE UK
ECONOMY GLOBALLY
Promoting the “Take It To The World” campaign, Newcastle.

2.5.1 Marketing is central to the UKTI strategy to
position the UK in leading overseas markets as the
international business partner of choice for both trade
export and inward investment. UKTI markets its services
to UK businesses and showcases the strengths of the UK
as a world-class source of products and services, talent
and creativity.
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2.5.3 Phase Two, which ran in June 2009, saw the
development of a new strap-line “Get the Export
Advantage” and builds on the economic beneﬁts of
exporting. In addition to running in regional airports
and railway stations UKTI also ran print media activity
in the Institute of Directors’ magazine Director,
Confederation of British Industry’s magazine Business
Voice and Management Today. This was complemented
by an on-line presence in the Daily Telegraph. Activity
for both phases was optimised through various social
media tools such as UKTI’s YouTube channel and Twitter
and all paid media was leveraged to create PR
opportunities.
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Time to Explore New Markets
(High Growth Markets)
2.5.4 UKTI delivered an integrated marketing campaign
to promote the beneﬁts and value to UK companies of
doing business in high growth markets and proﬁling
the expertise that UKTI has to offer. It targeted SMEs/
mid corp companies through double page spread
advertorials in business, trade and other specialist
publications covering energy/power, oil and gas,
environment (renewables), creative industries,
healthcare and medical, advanced engineering,
ICT, transport and infrastructure, construction and
security. Respondents were directed to the URL:
www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk/ukti/highgrowthmarkets
The activity ran from January to March 2009 and
during that time, attracted over 2,500 visits to the High
Growth Markets webpage.

and a guide to practical help and advice available. It is
currently hosted on ft.com for 12 months where it has
attracted over 2,400 visits, up to May 2009.
In addition, UKTI also:
s SPONSORED The Economist’s Emerging Markets Summit
2008, their Innovation Awards 2008 and the CBI/Real
Business Growing Business Awards,
s COMMISSIONED FOUR MINI WHITE PAPERS FROM THE
Economist Intelligence Unit (EIU) on speciﬁc
globalisation issues: Tomorrow’s Markets, New World
Brands, Global Talent and Financing Globalisation as
well as an innovative multimedia (print, online and
ﬁlm) advertorial package with Monocle magazine.
s PARTNERED THE )NSTITUTE OF $IRECTORS )/$ AND %)5
on three regional breakfast brieﬁngs which attracted
over 150 companies in total,
s CONTINUES TO SPONSOR THE Daily Telegraph Business
Club, and
s PRODUCED A CORPORATE $6$ @)TS %VERYONES
Business’ which includes both a trade and inward
investment message. Translated into 16 languages,
this is being shown throughout UKTI, the UK and
overseas network, at events and through our social
media channels.
2.6

B&Q is a British retailer of DIY and home improvement tools and supplies. It was
founded in 1969 and is the largest DIY retailer in Europe and China and the third
largest in the world.

Other Promotions
2.5.5 In March 2009, UKTI worked with the Financial
Times on a special supplement publicising opportunities
and challenges of doing business in emerging markets as
part of the paper’s proprietary “Doing Business” series.
This supplement included the latest economic brieﬁng
and comment on the emerging markets, case studies
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DELIVERY

2.6.1 UKTI’s Strategy articulates the importance of
partnerships to the delivery of its objectives. Key to this
are the partnerships with business and the wider public
sector delivery agencies and departments, including
the nine English Regional Development Agencies, the
Devolved Administrations in Northern Ireland, Scotland
and Wales, Other Government Departments as well as
other national bodies including Visit Britain and the
British Council, and trade associations and other
business organisations. This co-ordinated approach
enables UKTI to leverage total public funding associated
with trade and investment, to increase the impact of its
activity and deliver better value to the taxpayer.

UKTI provides dedicated
services in 98 markets,
representing just over 98%
of global GDP

2.7

PARTNERSHIPS

through their local ITAs to UKTI’s network of staff based
in UK diplomatic posts around the world.

Partnership with Business
2.7.1 UKTI works closely with business in delivering its
services, from its international board members, Business
Ambassadors and Advisory Group chairs, through to its
delivery network of Business Councils, Independent
Trade Advisers (ITAs), Chambers of Commerce,
specialists and Accredited Trade Organisations (ATOs).
Their support of UKTI and its objectives ensures that we
effectively focus our service delivery on the areas that
add the most value to the UK and business.

2.7.5 UKTI co-locates with RDA ofﬁces overseas,
where possible, which enables cost efﬁcient sharing
of resources and services.

Regional Development Agencies (RDA) and Devolved
Administrations (DA)
2.7.2 The UK’s inward investment promotional effort
combines both national and regional agencies in a
co-ordinated network. This consists of staff:
s BASED OVERSEAS IN THE PRINCIPAL MARKETS FROM WHICH
Foreign Direct Investment (FDI) is sourced,
s IN 5+4)S ,ONDON (EADQUARTERS
s IN THE %NGLISH 2$!S REPRESENTING THE NINE
English regions, and
s IN THE $!S IN 3COTLAND 7ALES AND .ORTHERN )RELAND
2.7.3 UKTI has a key role in managing this network and
co-ordinating the efforts of both the public and private
sector partners around the UK to make the best case
for “UK plc”. This ensures that potential investors have
access to all of the available help and advice they need
to make the best commercial decisions. UKTI’s principal
objectives in the area of FDI are to attract, retain and
add value to UK investment.
2.7.4 This close relationship with RDAs enables UKTI’s
services at regional level to fully re ect regional needs
and priorities, and ensure that use of regional resources
devoted to international trade is maximised and
duplication avoided. At the same time the regions have
beneﬁted from UKTI’s regionally based teams being part
of a global organisation, which gives companies access
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UK Landmark, Albert Dock,
Liverpool.

Other Government Departments (OGD)
2.7.6 UKTI works with both of its parent departments,
Department for Innovation Universities and Skills
(Technology Strategy Board, Science and Innovation
Network and Research Councils), MoD, Department of
Energy and Climate Change, Department for
Communities and Local Government and others to
deliver sustainable export and inward investment
growth for the UK. The Minister for Trade, Investment
and Business chairs a cross-Whitehall Ministerial visits
co-ordination committee to ensure that there is joinedup communication of the UK’s strengths, and that we
maximise the support for trade and investment
opportunities from Ministerial visits.
2.7.7 UKTI asks businesses for their views about the UK
and overseas business environments, including the
context of the current economic situation. These views
are shared across Government departments.
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The UK Advisory Network for Inward Investors

In 2008–09, British Airways announced its
partnership with UKTI and British American
Business (BABI) to launch a multi million pound
package of measures offering up to £15 million of
ights to help UK small and medium enterprises
(SMEs) win new business abroad, and help beat the
recession. Accor Hotels group and AVIS are also in
the process of ﬁnalising the terms and conditions of
a proposal with UTKI.

2.7.8 UKTI understands the vital role that professional
business services play. UKTI has worked with such ﬁrms
for many years and launched the UK Advisory Network
(UKAN) in November 2007. The objective of UKAN is to
strengthen the partnership between Government and the
private sector in delivering support for new and existing
investors and UK ﬁrms internationalising their business.
Membership of UKAN is free and is available to a wide
range of business service providers.
www.ukan.uktradeinvest.gov.uk
2.8

The initiative is designed to support UK SMEs
relatively new to exporting or looking to expand
into new markets with UKTI’s help. Independent
research about UKTI’s customers found that more
than half were experiencing increasing demand from
abroad.
“This exciting initiative has enormous potential. It
shows what can happen when big business and
Government work together to support British ﬁrms
and the economy. Although the global slowdown has
meant increased challenges for businesses, it has also
created opportunities internationally for those that
want to expand into new markets.
“Exporting companies are more competitive and
resilient. Yet many SMEs can ﬁnd it hard to break into
new markets on their own. They overestimate the
barriers and underestimate the rewards of exporting
to key markets. This generous offer signiﬁcantly
reduces the costs faced by UK exporters, allowing
them to explore their overseas expansion potential.”
Lord Davies of Abersoch – Minister for Trade,
Investment and Business.

FOCUS

2.8.1 Successful international entrepreneurship
is important to the exibility of the economy, as a
driver of innovation and as a stimulus to competition.
With more productive ﬁrms replacing less productive
ones, and through the capacity of new ﬁrms and
entrepreneurs to innovate and introduce new
technologies, ﬁrms can maximise the returns to their
investment in intellectual property by selling into a
larger market. Young and innovative SME exporters
contribute crucially to the exibility which allows the
economy to respond to economic shocks and changes to
the UK’s comparative advantage. In time, some of these
dynamic SMEs and “born globals” of today will become
the large ﬁrms in proﬁtable mature sectors of the future.
However, they will not fulﬁl their potential without
developing the capabilities necessary to exploit overseas
market opportunities successfully. Hence UKTI has
prioritised its sectors and markets accordingly, focusing
on higher value added sectors as set out in the
Economics Paper8 published alongside UKTI’s Strategy.
Returns to the taxpayer are likely to be higher for
innovative than non-innovative companies.
2.8.2 UKTI is continually sharpening the focus of its
delivery to ensure efforts and resources are applied
where they can add most value to maintain UKTI as a
marketing led, client focused organisation that responds
to the needs and concerns of its customers. We have
client account managers for key clients and they are
supported by a customer relationship management
8 BERR Economics Paper Number 18, International Trade and Investment – the
Economic Rationale for Government Support www.berr.gov.uk/ﬁles/ﬁle32297.pdf
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London has 255 foreign banks
with branches or subsidiaries –
almost double the number in
New York

(CRM) system. There are a number of schemes in place
which develop and nurture the relationships with
individual companies, ensuring they can beneﬁt from
UKTI support.
2.8.3 UKTI offers services to all eligible companies seeking
help in overseas markets where there is a UKTI presence. UKTI
also targets the following groups of companies, which were
identiﬁed in “Prosperity in a Changing World” as priorities for
UKTI support:
s OVERSEAS OWNED 2$ INTENSIVE COMPANIES
s INNOVATIVE INWARD INVESTORS
s INNOVATIVE 5+ COMPANIES WITH TWO TEN YEARS
export experience,
s TOP &43% 
s OVERSEAS BASED ENTREPRENEURS WITH INNOVATIVE
technology,
s COMPANIES WE CAN HELP DEVELOP THEIR
internationalisation capabilities or get into new
overseas markets, with a particular focus on:
- helping companies to boost their R&D output,
- helping companies to capitalise on business
opportunities arising from ﬁscal stimulus
initiatives overseas, and
s THE DEFENCE AND SECURITY SECTOR
FTSE 100 companies
Many of the UK’s biggest companies have very
signiﬁcant investments overseas. A framework has
been established within UKTI enabling senior staff to
manage relationships directly with these companies.
Relationship managers are now in place for 50 FTSE
100 companies, with discussions focusing on the
obstacles companies face in international trade.
UKTI will follow up on company concerns and
opportunities, such as market access issues and their
strategic plans for internationalisation. UKTI’s
diplomatic network is truly global and enables us, for
example, to raise and address market access issues
with key contacts in overseas markets, or to facilitate
access to key decision makers in foreign
governments. We can open doors that would
otherwise remain shut.
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2.8.4 A substantial proportion of UKTI’s resource goes
into relationship management of targeted companies in
the various areas listed. The objective is to produce
account plans for each of these companies, summarising
UKTI’s approach to working with these companies and
what it is that UKTI can offer. UKTI also learns from this
process, in terms of broadening its knowledge of global
business and trading conditions and practices.

HSBC Trade and Supply Chain and UK Trade &
Investment Join Forces to Boost UK Exports
The joint HSBC/UKTI initiative is aimed at providing
training events and additional trade assistance for
businesses looking to enhance their ability to grow
their international export business.
A series of international trade workshops will take
place across the UK. They have been developed by
HSBC and UKTI to help demystify the processes of
doing business internationally and advise on the
requirements and paperwork needed to successfully
trade overseas.
“We are delighted to be joining forces with UKTI, one
of the foremost agencies dedicated to fostering
international trade anywhere in the world, to help UK
exporters understand the current environment and
how to grow their business while protecting their
company.”
Stuart Nivison, HSBC’s Head of Trade and Supply
Chain, Europe
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2.9

FOCUS ON MARKETS

2.9.1 A key feature of UKTI’s Strategy is differentiation:
the services for companies in China or India will be
different from those in France or the USA. In high
growth markets UKTI offers more support in dealing
with other governments and overcoming barriers to
trade, both formal and informal. UKTI also provides
additional information on high growth markets, such as
a report on the opportunities in regional cities in China
and intellectual property guides for a number of
markets. Regular reports from the FCO on the economic
and political developments in key markets are issued for
companies registered with UKTI’s website.
2.9.2 The Asia Task Force, chaired by Lord Mandelson
and Lord Powell, continues to focus on ensuring that
UK companies are aware of the opportunities in Asian
markets, through a programme of outreach and
awareness raising. In more developed markets it focuses
relatively more effort in helping UK-based companies
access key local contacts and sources of information,
and identifying inward investment projects. This means
that although there have been reductions in some
networks, UKTI has strengthened its teams in others in
order to re ect their importance for British business.

High Growth Markets
2.9.3 UKTI focuses on the markets where the potential
for growth is highest. Based on an assessment of the
relative importance of different markets for UK business
and the value of committing further resources in these
markets, UKTI has identiﬁed a priority list of 17 high
growth markets:
s "RAZIL
s #HINA
(incl. Hong Kong)
s )NDIA
s )NDONESIA
s -ALAYSIA
s -EXICO
s 1ATAR
s 2USSIA

s
s
s
s
s
s
s
s
s

3AUDI !RABIA
3INGAPORE
3OUTH !FRICA
3OUTH +OREA
4AIWAN
4HAILAND
4URKEY
5NITED !RAB %MIRATES
6IETNAM

2.9.4 Several criteria have been applied to identify
these key markets:
s
s
s
s
s
s

MARKET SIZE AND POTENTIAL FOR GROWTH
STRATEGIC POLITICAL AND ECONOMIC IMPORTANCE
STRENGTH OF THE SCIENTIlC TECHNICAL AND RESEARCH BASE
PERFORMANCE OF 5+ BUSINESS RELATIVE TO COMPETITORS
MARKET MATCH WITH THE PROlLE OF 5+ CAPACITY
PRESENCE OF ACTIVE LOCAL PARTNERS KEEN TO STRENGTHEN
trading links with the UK, and
s THE IMPACT 5+4) CAN HAVE IN SUPPORTING lRMS AND IN
removing barriers to doing business in the market.
2.9.5 Taken together, these criteria enable us to make
an assessment of the importance of a market, its
potential for growth, and whether the commitment of
the UKTI resources will deliver signiﬁcant beneﬁts for
UK business.
2.9.6 While these attributes apply in greater or lesser
degree to many high growth countries, UKTI resources
need to be directed to those where we can clearly
optimise results for UK business.
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2.9.7 Additionally, UKTI is seeing signiﬁcant
opportunities in the Middle East and we are beginning
to expand our resources in this region to assist UK
companies in securing some of this business. With
improvements in the security situation, we are seeing a
growing interest from British companies in Iraq and we
have re-established a UKTI presence in the market.
2.9.8 Building strong trade and investment links with
high growth markets is strategically important to the
UK’s future economic well being. India and China are
already in the top ten largest economies in the world,
and are forecast to increase their shares of global output
over the next ten years. These and other high growth
markets present signiﬁcant opportunities for UK
business. There is also good economic evidence that
ﬁrms secure most value if they enter high growth
markets at an early stage.9

UK India Business Council
The UK India Business Council is the lead business
organisation supporting the Government’s promotion
of trade between the UK and India. It receives grant
funding from UKTI, and aims to achieve match
funding from the private sector by 2010–11. Its key
objectives are: to provide a business-to-business
UK-India networking forum; to promote UK trade with
India and inform UK businesses about the
opportunities India represents; to provide practical
advice on the Indian market and establishing a business
there – signposting them to UKTI services as
appropriate; to contribute to the delivery of the
UK-India Joint Economic Trade Committee objectives
and to generate speciﬁc and targeted new information
that will help British companies to successfully
embrace new opportunities in India.

China-Britain Business Council
UKTI provides ﬁnancial support to the China-Britain
Business Council (CBBC) to deliver a range of UKTI
services in China, including OMIS, events, missions
and seminars. CBBC supports British companies of all
sizes – new entrants and established operations –
through a network spanning 11 cities in China and six
in the UK. In addition to UKTI services, CBBC offers a
portfolio of services speciﬁcally designed to help UK
businesses succeed in China. CBBC’s Board is also
actively engaged in the Joint Economic Trade
Committee (JETC) process, as the Area Advisory Group
for China.
This unique partnership between UKTI and CBBC
draws on the collective strengths of two organisations.
CBBC focuses on the delivery of practical advice and
support to UK businesses seeking to enter or expand
their operations in China, while UKTI staff in China
now focus more of their time on marketing the UK’s
strengths in China; increasing their engagement with
the Chinese Government to improve the business
environment for UK companies; assisting companies
already established in the market to fulﬁl their
objectives; and attracting knowledge-intensive
businesses to the UK.
To ﬁnd out more about CBBC go to www.cbbc.org.

To ﬁnd out more about UKIBC go to www.ukibc.com.

9 Kneller, R. (2004), Participation in export markets and productivity in UK
manufacturing, Final Report for UKTI.
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UK-Brazil Joint Economic Trade Committee
The Joint Economic Trade Committee (JETCO)
arrangement between the UK and Brazil is tasked with
furthering the UK’s strategic economic relationship
with Brazil. It helps to: promote and develop trade;
address barriers to trade; and create a better business
climate. It is the ﬁrst formal arrangement to look at
barriers to trade between the two countries. The
JETCO has marked a step change in UK-Brazil bilateral
trade and investment activity. It allows us to raise the
proﬁle of Brazil in the UK (and vice versa) and is an
important channel for us to press the Brazilians at a
senior level for (much needed) improvements in the
business environment. JETCO has the support of key
players, both in government and the private sector,
such as the CBI, CNI (the Brazilian CBI equivalent), key
trade associations and the Anglo-Brazilian Chambers of
Commerce in London and Brazil.
Good progress has been made under the JETCO across
a broad range of areas including: trade and investment;
aerospace; intellectual property rights; science and
innovation; legal services; and accreditation among
others.
To ﬁnd out more about UK-Brazil JETCO go to
www.ukinbrazil.fco.gov.uk.

2.10 FOCUS ON SECTORS
2.10.1 UKTI acts as a catalyst for UK-wide marketing
strategies by developing a genuine partnership between
business and Government to deliver a collective
marketing effort. The strategies speak as much to the
overseas customer of UK products and services as they
do to potential investors looking for a new location,
partners or joint ventures. UKTI focuses on the sectors
where it can add most value and on the markets where
the potential for growth is highest.
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2.10.2 These strategies aim to signiﬁcantly enhance the
UK’s reputation internationally. They are supported by
high quality promotional materials, to target high value
business sectors and individual companies with core
messages about relevant UK strengths, and assist UK
companies in selling themselves overseas. There are
seven sectors, or “areas” of importance in the case of
low carbon, that are currently being explored.
2.10.3 Through the guidance of business-led Sector
Advisory Groups, sector teams deliver activities in
partnership with Overseas Posts, Regions and Accredited
Trade Organisations to showcase UK excellence.
These typically involve:
s DEVELOPING SECTOR STRATEGIES TO ENSURE THAT 5+
business capability is matched to overseas
opportunities,
s ORGANISING 5+ MISSIONS AND EVENTS IN
relevant markets,
s BRINGING POTENTIAL BUYERS TO THE 5+ THROUGH
sector-focused inward missions and events, and
s BUILDING GOVERNMENT TO GOVERNMENT LIAISON TO
help open up new markets.
2.10.4 UKTI works alongside UK business specialists
on Marketing Strategy Boards to develop marketing
strategies for a number of key sectors, giving
greater focus.

The UK is the world’s Sixth
largest manufacturer. Our
manufacturing is high skill,
high tech and high end

UKTI Sector Advisory Group Chairs
Construction: Terry Hill, Chairman, Arup Group Ltd.
Power: Robert Lane CBE, Partner, Head of Electricity Group, CMS Cameron McKenna LLP.
Airports: Peter Budd, Global Business Leader, Aviation Arup Scotland.
Environment: Colin Drummond, CEO, Viridor Waste Management Ltd.
Water: Tony Allum CBE FrEng.
Sports and Leisure Infrastructure: Martin Harman, Chairman, Pinsent Masons.
Rail: Haydn Abbott, Chief Executive, Angel Trains International.
Ports: James Sutcliffe, Chairman, John Sutcliffe & Son Ltd.
Creative Industries: Andrew Summers CMG, Chairman, Brandsmiths; Chairman, Companies House.
Financial Services: Roy Leighton, Chairman, Financial Services Skills Council.
Education and Skills: Dominic Savage OBE, Director General, British Educational Suppliers Association.
ICT: Mike Short, Vice President – External Affairs Telefónica O2 Europe plc.
Healthcare: Chris Francis.
Biotechnology and Pharmaceuticals: Dr Kevin Cox, Managing Director, GSTS Pathology.
Oil and Gas: Neil Bruce, Chief Operating Ofﬁcer, AMEC plc – Natural Resources.
Advanced Engineering: Peter Mathews CMG, Chairman and Managing Director, Black Country Metals Ltd.
Marine: Robert Hill, Managing Director, Chemring Marine Ltd.
Defence: Sir Kevin Tebbit, Chairman, Finmeccanica UK.
Security: Stephen Phipson, President, Smiths Detection.

UK Marketing Strategies – The Key Sectors

Chairs of the Marketing Strategy Boards

UÊ
UÊ
UÊ
UÊ
UÊ
UÊ
UÊ

Advanced Engineering Strategy: Peter Matthews CMG,
Chairman & Managing Director: Black Country
Metals Ltd.
Financial Services Advisory Strategy Board:
Roy Leighton, Chairman, Financial Services Skills Council.
Creative Industries Strategy Marketing Board:
Sir John Sorrell, Chairman, The Sorrell Foundation.
Life Science Strategy Board: Chris Brinsmead,
Chairman of AstraZeneca Pharma UK, President ABPI.
ICT Strategy Implementation Board:
Larry Hirst, Chairman, IBM EMEA.
UK Energy Excellence: Samir Brikho, Chief Executive
Ofﬁcer, Amec plc.
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2.10.5 There are separate Marketing Strategy Boards
for each of the key sectors which are chaired by senior
business people.
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2.10.6 The aim for these key sectors led by high level
business representatives, is to:

Advanced Engineering

s BUILD A STRONG high-level partnership between the
public and private sector and maximise our collective
resources,
s identify UK strengths,
s DEVELOP AND ROLL OUT strong marketing messages
founded on evidence, and
s FOCUS ACTIVITY ON WHERE together, we can make
the most difference and add the greatest value for
the UK in terms of reputation and new business.

“This Strategy represents Government at its best and
we warmly welcome it. Advanced engineering is vital
to our economy, providing high quality and globally
competitive products as well as highly skilled jobs across
the country. UKTI is a valuable resource for the UK and we
are fully supportive of this global marketing strategy at
this critical time where the nation’s trading success and
skills base will be essential for our economic future.”

2.10.7 As a result:
s 7E HAVE SIGNED A STATEMENT OF INTENT WITH (3"#
for example, to work together to help UK exporters
to capitalise on trade opportunities in 2009.
s 4HE !SIA 4ASK &ORCE SET UP BY THE #HANCELLOR IN 
and jointly chaired by BERR’s Secretary of State and
Lord Powell of Bayswater brings a business
perspective to our work in Asian high growth
markets.
s 4HE *OINT %CONOMIC AND 4RADE #OMMITTEES *%4#/S
and similar bilateral bodies focusing on speciﬁc high
growth markets are key channels for business and
government to work together to promote bilateral
trade and address market barriers.

2.10.8 UKTI DSO has also formed a Defence Advisory
Group and a Security Advisory Group to ensure that
there is close co-operation with industry in developing
our forward plans and activities. These two groups have
taken forward important work on strategies for
marketing and identifying and selecting overseas
markets, and on promoting improved ethical standards.
Feedback from these industry groups about the new
arrangements has been overwhelmingly positive.
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Ian Godden, CEO of SBAC
(Society of British Aerospace Companies)

2.10.9 While the past year has been enormously
challenging for the advanced engineering sector,
opportunities still exist, particularly in the Brazil, Russia,
India and China (BRIC) markets and in the Government’s
drive towards a low-carbon economy. UK companies are
well placed to make the most of these opportunities and
to build new partnerships around the world. A
signiﬁcant part of the Sector Team’s year was devoted to
the development of a UK Advanced Engineering
International Marketing Strategy. Following extensive
stakeholder consultation, the strategy was launched on
11 March by Trade, Investment and Business Minister,
Lord Davies of Abersoch. The Marketing Strategy
answers a key issue raised in the Government’s
Manufacturing Strategy about promoting the strengths
of the sector overseas and will be a vital component of
the “New Industry, New Jobs” agenda.
2.10.10 A key output of the Strategy was the
development of a marketing toolkit website which
provides a one-stop shop for UK advanced engineering
marketing materials. For more information, visit
www.ukadvancedengineering.com. A major activity
over the coming year will be to build on the marketing
materials and to populate the website with more
information on more markets. Implementation of the
Strategy will be guided by the business-led Sector
Advisory Board from whom we have a clear business
engagement and will help bring together a wide range of
stakeholders who will help us take the Strategy forward.

The UK’s environmental industry
has a turnover of £25 billion. It
employs about 400,000 people in
about 17,000 companies. It is
projected to be worth £46 billion
by 2015

2.10.11 During the course of 2008–09, the advanced
engineering team helped more than 1,100 UK-based
companies with their international trade efforts. Some
of the highlights are outlined below:
s IN -AY 5+4) ORGANISED A MAJOR REPUTATIONAL
showcase event in three key locations in India –
Bangalore, Pune and Chennai. Around 20 UK
organisations helped promote UK excellence in
advanced materials, design engineering and
advanced manufacturing to more than 400 Indian
delegates who provided excellent feedback on what
we had to offer. One UK SME reported a £300k deal
with an Indian company within weeks of the event,
s *ULY SAW 5+4) TAKE A MAJOR PRESENCE AT THE
Farnborough International Airshow. An India
networking reception built on contacts made at the
reputational showcase and UKTI supported 32
overseas companies to meet with 81 UK companies
at an International Business Exchange. Participating
UK companies have, so far, reported consequent
orders totalling some £5.6m,
s 5+ COMPANIES SUPPORTED BY 5+4) AT THE
International Astronautical Conference in Glasgow in
September expect orders worth some £300k within
12 months of the event,
s 5+4) SUPPORTED A TRADE MISSION TO THE 0ERFORMANCE
Racing Industry show in the USA in December.
As a result of participating, one company won
new contracts to supply gearboxes to Argentina
and Brazil, and
s 5+ COMPANIES INVOLVED IN A 5+ )NDIA LOW CARBON
vehicles conference and a R&D workshop in February
reported immediate orders worth £1m as a result of
their participation.

Low Carbon
2.10.12 The transition to a global low carbon, resource
efﬁcient economy presents a huge economic opportunity
for the UK internationally. In 2007–08 the global market
value of low carbon environmental goods and services was
£3,046 billion, which does not include the potential value
from the wider deﬁnition of a low carbon economy as
covering the whole economy. UKTI and a number of
partners embarked on a low carbon international
marketing journey to position the UK as a leader in low
carbon solutions and as such the destination of choice for
low carbon trade and investment. Initial research and
evidence building was initiated by UKTI in the autumn of
2008. A Partnership event on 25 March 2009 marked a
milestone with the setting out of UK low carbon strengths
and capabilities, a marketing proposition and a set of case
studies. Work on developing the UK low carbon
international marketing strategy will continue with
individual sector and market messaging, more case studies
and the delivery of activities for UK companies to promote
their low carbon solutions.
UÊ ÓääÇqänÊ}L>Ê>ÀiÌÊÛ>ÕiÊvÊÌ iÊÜÊ >ÀLÊ
Environmental Goods and Services (LCEGS) sector*
was £3,046 billion,
UÊ ÌÊÃÊiÃÌ>Ìi`ÊÌ >ÌÊÛiÀ>ÊÌ iÊ}L>Ê -ÊÃiVÌÀÊ
grew by approximately 4% in 2007–08,
UÊ 1Ê >ÃÊÎ°x¯ÊvÊÌ iÊ}L>Ê>ÀiÌÊÃ >Ài]
UÊ >ÊÃÊÌ iÊ>À}iÃÌÊiÝ«ÀÌÊ>ÀiÌÊvÀÊÌ iÊ1ÊÜÌ Ê
12.06% of overall export total in 2007–08,
UÊ ÊÓääÇqänÊiÝ«ÀÌÃÊ>VVÕÌi`ÊvÀÊÕÃÌÊÕ`iÀÊ£ä¯ÊvÊ
sales (£10.5 billion), and
UÊ ÊÓääÇÊÌ iÊ1Ê>ÌÌÀ>VÌi`ÊÎä¯ÊvÊ>Ê ÕÀ«i>ÊÛiÌÕÀiÊ
capital investment in clean technology.
Source: Innovas Report, published March 2009
*The Low Carbon Environmental Goods and Services sector in this
context refers to the environmental and renewable energy sectors and
to emerging low carbon activities such as alternative fuels, building
technologies, nuclear power and carbon ﬁnance. Low carbon has wider
relevance – it affects the whole economy. The strategy has been
developed with the whole economy in mind.
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Financial, Professional and Related
Business Services

Creative Industries
2.10.14 Since the launch of the ﬁve-year Marketing
Strategy in 2007, new marketing tools have become
available during the course of 2008 and early 2009 to
support the UK presence in markets and strategic UK
events for the sector.
The Creative Industries Marketing Strategy Board
is leading work to maximise the impact of this
collaborative marketing, which includes the following:

UKTI promotes UK excellence in ﬁnancial and professional services

Image courtesy of Media Molecule

2.10.13 All ﬁnancial centres have been affected by
the downturn, and the UK is no exception. However,
the unique strength and depth of UK ﬁnancial services
remains unequalled and in 2009 UKTI will ensure that
UK excellence in ﬁnancial and professional services
is promoted and supported to the greatest effect.
London’s position as the top global ﬁnancial centre faces
increasing competition from other ﬁnancial centres as
they seek to attract more international business. The
City UK Strategy sets out how UKTI, working with the
Financial Services Strategy Advisory Board (FSSAB)
and delivery partners, will deliver a step change in the
promotion of the UK ﬁnancial services sector. It has led
to the development of detailed marketing strategies for
ﬁve priority markets: China, India, US, Gulf and Russia,
and one for promoting UK excellence in Islamic ﬁnance.

s SECTOR LED MARKETING MESSAGES ON THE 5+S CREATIVE
strengths, backed by evidence, case studies and
imagery, as a resource for UK business and
Government to complement other marketing,
s A STRATEGIC PROGRAMME FOR THE ,OVE  -ONEY lLM
exhibition, particularly in the key markets for
creative industries (US, Japan, India, China), big
international trade shows and major festivals
including the London Design Festival,
s PRODUCTION OF A NEW SUITE OF MARKETING MATERIAL
including an updated creative industries brochure,
s DESIGN AND DELIVERY OF SECTOR LED WORKSHOPS DURING
the Shanghai Expo 2010 to support the overall Expo
theme of “Better City, Better Life”, and
s POTENTIAL CONTRIBUTION OF THE CREATIVE INDUSTRIES
to London 2012 and business legacy, and other
opportunities to promote links between creative
industries and sport.

The UK is the most successful location in the EU for attracting
software companies
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Five of the world’s top 20
bestselling pharmaceuticals
were developed in the UK

UK production companies and post-production
houses have won £4m worth of work from Chinese
agencies, as a result of a forum held in Shanghai by
the Advertising Producers Association last November.
Stink TV, RSA, Joyrider and Rushes are among the
companies who were represented at the forum and
have beneﬁted from it.

The UK’s biotechnology sector is the largest in Europe,
second globally only to the USA, and the UK is the
most popular location in Europe for investment in
pharmaceutical and biotechnology R&D. Five of the
world’s top 20 bestselling pharmaceuticals were
developed in the UK. The
UK produces 9% of the world’s scientiﬁc papers and
has a citation share of 12%, second only to
the USA.

Life Science
2.10.15 The greatest problem facing the sector is the
ow of ﬁnance to emerging biotechnology companies
from institutional investors which has virtually ceased.
The recent publication of the Bioscience, Innovation and
Growth Team (BIGT) refresh by BERR led by Sir David
Cooksey seeks to address these and other issues
affecting the sector and positions the UK Life Science
Marketing Strategy as a key component of its effective
delivery.
2.10.16 Led by a joint Industry Government Board, the
Strategy focuses resources and effort on the country
workstreams of the USA, Japan, China and India by:
s MARKETING THE 5+S STRENGTHS THROUGH COMPELLING
messages, facts and case studies,
s MARKETING 5+ LIFE SCIENCE USING A SINGLE INTEGRATED
strategy which ensures messages get through to the
right people, in the right way, at the right time in the
countries and sub-sectors that can really make a
difference to the UK, and
s FORGING CLOSER LINKS BETWEEN INDUSTRY 'OVERNMENT
and the wider sector.

Lux Innovate
Technology development company LUX Innovate
built a successful presence in Japan with the help
of UKTI. Working with UKTI and Scottish Development
International (SDI) to obtain advice
and support in international business development, the
company was able to take advantage of translation
services, cultural training and prearranged meetings
with companies in the biotech industry. The company
has participated
in several missions organised by UKTI. “That ﬁrst visit
to Japan launched us into the market,” says
Dr Magdalenic. “Ever since then we have been
tying in our market visits to Japan with missions.
Approaching Japanese companies on our own can
be difﬁcult, but being part of a mission enhances
our credibility, and makes other companies want to
speak with us.”

2.10.17The healthcare technology sector covers
manufacturers of a diverse range of medical devices and
diagnostics ranging from sticking plasters to high-tech
hospital equipment such as CT scanners, and from
diagnostic test kits (eg blood glucose monitors) to devices
implanted in patients (eg pacemakers). It is estimated that
38 million people have contact with a medical device
every day. In 2007, sales were £5.1 billion with exports
of £4.5 billion employing over 46,000 people.
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The inventor of the World Wide
Web, Sir Tim Berners-Lee, and
the designer of the i-Pod,
Jonathan Ive, are both British

Energy
Summit Medical
As a result of participating in the healthcare trade
mission to Saudi in March 2008, Summit Medical,
which manufactures medical devices for hospitals,
won their ﬁrst order for orthopaedic bone cement
mixing systems from a Saudi hospital.

Information and Communication
Technologies (ICT)
2.10.18 The ICT sector is one of the largest wealth
creators in the UK, contributing £66.4 billion per annum
(or 6.4%) to the UK economy, and employing
approximately one million people.

2.10.20 The Energy Excellence Strategy was launched in
December 2007. During the reporting year, it has made
some key contributions to beneﬁt the UK Energy sector:
s JOINING UP THE OIL GAS POWER RENEWABLES AND
nuclear sectors under one UK Energy brand,
s SUPPORTING OVER   5+ %NERGY BUSINESSES WITH
a full programme of activities in a wide range of
markets, which has helped deliver millions of pounds
of orders, and
s DELIVERING POWERFUL MESSAGES ABOUT THE STRENGTHS
of the UK Energy sector at key international Energy
events, such as the World Future Energy (WFE)
Summit in Abu Dhabi.

2.10.19 UKTI is marketing the UK and UK ICT
companies, and improving the reputation of the UK and
its companies in key overseas markets. The strategy is
driven by an implementation board drawn from
business, and relevant government departments and
intermediaries. Larry Hirst, CBE, Chairman of IBM
(International Business Machines) Europe, Middle East
and Africa EMEA, chairs the board. Pilot projects in the
USA, China and India included marketing collateral to
support the sector. A messaging toolkit is available.

BG Premier Power, Northern Ireland, UK, Plant

2.10.21 In addition to the WFE event mentioned above,
the Strategy and its messages about the UK Energy
sector – its key strengths of Innovation, Quality,
Adaptability, Sustainability and Knowledge – have been
showcased over the past year at, among others, the
World Petroleum Congress in Madrid, Offshore Northern
Seas in Stavanger and All Energy in Aberdeen. The
coming year will see even more engagement globally at
the Offshore Technology Conference in Houston,
Offshore Europe in Aberdeen and the World Gas
Conference in Buenos Aires.
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2.10.22 The Strategy has a number of workstreams,
including the development of a UK Energy website; the
ﬁrst phase development of the site went live in March
2009 and it includes a marketing toolkit tailored for use
by any UK Energy business. The fully developed site
will be launched at Offshore Europe later this year. A
DVD is in development highlighting the sector’s key
selling points, while the brand identity and collateral
will be used at major Energy shows across the world,
both standalone and at TAP-supported events,
where appropriate.

Following the UK Power and Renewable Energy
Mission to Taiwan on 2–3 November 2008, Aquatera
signed a three-year contract worth £600,000 to
deliver a feasibility study of Taiwan’s marine energy
development.
Also following the Taiwan mission, BMT (lead
contractor) and Wind Prospect signed a contract
worth £200,000 to help the Taiwan Government set
standard guidelines for tender speciﬁcations and
requirements for offshore wind projects. Both
companies signed a memorandum of understanding
with Industrial Technology Research Institute
(the Taiwan state owned laboratory – ITRI) for
future co-operation for projects. Converteam and
Garrad Hassan are also discussing potential
contracts with ITRI.

DEPARTMENTAL REPORT 2008–09

33

CHAPTER THREE
DELIVERING OUR SERVICES

FACT
A 30% INCREASE IN
2008–09 IN THE NUMBER
OF BUSINESSES
UKTI HELPED TO
INTERNATIONALISE
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In 2008–09
UÊÇÇ¯ÊvÊ1/½ÃÊÀiÃÕÀViÊ
supported UK businesses to export
UÊÓÎ¯ÊÃÕ««ÀÌi`Ê>ÌÌÀ>VÌ}Ê
Foreign Direct Investment

3.1

INTRODUCTION

3.1.1 UKTI ORGANISES ITS PRODUCT
AND SERVICE PORTFOLIO UNDER
THREE HEADINGS DEFINED BY THE
BUSINESS SUPPORT SIMPLIFICATION
PROGRAMME10 (BSSP):

3.1.2 UKTI allocates resources between trade
(developing your international trade potential and
accessing international markets) and inward investment
(maximising foreign direct investment). The percentage
split by year is detailed in the table below:
350
300

23%
20%

250

23%

26%

200
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TRADE POTENTIAL.
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80%

77%

74%

77%

2005-06

2006-07

2007-08

2008-09

100
50
0
£m

Trade (developing your international trade potential &
accessing international markets)
Inward investment (maximising foreign direct investment)

Businesses’ access to UKTI trade services in the UK and overseas markets
The spectrum of UK-based companies with potential to internationalise or increase their international
presence can approach UKTI for information, advice and practical support in a variety of ways

UKTI website

UKTI Enquiry
Service

UKTI has
general and
specialist
advisers in
all nine English
regions*

UKTI has sector
specialists in
London

UKTI has
advisers in 98
overseas
markets

The UKTI network of assistance points strives to provide a co-ordinated response.
Note:* UKTI and the DAs in Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales are responsible for trade support
within their jurisdictions but use UKTI services overseas.

10 See www.berr.gov.uk for more details.
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3.2

ACCESSING UKTI SERVICES

3.2.1 UKTI provides a wide range of channels by which
business can access services ranging from the more
traditional (enquiry line, etc) to new media (YouTube,
Twitter, etc).
The UKTI Enquiry Service
3.2.2 UKTI’s Enquiry Service is the main point
of contact for customers. The team handles trade
and inward investment enquiries received via
+44 (0)20 7215 8000, by email through the “Contact
Us” service on the www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk website,
and by letter/fax. The team is also responsible for
handling customer enquiries relating to use of the
website (including access issues), amending customer
proﬁles and website navigation.
3.2.3 The Enquiry Service received over 35,000 trade
and inward investment-related telephone calls/emails in
2008–09. This is a 6% increase on the previous year.
The Enquiry Service will answer any question where
they can, or, where appropriate, refer a customer to a
more specialist source of information, for example an
International Trade Adviser (ITA), country/sector
specialist or an external organisation such as a Chamber
of Commerce, SITPRO, etc. The Enquiry Service is based
in UKTI’s Tay House HQ building in Glasgow. Services
are available to all eligible companies seeking help in
overseas markets where there is a UKTI presence.

3.2.5 The Investment Services website has seen a
37.7% increase in site visits with an average of 50,000
visitors per month viewing 132,000 pages. The site
generates three to four qualiﬁed leads weekly from
inward investment prospects. The UKTI DSO site was
launched in May 2008 and has had over 90,000 visits,
with 243,000 pages viewed in the year. A new, uniﬁed
UKTI public website project is underway for launch in
March 2010.
UKTI website: www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk
Social Media
3.2.6 Social media is about networking and affording
users the opportunity to simultaneously consume and
generate content online. It also allows us to harness the
power of digital networks, promote the UKTI brand and
engage with new audiences. It has been an important
route to market for us over the past year. UKTI has
launched a successful blog, YouTube channel, Twitter
Feed, LinkedIn group and Flickr channel. All of these
branded channels have led to signiﬁcant referrals to our
website and are an important source of customer
feedback and engagement. Tom Watson, Minister for
Digital Engagement, praised the UKTI blog as a good
source on his own blog. We shall continue to use social
media to explore new ways to reach our expanding
global audience.
Blog
http://blog.ukti.gov.uk/

Website
3.2.4 The web is an increasingly important means of
interacting with our audience and building our
customer pipeline. It has been a good year for UKTI
online. The Trade Portal, Investment Services and UKTI
DSO websites have all seen signiﬁcant increases in
trafﬁc and user activity. The Trade Portal has seen
overall page impressions increase by 9.6% year-on-year,
with over 3.5m individual pages viewed. Total company
registrations with 10,866 new registered users are 61.8%
higher than the previous year.
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YouTube
www.youtube.com/user/UKTIWeb?gl=GB&hl=en-GB
Twitter
http://twitter.com/ukti
LinkedIn
www.linkedin.com/groupInvitation?gid=1769629
Flickr
www. ickr.com/photos/ukti

In 2008 UK exports of goods
and services were worth
£414 billion, representing
29% of the UK’s GDP

3.3

DEVELOPING YOUR INTERNATIONAL
TRADE POTENTIAL

3.3.1 UKTI provides individually tailored packages of
practical assistance for companies to help them develop
the capacity needed to trade internationally including:
s AN EXPORT HEALTH CHECK TO ASSESS READINESS FOR
exporting and help in developing a plan of action,
s TRAINING IN THE REQUIREMENTS FOR TRADING OVERSEAS
s ACCESS TO AN EXPERIENCED LOCAL )4!
s SPECIALIST HELP WITH TACKLING CULTURAL AND LANGUAGE
issues when communicating with overseas customers
and partners,
s ADVICE ON HOW TO GO ABOUT MARKET RESEARCH AND THE
possibility of a grant towards approved market
research projects,
s ONGOING SUPPORT TO HELP BUSINESS CONTINUE TO
develop overseas trade and look at dealing with more
sophisticated activities or markets,
s ADVICE ON A RANGE OF INTERNATIONAL TRADE ASSISTANCE
available from UKTI, and
s SUPPORTING INNOVATIVE COMPANIES THROUGH THE 2$
programme to conduct business overseas with a view
to increasing their R&D levels back in the UK.
3.3.2 We know that business often ﬁnds it tough to get
started in international trade. Developing international
trade potential assists new and experienced exporters
with training, planning and support to help them
prepare to succeed overseas through a range of services.
Passport to Export Programme

The total number of companies that have signed up to
Passport is some 13,500. Of this number, 4,046
companies are currently proceeding through Passport
and 6,925 have completed. Of the remainder, some are
on hold and some have withdrawn from the programme.
A total of 1,555 signed up during 2008–09.

3.3.4 The Passport to Export programme was reﬁned
during 2008–09, creating a common standard for the
International Trade Review for all Passport companies,
companies’ action plans and market selection services.
UKTI has worked closely with the UK Intellectual
Property Ofﬁce (UK-IPO) and CMC Marketing to increase
ITA’s knowledge of the importance of Intellectual
Property Rights (IPR). In some regions this topic is now
included in the training provided to passport companies.
Export Marketing Research Scheme (EMRS)
3.3.5 EMRS provided free, independent advice to over
600 companies on how to get the most out of a
marketing research project. The scheme helps and
encourages UK companies to achieve a widespread
understanding of the discipline, beneﬁts, analysis and
interpretation of marketing research in the exporting
process. The scheme also offers ﬁnancial help to eligible
companies for in-house projects, purchasing published
market reports or using a market research agency. The
scheme also supports large in-depth projects undertaken
by Trade Associations on behalf of their members.

3.3.3 This is one of UKTI’s agship programmes
which helps eligible companies which are new to or who
are inexperienced in exporting, with a review of their
readiness for international business, and with developing
an action plan to help them build the capacity to
succeed in trading internationally. Under the scheme,
match funding up to £1,500 can be available for
projects agreed with an ITA as part of an export
capability development plan.
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UK GeoEnvironmental Consultants break into
Portuguese Market. Listers Geotechnical consultants, a
company offering ground investigations, contaminated
land and subsidence surveys, and geoenvironmental
reports, joined the Passport to Export scheme. They
attended training, events and networks organised by the
British Embassy in Lisbon and took part in an outward
mission to the main environmental exhibition and trade
fair in Portugal. As a result they have set up an ofﬁce
in Portugal.
“Without the help and support of UKTI… we could not
have progressed the project.” Dr Mark Cowley, Listers.

Export Communications Review (ECR)
3.3.6 ECR provides companies with impartial and
objective advice on language and cultural issues in
order to help them develop an effective communications
strategy. The scheme offers companies an on-site review
of how they currently communicate with their export
markets. An in-depth report is provided, typically
addressing the company’s website, written materials,
personal meetings and general administrative issues.

3.3.7 Nearly 300 reviews were carried out and the
number of trained consultants has increased and now
provides a wider geographical coverage.
High Growth Market Programme
3.3.8 Through a team of ten business specialists, the
High Growth Market Programme focused on selected
mid-sized UK-based companies to help them do
business in target high growth international markets.
Since its inception in April 2007, the Programme has
been successful in helping 371 companies do business in
the 17 high growth markets.
3.3.9 In February 2009, UKTI introduced the Fiscal
Compass Programme as part of a package of measures
to help UK-based companies during the global economic
downturn. The Fiscal Compass Programme superseded
the High Growth Markets Programme. This Programme
helps UK-based companies capitalise on opportunities
arising from other countries’ new ﬁscal stimulus
packages or other spending mechanisms such as
sovereign wealth funds. The selection of the ten
countries which are currently the priority focus of the
ﬁscal compass programme takes into account the size
and scope of spending, market risk, accessibility and
attractiveness of the market to UK companies.
3.3.10 High growth markets remain a high priority for
UKTI, but the re-focusing of our emphasis will present
even greater opportunities for UK-based businesses. The
Programme also complements and builds on UKTI’s
supply chain activities.

Image courtesy of Apple Corp.

Gateway to Global Growth

UK Design – British Designer Jonathan Ive.
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3.3.11 In the previous year UKTI commissioned research
into the barriers faced by more experienced exporters
and as a result of the ﬁndings in 2008–09, it launched
a new package of support called Gateway to Global
Growth. This support focused on helping innovative
companies, who are also experienced exporters, to
grow internationally. This package delivers on the
Government’s Strategy published in the “Manufacturing:
New Challenges, New Opportunities” Strategy of
September 2008.

3.3.12 We are able to offer strategic support to
innovative exporters with two to ten years’ experience
through the Gateway Programme from 1 April 2009,
utilising the successful Passport approach with
additional beneﬁts:
s ENGAGEMENT WITH SPECIALIST PRIVATE AND PUBLIC
sector providers,
s ACCESS TO SPECIALIST TRAINING APPROPRIATE TO THIS
target group,
s OPPORTUNITIES FOR GROUP NETWORKING
s A SPECIlC FOCUS ON GLOBAL VALUESUPPLY CHAIN
engagement,
s LINKS TO OTHER BUSINESS SUPPORT ACTIVITIES AND
ﬁnancial support.
3.3.13 Help to clients includes:
s )NTERNATIONAL "USINESS 2EVIEW n A SPECIALIST REVIEW
following an initial diagnostic conducted by UKTI
or Business Link in accordance with regionally
agreed procedures,
s STRATEGY DEVELOPMENT
s ACTION PLAN
s )4! SUPPORT
s INTERNATIONAL SERVICES n EXISTING 5+4) SERVICES PLUS
other public and private sector support,
s DEVELOPING INTERNATIONAL CAPABILITY AND
s REVIEW AND FOLLOW UP

s ACCESS AND INTRODUCTIONS TO SECTOR NETWORKS SUCH AS
industry leaders, chambers of commerce, universities
and other centres of R&D excellence,
s PROVIDING IN DEPTH KNOWLEDGE OF 5+ STRENGTHS
within a sector,
s KNOWLEDGE OF EXISTING CLUSTERS AND EXPERTISE ACROSS
the UK,
s ASSESSMENT AND ADAPTATION OF BUSINESS MODELS TO
ensure successful market access and entry,
s INFORMATION ON POLICY AND STRATEGIC ISSUES AND
s MARKET INTELLIGENCE FOR BOTH CURRENT AND FUTURE
trends at home and overseas.
British Army Export Support Team (EST)
3.3.16 The UKTI DSO EST, based at Bovington and
Larkhill, is made up of serving military personnel with a
wide range of skills and experience. They provide
specialist military support and advice to UK companies
and to potential customers. They bring a unique
operational capability to their demonstrations of
in-service equipment, but can also work in support of
companies marketing other UK products with an export
potential. The EST is also available to support companies
with after-sales support and refresher training, both in
the UK and overseas.

Specialist Advice
3.3.14 UKTI Sector Champions are a team of specialists
providing highly exible sectoral and technical input for
both trade and inward investment activities. They
provide dedicated, professional assistance on all aspects
of locating a new business in the UK, expanding
existing facilities or developing international trade. They
play a key role in this activity, providing tailored sectoral
or technology information across all stages of the
process.
3.3.15 With wide-ranging commercial and technical
expertise, each Sector Champion is well placed to offer a
variety of services, including:
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In February 2009, Richard Paniguian hosted UAE Crown
Prince, His Highness Sheikh Mohammed bin Zayed al
Nahyan on the UKTI DSO stand at the International
Defence Exhibition (IDEX). The British Army Export
Support Team provided demonstrations and brieﬁngs
on a range of British defence and security products
including the Supacat all-terrain vehicle and Griffon
hovercraft.
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3.4

ACCESSING INTERNATIONAL MARKETS

3.4.1 Providing tailored help in accessing new markets
and information about opportunities or speciﬁc
products or services in particular overseas markets.
This includes the following services:
s )NFORMATION CONTACTS ADVICE MENTORING AND
support from UKTI staff based overseas.
s 3UPPORT TO PARTICIPATE IN TRADE FAIRS OVERSEAS
s /PPORTUNITIES TO PARTICIPATE IN SECTOR BASED MISSIONS
and seminars to countries where the best
opportunities lie.
s !CCESS TO MAJOR BUYERS GOVERNMENTS AND SUPPLY
chains in overseas markets.
s %XPLORATORY VISITS TO NEW MARKETS
s 0OLITICAL LOBBYING ON BEHALF OF 5+ COMPANIES
3.4.2 Once the initial development has been completed,
UKTI assists new and experienced exporters with
information, help and advice on entering overseas
markets. To be a successful exporter they need to travel
to their target markets and build lasting commercial
relationships with their clients and partners. This is not
always easy, but UKTI can help them with practical
assistance before they go and ongoing help while they
are there.
Overseas Market Introduction Service (OMIS)
3.4.3 UKTI’s OMIS delivers the majority of trade
development-focused chargeable services worldwide to
UKTI’s customers. The service enables our ITAs and
Posts to support UK customers wanting help in markets
overseas. OMIS is a exible service, including a mix of
pre-visit research and advice, and support for market
visits. All markets where UKTI has a presence are using
the OMIS online system.
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UKTI by numbers…
All numbers are as at end quarter Q4 2008–09...
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“OMIS reports are a cost-effective way to access the
information we need to make a quick and painless entry
into a new market and select the right distribution
partners.”
Peter Thompson, International Sales Manager,
Evans Vanodine

Charging
UKTI will continue to progressively broaden its
charging regime for trade support services.
Charging acts as a test of economic value, enabling
customers to make informed choices about which
services they value and how frequently they use
them. Charging also helps to drive up UKTI’s
professionalism, improving the quality and
consistency of delivery to customers and ensuring
they receive value for money. It also deters less
serious enquiries and informs resource allocations.
UKTI increased charges for the use of our OMIS
with effect from 1 April 2008 and increased
internal team targets for income recovery in line
with the CSR2007 target 5. In view of the
economic situation we will not be raising prices
in the coming year (2009–10).

UK defence industry represents
14% of UK manufacturing exports
and supports 300,000 jobs

Tradeshow Access Programme (TAP)
In 2008–09, TAP supported...
UÊ Î]ÈääÊ«>ÀÌV«>ÌÃ°
UÊ ÊÎnnÊiÝ LÌÃ]ÊvÊÜ V Ê£{ÈÊÜiÀiÊºiÞ»Ê
sectoral events.
UÊ xxäÊºÃ»Ê«>ÀÌV«>ÌÃ°
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3.4.4 TAP focuses on support for less experienced
exporters seeking to test the effectiveness of overseas
exhibitions for market entry.
3.4.5 SMEs that are new to export or which have been
exporting for less than 10 years are eligible for exhibition
support. This exhibition support is integrated with the
delivery of other UKTI services involving International
Trade Teams (ITTs) around the UK. Eligible business can
also choose to exhibit at exhibitions that are either in the
TAP main programme, which consists of a UKTI
supported “group”, or they can attend an exhibition under
a “solo” application which supported 550 participants in
2008–09.
3.4.6 UKTI helps businesses improve their performance
by working with Accredited Trade Organisations (ATOs) at
overseas shows and approving grant applications. All
eligible businesses can now receive up to a maximum of
six grants towards eligible costs of exhibiting at overseas
exhibitions as part of their longer-term export strategy.
Support for Defence Exports
3.4.7 With the continued support of the MoD, UKTI
DSO continues to deliver the essential government-togovernment dimension to company-led marketing
campaigns, in pursuit of maintaining the UK’s strong
position in the global defence export market. Over the
last ﬁve years, the UK achieved an annual average share
of the global defence export market of over 21%.
Following an exceptional year in 2007, 2008 returned to
a near normal level of business with over £4.2 billion of
new orders won, maintaining the UK as the world’s
second most successful defence exporter after the USA.
UKTI DSO currently has an active global list of over 250
speciﬁc industry-led marketing campaigns.
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BAE Systems announced in February 2009 that it had
signed a £99m contract for the supply of Sting Ray
Mod 1 torpedoes to Norway. UKTI DSO played an
active role in supporting BAE Systems through an
Integrated Campaign Team. Following this success, in
a letter to Lord Davies, Minister for Trade, Investment
and Business, BAE Systems Chief Executive Ofﬁcer
Ian King said: “The campaign win was only possible via
the team approach taken with UKTI DSO, the Ministry of
Defence and the Royal Navy.”

Opportunities to Participate in Sector-Based Trade
Missions and Seminars
Overseas Trade Missions
3.4.8 Overseas trade missions give companies the
opportunity to visit overseas markets as part of a
like-minded group. As a part of the mission, companies
can obtain tailored information and commercial
contacts through OMIS. In 2008–09, UKTI funded 129
overseas missions with 1,873 participants.

Gl

bal

Spirit

Developing
eloping Wo
Worldwide Partnerships

“Exporters, whether experienced or not, need to have done
their research, to plan a strategy and to know about the
prospective markets – UKTI help and advice in this ﬁeld is
invaluable.”
John Atkinson, MD, Global Spirit (supply chain
sourcing company based in Manchester)
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Market Visit Support (MVS)

Inward Missions

3.4.9 MVS provides guidance and ﬁnancial support to
assist SMEs to visit overseas markets as part of their
trade development process. It is aimed at SMEs in
England, Wales and Scotland that are new exporters or
SMEs that are new to the high growth markets outlined
in the UKTI Strategy. To be eligible for support
companies must be:
s 3-%S IN A DEVELOPMENTAL RELATIONSHIP WITH AN ADVISER
(most English participants are on the Passport
programme), and
s NEW TO EXPORT OR NEW TO THE HIGH GROWTH MARKETS
outlined in UKTI’s Strategy.
The Eurostar at St Pancras station, London

Overseas Seminars

3.4.11 In 2008–09, the Sectors Group funded 111 inward
missions attended by 4,248 UK participants. Inward
missions give UK companies access to major buyers,
governments and supply chain opportunities in overseas
markets by bringing them together in the UK. This
included presentations, seminar discussions and
structured “meet the buyer” sessions.

Image courtesy of Design Bridge

Well over 1,000 companies used this service in 2008–09.

Design Bridge, Mr Lee, British designer

3.4.10 Overseas seminars showcase UK sectoral
excellence, drawing on individual companies’ expertise,
case studies and marketing collateral. Companies do not
receive a grant for participating in missions, but they
beneﬁt from the proﬁle they gain from participation in
the group, research commissioned from Posts under
OMIS, and the general organisation of the event.
In 2008–09, UKTI funded 80 overseas seminars with
1,522 participants.
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3.4.12 UK sector events were also arranged which gave
UK companies access to their sector networks and
information on markets, opportunities and UKTI
services. In 2008–09, UKTI funded 100 events with
4,276 participants.
Alerts to the Latest and Best Business Opportunities
3.4.13 Sales leads are the lifeblood of any business,
which is why our staff overseas in British Embassies,
High Commissions and Consulates are always looking
for business opportunities for UK companies. Over 400
opportunities per month are made available to UK
business customers registered on our website at
www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk Customers can set up their
proﬁle and be alerted by email when new opportunities
are published in their areas of interest.

The UK remains the number one
inward investment location in
Europe and number two in the
world (in terms of FDI stock)



-!8)-)3).' &/2%)'. $)2%#4
INVESTMENT (FDI)*

3.5.1 The Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development (OECD) ranks Britain as the best
environment in Europe and tenth globally in which
to start and grow a business. It says we maintain an
economic environment that promotes business growth,
competition and attracts inward foreign investment.
FDI successes…
UÊ ÊÓäänqä]ÊÌ iÊ1Ê>ÌÌÀ>VÌi`Ê£]Ç{{Ê Ê«ÀiVÌÃ]ÊvÊÊ
which UKTI had signiﬁcant involvement in 600
(target 525).
UÊ / iÊ1Ê >ÃÊÌ iÊÃiV`Ê>À}iÃÌÊÃÌVÊvÊ}L>Ê
outward investment – US$1,347.7 trillion.
UÊ / iÊ1ÊÀi>ÃÊÌ iÊÕLiÀÊiÊÜ>À`ÊÛiÃÌiÌÊÊ
location in Europe and number two in the world
(in terms of FDI stock).

3.5.2 The UK has an internationally acclaimed
competition regime and relative openness to trade and
inward direct investment. Coupled with its strengths as a
ﬁnancial centre, its location in the European Single
Market and its general enterprise climate, Britain is the
largest recipient of inward direct investment in the world
after the USA.
3.5.3 A high level of productivity growth has allowed
the UK to close the productivity gap with its key
comparators over the last decade and exible labour
markets enabling ﬁrms to respond quickly to changes
in the marketplace while ensuring fair standards
and support for people when they need to move
between jobs.

3.5.4 The recession and changes in the global economy
has represented new challengers in attracting inward
investment. Inward investment activities involve
providing a free, bespoke and conﬁdential service to
potential inward investors on a range of issues. This
includes the following services:
s FOCUS ON KEY HIGH VALUE INVESTORS TO FACILITATE THEIR
continued growth/retention in the UK,
s PROVIDING SPECIlC INFORMATION ON KEY COMMERCIAL
considerations. For example, on company taxation,
immigration, ﬁnancial incentives, labour, real estate,
transport, utilities and regulatory issues,
s PROVIDING COMPREHENSIVE REGIONAL AND LOCAL ANALYSIS
in order to help overseas companies choose the best
location for them to establish their business,
s INTRODUCTIONS TO SECTOR NETWORKS SUCH AS INDUSTRY
leaders, chambers of commerce, universities and
other centres of R&D excellence,
s INTRODUCTION TO A RANGE OF EXPERIENCED BUSINESS
intermediaries and consultants with shared values to
those of UKTI,
s HELPING TO BUILD 2$ PARTNERSHIPS BETWEEN 5+ AND
foreign businesses through UKTI’s Global
Partnerships programme,
s TARGETING MULTINATIONAL COMPANIES TO INVEST IN THE
UK’s R&D infrastructure through the R&D
programme,
s ASSISTING OVERSEAS ENTREPRENEURS TO DEVELOP 5+
business opportunities through UKTI’s Global
Entrepreneurs programme,
s PROVIDING CONTINUED INVESTOR haftercare” support
through UKTI’s Investor Development network, which
offers assistance to companies once they have
established a presence in the UK to encourage their
successful development and expansion, and
s DEVELOPING CO OPERATION AND OPERATIONAL GUIDELINES
between the principal bodies engaged in inward
investment promotion, through chairmanship of the
International Business Development Forum.
3.5.5 In these challenging times, UKTI strives to attract
more high-quality investment to the UK, to ensure the
UK remains the prime investment location in Europe.
UKTI’s priority will be to develop and nurture
relationships with individual companies.

* See www.ukinvest.gov.uk/investmentreport08/09 for latest
UKTI Inward Investment Report 2008–09.
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Joint Review of Overseas Representation
Following a joint review of overseas representation
in 2007 by UKTI, the RDAs and the development
agencies of the Devolved Administrations, new
arrangements for closer joint working were rolled out
on 1 April 2009 in the key inward investment markets.
This builds on “pathﬁnders” in Canada, France and
India. Key elements of the new working arrangements
include an annual “UK plc” plan for events, marketing
and promotion, a more consistent approach to UK
branding overseas, making use of a specially developed
“UK Flag” brand identity, and exploitation of
opportunities for co-location and joint procurement of
services. The DAs and LDA will also have the discretion
to use this brand and discuss co-location and joint
procurement, when consistent with their separate
status. These new arrangements consolidate and
replace previous arrangements for working together in
overseas markets. Their overall aim is to minimise the
risk of duplication, improve efﬁciency and transparency
and so increase the amount of knowledge-driven FDI
won for the UK.

3.5.7 UKTI can advise on the UK as a potential
business location from the start of the decision-making
process through to the detailed exploration of location
options. Targeted companies receive a range of support,
including, where appropriate, a client account manager.
Dedicated client account managers can also help
existing investors develop their business, through
appropriate use of trade services including sales leads
and market research.

UKTI supports UK businesses in Russia

Investors to the UK
3.5.6 UKTI is the UK’s national inward investment
promotion agency. It leads the UK inward investment
network in helping overseas-owned ﬁrms, from hightech start-ups to global industry leaders, to locate and
build their business in and from the UK. It facilitates
co-operation with and between the main UK regional
organisations engaged in inward investment promotion
through chairmanship of the International Business
Development Forum. It also carries out research on both
the hard and soft factors that in uence ﬁrms’ location
decisions.
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Inward Investment Cases and Effect on Jobs
2005–06

2006–07

2007–08

2008–09
(Provisional)

1,229

1,431

1,573

1,744

Number of new jobs created

34,127

36,526

45,051

35,111

Number of jobs safeguarded

55,892

41,831

58,458

43,429

449

496

549

600

Number of new jobs created

12,570

13,611

14,274

10,678

Number of jobs safeguarded

5,953

6,267

9,824

18,600

National ﬁgures*
Number of inward investment decisions

of which UKTI**
Number of inward investment decisions in which
UKTI was signiﬁcantly involved

* National ﬁgures: Companies are not required to notify UKTI of jobs created/safeguarded. The ﬁgures include only those projects where UKTI and its regional partners were
involved or which have come to their attention. UKTI and (R) DAs make every reasonable effort to report all eligible non-involved “successes”. A number of sources are used
such as local press, national & international online alerts/information subscriptions and (R) DAs’ sub-regional partners.
**UKTI ﬁgures: This information is based on details provided by companies at the time of their announcement to invest in the UK. The ﬁgures are based on the company’s
best estimate of jobs created/safeguarded by their investment in the ﬁrst four years. The ﬁgures take no account of subsequent developments.

Investor Development – “Aftercare”
3.5.8 UKTI manages the UK’s investor development
network by co-ordinating national policy for investor
development and facilitating the provision of a
professionally-delivered programme of investor support,
called the Investor Development (ID) (“Aftercare”)
programme.
3.5.9 UKTI continues to develop its relationship with
the ID teams in the RDAs and the DAs, providing a more
coherent investor service across the UK to existing
inward investors, to retain and add value to existing
inward investment in the UK.
3.5.10 This activity will have a higher proﬁle in 2009–10
as a result of the commitment in the Manufacturing
Strategy (launched in September 2008) and the
subsequent enhanced UKTI focus on ID.

3.5.12 UKTI’s investor advocacy service gives existing
investors a gateway into the UK Government, to guide
investors through the policy corridors throughout
Whitehall and to ensure that views of business are more
fully understood and therefore better re ected in UK
regulation and policy development.
3.5.13 In the past year, UKTI has been successful in
helping to in uence the development of businessfriendly UK planning policy, through the Killan Pretty
review of planning application process; the exemption
of intra-company transfers from the English language
requirements of the new Migration Points-Based System
and the successful resolution of VAT registration
problems impacting on new investors.
3.5.14 UKTI is working with the RDAs and the DAs to
help develop a better understanding of investment
drivers such as planning, transport infrastructure,
migration and skills availability.

3.5.11 In a highly competitive international market and
as we enter an economic downturn, ID is increasingly
important. In 2007–08, 70% of all new jobs from
inward investment were from existing investors.
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Four out of the world’s top ten
universities are based in the UK

Global Entrepreneurs Programme
3.5.15 The UKTI’s Global Entrepreneurs Programme
(GEP) is helping the world’s best early-stage technologybased entrepreneurs accelerate to global success from a
UK hub. The GEP attracts clients – both individuals and
early stage technology companies – with:
s INTELLECTUAL PROPERTY OF EXCEPTIONAL COMMERCIAL
potential, for which the UK would be the ideal
location to realise the potential by establishing the
company’s global hub here,
s EXCEPTIONAL ENTREPRENEURIAL MANAGEMENT SKILLS TO ACT
as mentors/non-executives and in other capacities
for clients and UK start-ups, and
s HIGH NET WORTHS AND INSTITUTIONS TO ACTIVELY INVEST IN
GEP clients and UK start-ups.
3.5.16 The GEP targets key knowledge-based sectors
using a network of “Dealmakers”, who are highly
successful entrepreneurs, and who are able to leverage
their expertise, networks and reputation to help global
entrepreneurs who choose to relocate to the UK as part
of their international growth strategy. The Dealmakers
are based in the US, Australia, India, Canada, Israel and
the UK. During 2008–09 the GEP helped 29 early stage
technology companies move their global HQs to the UK
from a range of sectors including ICT, life science,
environmental and renewable energy. By focusing on
strategic advice and providing business and ﬁnancial
contacts, the Dealmakers ﬁll an important role, the focus
of which is on networking and advice, rather than
ﬁnancial assistance or support.
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When Dealmaker Toby Wilson Waterworth came across
the revolutionary vaccine technology of Immune
Targeting Systems (ITS) he acted fast, opening the door
to one of the world’s leading healthcare investors in the
US – and helping the ﬁrm secure funding of £3.5m.
“What I’m doing is matching world-class science with
global entrepreneurs and investors to create world-class
opportunities and ﬁnd the components to make the
project work.”
Toby Wilson Waterworth, Dealmaker for UKTI’s Global
Entrepreneurs Programme

R&D Programme
3.5.17 The R&D Programme was announced as part of
UKTI’s Strategy, “Prosperity in a Changing World”, and
is dedicated to raising levels of overseas investment in
R&D in the UK through business internationalisation.
The Programme has three segments:
(i) Inward R&D
3.5.18 The inward component of the Programme
deploys virtual teams to target selected overseas-owned
R&D intense companies to persuade them to undertake
R&D in the UK.
3.5.19 The Virtual Team comprises members who can
contribute to this objective – from UKTI, BERR, RDAs,
DAs and from DIUS’s Science and Innovation Network
and from Research Councils. They also include members
of the Programme’s team of specialists who can discuss
R&D issues credibly with companies and potential UK
partners – universities, companies and other research
institutions. 106 companies are currently targeted.

Turner Broadcasting
The two-day pioneering New Media Business
Exchange event took place in London in September
2008. Sponsored by Turner Broadcasting’s Platform
R&D division, it brought together 60 US and UK-based
senior executives from Turner as well as from other
divisions of Time Warner such as Warner Bros, HBO,
AOL and IPC, with 15 winning UK technologies from a
national competition organised by R&D specialist
Sarah Turner. These winners included academic
researchers, early-stage companies and more
established ﬁrms with new media-related products or
prototypes.

The Soft Landing Zones (SLZ) Programme managed
by Coventry University Enterprises (CUE) supports
UK R&D intensive companies to develop
collaborative R&D projects with overseas partners...

The event has also already resulted, thus far, in four
R&D investments by Turner Broadcasting in the UK,
two of which were in UK ﬁrms. The ﬁrst is in a
company developing text-to-speech technology, which
caught the eye of CNN; the other is in an early-stage
venture developing software to convert 2D into 3D
stereoscopic.

Dave Keene, Managing Director said: “The
CUE-led Soft Landing Zone has made a real difference
to our company, through a direct introduction to
Microsoft and help sourcing key technology partners
overseas.”

(ii) Outward R&D
3.5.20 This part of the Programme provides trade
development assistance to innovative UK-based
companies in the expectation that this will increase their
levels of R&D.

RDM Automotive Ltd, West Midlands developed
a new vehicle Telematics system designed for low
carbon vehicles. The SLZ team have supported
RDM Automotive in providing them with advice
and guidance on undertaking overseas R&D
collaborations and RDM have invested over
£50,000 on direct R&D with SLZ support over
the past six months.

3.5.22 Having invested additional resources into their
R&D operation, RDM are now hoping to launch
into product development during 2009. RDM are
potentially planning to form a new company to
market these products and this new company is
hoping to exploit the R&D undertaken to date
and actually creating new forms of vehicle tracking
technology.

3.5.21 This can entail helping companies to understand
how they have to adapt high technology products to
suit an overseas market or assistance with IP issues.
During 2008–09 the outward part of the Programme
supported activities which resulted in 104 Signiﬁcant
Assists and over 400 Service Deliverers.
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(iii) Global Partnerships Programme
This aspect of the Programme introduces leading edge
overseas-based technology companies to potential UK
business or university partners. During 2008–09, UKTI
helped set up 32 partnerships, notably in life sciences,
ICT, electronics, energy and environmental technologies.

Spanish company Prometeo developed iMove, a new
IT platform for drivers and passengers that combines
multimedia (music, video, internet, TV, radio),
information (GPS, real-time trafﬁc reports, weather
forecasts) and security (control by voice, emergency
call, vehicle location) all in one unit. They chose
Warwickshire-based automotive IT specialists Iris
Global from the list of potential partners put forward
in their bespoke UKTI Global Partnerships Programme
report. Iris Global considered that it might not ﬁnd a
ready market for iMove in the UK, but Prometeo was
very interested in Iris Global’s integrated pay-as-yougo car insurance product. In a twist on the expected
outcome of the GPP report, Iris Global ﬁnd a new
market in Spain, and Prometeo add innovative new
products to their own roster and enjoy an income
stream as resellers.
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FACT
£323M RESOURCE
DELIVERED BY 2,400
PEOPLE ACHIEVING
£3.6 BILLION
ADDITIONAL PROFIT
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PERFORMANCE,
AND TARGETS

£10m
additional resource announced
in 2009 Budget for showcasing
UK business strengths at home
and abroad

4.1

INTRODUCTION

4.1.1 THIS CHAPTER SETS OUT
UKTI’S PERFORMANCE AGAINST ITS
2007 COMPREHENSIVE SPENDING
REVIEW (CSR2007) SETTLEMENT
AND THE SUBSEQUENT TARGETS.
THIS CSR2007 SETTLEMENT
REQUIRES UKTI TO PRIORITISE AND
DELIVER THE OUTCOMES OF OUR
HIGH LEVEL TARGETS WHILE AT THE
SAME TIME DELIVERING REAL
EFFICIENCY SAVINGS OF 2.6%. IT
COVERS THE PERIOD 2008-09 TO
2010–11. UKTI’S DEPARTMENTAL
STRATEGIC OBJECTIVE (DSO) IS:
“By 2011, deliver measurable improvement in the business
performance of UKTI’s international trade customers, with
an emphasis on innovative and R&D active ﬁrms; increase
the contribution of FDI to knowledge intensive economic
activity in the UK, including R&D; and deliver a
measurable improvement in the reputation of the UK in
leading overseas markets as the international business
partner of choice.”
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4.2

CSR2007 FUNDING (2008–09 TO 2010–11)

4.2.1 As a joint department of the FCO and BERR, UKTI
has three separate different funding streams. These are:
s "%22 !DMINISTRATION n PRIMARILY FOR COSTS OF
directly employed UK staff together with related
costs, ie accommodation and IT,
s &#/ 2ESOURCE n PRIMARILY FOR THE COST OF
overseas staff together with their related costs,
ie accommodation, IT, security, etc, and
s 5+4) 0ROGRAMME n DIRECT SUPPORT FOR BUSINESSES
ie Grants, Passport to Export, marketing, etc.
4.2.2 Since agreeing the CSR2007 in October 2007,
there have been a number of changes to UKTI resource.
s &ROM  !PRIL  THE RESPONSIBILITY FOR DEFENCE
export promotions moved from the MoD to UKTI to
provide greater integration with the Government’s
general support activities, which resulted in a £19.4m
2008–09 baseline transfer from the MoD to UKTI
Programme (£2.2m), BERR Administration (£15.2m)
and FCO resource (£2.1m).
s 4HE &#/ REVISED THE ESTIMATED RESOURCE ATTRIBUTED TO
UKTI (see Memorandum Notes 1–5 on pages 113–
117), which increased the total resource from an
estimated £171.6m to £176.7m.
s )N ADDITION TO THIS A FURTHER aM RESOURCE aM
each year for 2009–10 and 2010–11) was announced
in the April 2009 Budget for showcasing UK business
strengths to overseas markets and customers at high
proﬁle events in the UK and overseas.
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4.2.3 The table below shows a summary of the total
resource in support of UKTI’s activities over the CSR
2007 period.

UKTI Programme

2008–09 2009–10 2010–11
£m
£m
£m
Outturn Estimate Estimate
90.8
96.4
96.3

BERR Admin (including
estimated overheads)

55.7

56.1

55.5

FCO Resource (including
estimated overheads)

176.7

176.7

176.7

Total

323.2

329.2

328.5

4.3

DELIVERY TARGETS

4.3.1 The performance framework agreed in the
CSR2007 set ﬁve targets covering trade support, inward
investment and operational performance. These are
reproduced below, together with the performance
targets for 2008–09.
Target 1: Attract high value foreign direct investment
to the UK.
4.3.2 Annually, over the 2008–11 spending review
period, to achieve at least 525 involved inward
investment project successes, of which: (a) at least 125
should be high value; (b) at least 285 should be good
quality; and (c) at least 70% should agree that UKTI or
its RDA delivery partner had signiﬁcant favourable
in uence on the decision to locate or expand in the UK,
or on the scale or scope of the project. At least 30 of the
good quality or high value projects should involve
additional R&D activity in the UK. The proﬁle of the
remaining involved successes will be determined by RDA
regional priorities.
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Target 2: Improve the performance of UK businesses
by helping them internationalise.
4.3.3 Annually, over the 2008–11 spending review
period, to help at least 20,000 businesses to exploit
overseas business opportunities, of which (a) at least
12,000 should be innovative; and (b) at least 50% of all
business groups, including the sub-group of businesses
helped to enter high growth markets, should improve
their business performance as a result of UKTI support.
Target 3: Increase the quantity of R&D activity in the
UK through business internationalisation.
4.3.4 Annually, over the 2008–2011 spending review
period, at least 1,000 businesses increase their R&D
activity in the UK as a result of UKTI support, including
at least 70 FDI R&D projects.
Target 4: Improve the UK’s reputation as the
international business partner of choice.
4.3.5 To achieve a measurable improvement over three
years in the reputation of the UK’s business strengths, in
particular in a deﬁned set of sectors and in a set of
named markets.
4.4

OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE TARGETS

Target 5: Improve UKTI’s operational performance.
4.4.1 Increase professionalism
To achieve 80% Quality Ratings and 80% Satisfaction
Ratings across both trade and inward investment services.
4.4.2 Increase charging
To increase UKTI’s revenue from charging to £2m in
FY 2007–08, to £4m per annum by the end of the
CSR2007 period (FY 2010–11).

4.5

UKTI’S ACHIEVEMENT AGAINST TARGETS

4.5.1 CSR2007 sets performance targets to ensure
progress towards our objectives and these are
summarised in the following table which shows the
progress UKTI has made this year.

4.5.2 UKTI has exceeded the CSR2007 targets for
the ﬁrst three targets and maintained performance
against our reputational targets.

Target

Achieved
2008–091

Performance
trend2

600

h

1. Maximising Foreign Direct Investment

525 inward investment project successes of which:
s  HIGH VALUE

262

h

s  GOOD QUALITY

244

h

74%

n

47

n

20,000 businesses assisted of which:

20,700

h

12,000 innovative

17,300

h

51%

h

1,860

h

67

n

No change

n

s  AGREE 5+4) ARE A SIGNIlCANT FAVOURABLE INmUENCE
s !T LEAST  OF THE GOOD QUALITY PROJECTS INVOLVE ADDITIONAL 2$ ACTIVITY
2. Improve UK business performance

50% of all assisted businesses improve performance
3. Increase R&D activity

1,000 businesses supported increase R&D activity as a result
At least 70 FDI R&D projects
4. UK’s reputation as the international business partner of choice

Measurable improvement over three years in deﬁned sectors and named markets
5. Professionalism

a) 80% Quality rating
80% Satisfaction rating
b) £2.5m revenue from Charging
1 The achieved column sets out the latest available provisional ﬁgures for delivery of
the performance framework.
2 The performance trend is an upward arrow if there is a material improvement, level
arrows if there is no material change and a downward arrow if there is a material
reduction against the previous year.

Annex B to this report provides a Technical note
on deﬁnitions and the measurement of these high
level targets.
4.5.3 The ﬁrst annual survey measuring UK’s
reputation as the international business partner of
choice (target 4) has been completed and, as expected,
it shows no progress against the benchmarking survey.
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76%

n

75%

n

£4.57m

h

However, the ﬁnal progress report will only be fully
assessed in the ﬁnal year of the survey as it will take
time for UK reputation to be affected. Professionalism
(target 5a) is below target and shows that UKTI must
improve the quality and relevance of our services. This
has stayed steady throughout the year. Using customer
feedback from UKTI’s Performance and Impact
Monitoring Survey (PIMS) UKTI are promoting best
practice. This includes making it the theme of the UKTI
Leadership learning event in June 2009: providing more
training and guidance, with the aim of improving the
quality of the UKTI service to our customers.
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4.6

QUALITY OF DATA SYSTEMS USED

UKTI Programme

4.6.1 Raw data is obtained from UKTI’s Customer
Relationship Management system, and forwarded to an
independent market research company. From this data a
large sample (approximately 4,000 companies) is
randomly selected for interview through the UKTI’s
PIMS10, which is an independent central monitoring
survey of the users of UKTI’s business services (Targets
1, 2, 3 and 5a).

4.7.3 UKTI CSR2007 settlement provides the same net
programme resource for each year of the three-year of
the period. This “ at cash” means UKTI needs to live
within in ationary pressures to meet the target.
These funds are voted directly by Parliament. UKTI’s
Chief Executive is the Accounting Ofﬁcer for this
funding stream.
FCO Admin and Overseas Front-line Delivery

The UK Reputation Measurement Survey will measure
the change in UK reputation11 (Target 4) and will be
carried out by an independent market research
company.
The Revenue ﬁgures (Target 5b), are obtained from
UKTI’s ﬁnancial system, these are audited yearly by the
NAO. All UKTI data is considered robust.
For further information on the key sources of UKTI data,
see Annex C of this report.
4.7 DELIVERING VALUE FOR MONEY – UKTI’S
EFFICIENCY PROGRAMME

4.7.4 UKTI has agreed to at cash its direct
expenditure of £83.2m to release £4.4m of VFM saving
over the CSR period. The FCO’s Accounting Ofﬁcer is
accountable for the deployment of these resources.
BERR Administration
4.7.5 UKTI has agreed to a BERR administration
settlement that requires savings of 5% real cost
reductions per annum over the period. BERR’s
Accounting Ofﬁcer is accountable for these resources,
but they are ring-fenced and within UKTI’s control.
Key Value for Money Delivery Risks

4.7.1 The Value For Money (VFM) target for UKTI over
the CSR2007 period is illustrated in the table below with
the relevant baseline ﬁgures.
Funding
stream

UKTI
programme

FCO admin
and overseas
delivery

BERR
admin

Baseline

£91.5m*

£169.5m*

£53.3m*

VFM target

£0.3m

£4.4m

£2.4m

*The ﬁgures above include estimated BERR and FCO overheads. They also include
the DESO transfer, effective from 1 April 2008.

4.7.2 VFM savings have been integrated into the
CSR2007 settlement and delivering them is a core part
of UKTI’s mainstream business. UKTI has achieved VFM
savings of £2.6m up to the end of 31 March 2009 and
we are on target to deliver the VFM targets set for the
CSR2007 period.

10 UKTI’s PIMS can be accessed via UKTI’s website: www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk
11 Details of the benchmarking survey can be found at:
www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk/ukti/ShowDoc/BEA+Repository/345/419278
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4.7.6 As an organisation that delivers much of its
business overseas, the combination of the low value
of sterling and high overseas in ation is a continuing
issue for UKTI, and one set to remain as a constant risk
over the CSR2007 period. The ability to manage this
risk, without cutting activity and while maintaining and
improving output and outcomes is a signiﬁcant
delivery issue.
4.7.7 Within our developed markets, such as Europe
and North America, the potential adverse effect of
restructuring costs remains high and is intrinsically
linked to the value of sterling and the cost of living.
This will need to be managed effectively to deliver
our targets.
4.7.8 As an organisation we also need to be able to
react to key policy decisions and ensure that our
resources are vired to high priority markets and high
priority policy areas. In a tight resource environment,
the achievement of this remains a key risk.

Initiatives to Deliver Efﬁciency Savings
4.7.9 The following table summarises the main
initiatives through which UKTI will deliver its
efﬁciency savings.
Main initiatives for achieving CSR2007 efﬁciency savings period
Funding stream

Initiative

UKTI programme

Better procurement, ensuring economy, effectiveness and efﬁciency through the following
programmes:
s (ARNESSING FRAMEWORK AGREEMENTS 5+4) CURRENTLY HAS  FRAMEWORK CONTRACTS IN PLACE
covering services such as publicity and marketing, design and print, and accountancy services.
s 2EPRIORITISATION OF 0ROGRAMMES PRODUCING POSSIBLE ALLOCATIVE EFlCIENCIES AND TO ENSURE 5+4)
resources are best placed.
s 5+4) IS ALSO IN THE PROCESS OF REALIGNING INWARD INVESTMENT RESOURCES TO SHIFT FUNDING AND
posts towards the most productive markets.
s 0RIORITISING OF THE &ISCAL #OMPASS 0ROGRAMME OVER THE (IGH 'ROWTH -ARKETS 0ILOT 0ROGRAMME

FCO admin and overseas
front-line delivery

Driving network efﬁciencies through the following programmes:
s ,OCALISATION OF 5+ BASED SLOTS OVERSEAS TO DRIVE DOWN THE COST OF FRONT LINE OPERATIONS AND
harness local expertise.
s (UB AND SPOKE OPERATIONS TO RATIONALISE HOW WE DELIVER OUR SERVICES ,EAD 0OSTS WORK WITH
Satellite Posts to deliver more exible and efﬁcient customer support.
s -ORE EFFECTIVE AND EFlCIENT USE OF 5+4) RING FENCED BUDGETS THROUGH MONTHLY REVIEWS
more challenging targets based on at-lined resources.

BERR admin

Improved staff capabilities and professionalism, and reﬁning business processes through the
following programmes:
s )MPLEMENTATION OF THE #HARTERED )NSTITUTE OF 0UBLIC &INANCE AND !CCOUNTANCY #)0&!
Financial Management Model and the Audit Agency Value for Money indicators to generate a
single improvement plan. This will also help to inform the degree of progress in modernising
and professionalising ﬁnance functions.
s !LL CORPORATE SERVICE FUNCTIONS ARE BEING ASKED TO BENCHMARK THEIR RESPECTIVE FUNCTIONS
s $ELIVERING ESTATEACCOMMODATION EFlCIENCIES THROUGH THE TRANSFER OF DEFENCE EXPORTS
promotion support personnel.
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The Beneﬁts of Regional Operations: Team Nordic
The Nordic Regional operation, ‘Team Nordic’, was
launched in Copenhagen on 9 June 2008, and was the
ﬁrst operation of its kind to be introduced by UKTI. It
rationalised how UKTI delivers its services, with 45
Full Time Equivalent staff working across the region to
deliver more exible and efﬁcient customer support.
Team Nordic represents a region of 25 million af uent
customers. By offering a cross Nordic OMIS
(chargeable service) UK companies have a choice of
looking at any combination of the ﬁve Nordic markets at
one time. The service has been welcomed with over
£36,000 Nordic OMIS sold in 2008–09. That represents
over 20% of the Nordic total and helped Team Nordic
achieve its chargeable service target three months
ahead of schedule.
The regional approach helps UKTI use fewer resources
to get the job done. UKTI Helsinki took ICT companies
from the Baltics, Finland, Sweden, Denmark and
Norway to the UK on an inward investment mission that
attracted interest from key regions of the South East,
London and East of England. A mission from just one
country would simply not have captured the interest.
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The Finnish and Swedish investment teams combined
to bring 15 clean-tech companies back to the UK. This
enabled UKTI to “sell” the event in London and produce
four “good quality” investments.
Concentrating the marketing lead in Denmark has freed
up resources in other posts for front-line activity. It has
also led to more professional and cohesive marketing
through sector-focused e-newsletters.
Regional training allows cost savings on travel and
subsistence to be recycled to front-line activities. It
also reinforces team working and the sharing of best
practice, bringing all posts up to the same high standard.
A regional focus means simpliﬁed business planning;
one plan with greater focus. And common policy
across all teams ensures consistency and enhanced
professionalism.
Shared data through internal systems, such as the
Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system,
allows posts to capitalise on company leads in
different markets.

4.7.10 To reinforce these initiatives, we have the
following internal controls in place:

Audit and Control of UKTI Value for Money
(VFM) Programme

s Corporate Reporting. To track delivery of these
targets, we monitor our performance using a
“Scorecard”. The Scorecard sets out key activities
from the DSO and Group Business Plans that
are regularly monitored and discussed by the
Executive Board.

4.7.13 All VFM programmes completed a systems audit
of their programme during the ﬁrst year of operation
(by end of Q4 2008) to assess compliance with the
approach and principles set out in the Her Majesty’s
Treasury (HMT) guidance.

s Financial Reporting. The Central Finance Team
report on a monthly basis to the Executive Team
across all budgets. Supporting narratives draw out
any pressures and discuss our ability to live within
the budgets voted to us.
Quality Measures
4.7.11 UKTI is committed to achieving efﬁciencies by
reducing input costs while delivering improved customer
services. Re-prioritising resources to where they are
most needed will ensure better quality outputs.
4.7.12 UKTI has a programme of external evaluation on
the quality of its services. PIMS provides quantitative
and qualitative measures of UKTI’s performance in
delivering its DSO target, including data on customer
satisfaction with service outputs and quality.
Monitoring by PIMS is used to base decisions on further
improving the quality of service delivery and achieve
further productivity gains, backed up by improved staff
capabilities and professionalism, and reﬁning
Headquarter (HQ) business processes.
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4.7.14 Internal Audit Department FCO undertook this
audit in Q3 2008–09, commenting that UKTI were
“proactive in… approach to the CSR20O7 VFM process
and are seen to be ahead of other Her Majesty’s
Government (HMG) departments”.
4.7.15 The FCO Efﬁciencies Programme team reviewed
the programme in Q4 2008–09, concluding that they
were satisﬁed that the claimed efﬁciencies comply with
HMT criteria, ie cashable, reported net of costs and
sustainable for the next two ﬁnancial years. They were
also satisﬁed that UKTI’s management information for
documenting savings to support claimed efﬁciencies
are comprehensive and robust enough to withstand
HMT, NAO and Foreign Affairs Committee scrutiny.
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4.8 THE NAO REPORT: “UK TRADE &
INVESTMENT: TRADE SUPPORT” (HC297, Session
2008–09, published 3 April 2009)11
4.8.1 The NAO scrutinises public spending on behalf
of Parliament. The NAO carried out a value for money
audit of UKTI’s delivery of trade support to UK
businesses and published a report of their ﬁndings
on 3 April 2009.
4.8.2 The report examined whether UKTI is successfully
delivering its trade support strategy. The report found
that UKTI is making good progress against its targets
and that it has re-focused its resources towards the
markets it believes offer greatest opportunity for
increasing trade. It also reported that UKTI has in place
a robust system for assessing delivery, backed up by
regular and systematic feedback on the quality of its
services, with some 70% of businesses surveyed
reporting a qualitative beneﬁt as a result of the
assistance received.
4.8.3 However, there are areas for improvement. The
report recommended that UKTI should:
s IMPROVE INFORMATION ON THE COST OF ITS SERVICES
s RAISE AWARENESS AMONG BUSINESSES THAT HAVE YET
to access its services,
s DEVELOP A CLEARER STRATEGIC VIEW OF WHERE IT WISHES
UK trade to be in the medium term in all target
markets, and
s COMMUNICATE A CLEARER UNDERSTANDING OF HOW ITS
services address barriers to trade and ﬁt in with the
services provided by others.

UKTI Response
4.8.4 UKTI is undertaking work to develop a
management information system that will enable greater
analysis of the cost of its services, thereby enabling
more appropriate cost recovery. At the same time, the
system will also enable managers to make better cost
beneﬁt analysis of services. This will allow UKTI to
target resources where they can achieve the greatest
impact, thereby securing better value for money for the
tax-payer. Steps taken in 2009 include improving the
costing model by collecting time spent on activities for
all 98 UKTI markets, rather than a sample of 20 as in
2008. This will increase the accuracy of the costing
model. From 2010, UKTI plans to implement an e-based
costing solution to coincide with the completion of the
roll-out with the FCO’s new overseas IT platform, F3G.
4.8.5 UKTI has already put into practice initiatives
including the launch of new marketing material “Take It
To The World” which helped publicise the beneﬁts of
exporting along with the assistance UKTI has to offer
existing and potential exporters. A programme of
regional events is currently planned for 2009–10 to
further increase awareness of the beneﬁts of exporting
and of the help available from UKTI.
4.8.6 UKTI is currently developing a consolidated UKTI
public-facing website via the Public Web Presence
(PWP) project. This will deliver a single trade,
investment and UKTI DSO website providing a joinedup online front to our global audience. The PWP will
build on existing knowledge and research and will be
of signiﬁcant beneﬁt to all customers by providing a
single point of access for all their UKTI needs and
service information. The PWP is planned to go live in
Spring 2010.
4.8.7 UKTI is working to ensure information relating to
market access barriers and how they plan to overcome
them in key markets is set out more explicitly for each of
the key markets. We aim to complete this during 2009.

11 This report can be found on the NAO website at www.nao.org.uk.
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A BUSINESS-LED
BOARD

60 CHAPTER
CHAPTER
FIVE:
XXXXX:
ORGANISATIONAL
UK TRADE & INVESTMENT’S
STRUCTURE
STRATEGY, SERVICES AND OPERATIONS

UÊ ËÊ ÎÓÎ\Ê1/ÊÓäänqäÊLÕ`}iÌÊ
UÊ ÊÓ]{ääÊÃÌ>vv\Ê
–1,300 overseas in 98 markets
–700 in the nine English regions
–400 HQ posts
of which 90% are front line delivery posts

5.1

UK TRADE & INVESTMENT BOARD

5.1.1 THIS CHAPTER SETS OUT HOW
UKTI IS ORGANISED IN ORDER TO
DELIVER SUPPORT FOR BUSINESS.
5.1.2 This section sets out the membership, role
and structure of UKTI’s Executive Board as at
31 March 2009. The role of the UKTI Executive Board
is to provide strategic and operational leadership in
UKTI. The Board is led by the Acting Chief Executive
and comprises of six Executive Directors and four
Non-Executive Board Members. Sir Andrew Cahn
resumed as Chief Executive on 11 May 2009, after a
brief period as acting Permanent Secretary for BERR.
Chair
Digby, Lord Jones of Birmingham
(from 29 June 2007 to 3 October 2008)
Sir Andrew Cahn KCMG
(from 3 October 2008 to Friday 27 March 2009 and
from 11 May 2009 to present)
Dominic Jermey OBE
Acting Chief Executive (from 28 March 2009 to
10 May 2009)

Non-Executive Board Members
Peter Hill CBE (until 31 March 2009)
Chief Executive, Laird PLC,
Non-Executive Director of the
aerospace and defence group
Meggitt plc. Previously held senior
management positions with BTR plc
and Invensys plc.
Claire Ighodaro CBE
Chair of UKTI, Lloyd’s of London, the
Banking Code Standards Board (BCSB)
and the Open University Audit
Committees. Non-Executive Director
of Lloyd’s of London and the Banking
Code Standards Board (BCSB), a
Member of BERR Operating
Committee, Council Member of the
Open University, the National Learning and Skills
Council (LSC), and Trustee of the British Council and
Shell Nigeria Pension Fund. Previously Executive at BT
PLC and President of CIMA.
Barry Stickings CBE
Chairman of BioCity Nottingham Ltd,
Promethean Particles Ltd and East
Midlands Innovation, the regional
science and industry council.
Director, Vitalize Health Products Ltd.
Trustee, Industry and Parliament
Trust. Vice President, German-British
Chamber of Commerce and Industry. Until 2005
was Chairman of BASF plc.
Tim Robinson
Chief Executive of Xaﬁnity,
Independent Non-Executive Director
of Camelot and a Member of the
Association and on Audit Committee
of Oxfam. Was joint-Chairman of the
European Commission Security
Research Advisory Board in 2005,
Director of the Executive Board of Thales, Paris (2001–
2006), Non-Executive Director of Nasdaq-listed Nice
Systems (2002–2006) and previously Director of IBM
UK. Fellow of the RSA and a Freeman of the Worshipful
Company of Information Technologists.
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Executive Members
Susan Haird CB Deputy Chief Executive
Dominic Jermey OBE Managing Director, Sectors Group
(until 27 March 2009 and from 11 May 2009 to present)
Danny Lopez Managing Director Marketing Group
Brian Shaw Managing Director Business Group
Curtis Juman Director of Finance & IT
Richard Paniguian CBE Head of UKTI DSO
(from 11 August 2008)
Michael Ward Acting Managing Director, Sectors Group
(from 28 March 2009 to 10 May 2009)
Sir Alan Colins, KCVO, CMG whilst not a member of the
Executive Team, attends the UKTI Board as the Overseas
Posts representitive, in his capacity as Consul-General,
New York and Director General for UKTI in the US.
5.2

UKTI’S ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE

5.2.1 UKTI’s Strategy, “Prosperity in a Changing
World”, gives UKTI an enhanced role across both
trade development and inward investment, for leading
and joining up the marketing of the UK economy
internationally, as a place to do business in and with.
It commits the organisation to working in partnership
across Government and with business to deliver
maximum value, and focuses UKTI resources on the
customers and markets with the greatest potential,
where its services add the most value. UKTI’s
organisational structure has continued to evolve
throughout the year, to re ect the changes needed to
deliver the Strategy’s priorities.
5.2.2 UKTI is organised into separate groups, each
focusing on speciﬁc areas, but working together
in order to deliver UKTI’s objectives and strategy.
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The core business delivery Groups during
2008–09 were:
s
s
s
s
s

"USINESS 'ROUP "'
3ECTORS 'ROUP 3'
5+4) $EFENCE  3ECURITY /RGANISATION 5+4) $3/
)NTERNATIONAL 'ROUP )'
-ARKETING 'ROUP -'

They were supported by:
s )4  &INANCE 'ROUP )4&'
s %CONOMICS  %VALUATION 4EAM %%4
s 3TRATEGY  (UMAN 2ESOURCES 'ROUP 3(2'
Each of the delivery Groups have delivery targets and
are held accountable for performance.

UKTI Minister and Executive Team
Lord Davies of Abersoch
Minister for Trade,
Investment and Business

Sir Andrew Cahn KCMG
Chief Executive

Susan Haird CB
Deputy Chief Executive
International Group,
Strategy & Human
Resources Group,
Economic and
Evaluation Team,
and the Olympics

Dominic Jermey OBE
Managing Director,
Sectors Group
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Brian Shaw
Managing Director,
Business Group

Richard Paniguian CBE
Head of UKTI Defence
& Security Organisation

Danny Lopez
Managing Director,
Marketing Group

Curtis Juman
Director of Finance
& IT
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5.3

UKTI HQ GROUPS

Business Group (BG)
5.3.1 Business Group promotes the beneﬁts of
investing in, doing business with, and growing business
globally from the UK in ways that beneﬁt the UK
economy. The Group’s key roles include developing and
nurturing relationships with individual companies,
ensuring that they know how UKTI can support them.

The Group plays a key role in the delivery of UKTI’s
targets by providing marketing expertise and
professional support to the rest of the organisation,
contributing directly to the top level targets. Specialist
teams cover each channel of the marketing
communication mix: research, press and public relations,
advertising and sponsorship, branding and identity,
publications and content, design, copywriting and
printing, exhibitions and events, and online services
covering the trade portal, inward investment and
Defence and Security web-based operations.

Sectors Group (SG)
IT & Finance Group (ITFG)
5.3.2 Sectors Group helps UK companies
internationalise and improves the reputation of the UK
in key sectors in target markets. It is targeted with
assisting 11,000 individual companies each year.
UKTI Defence & Security Organisation (UKTI DSO)
5.3.3 UKTI DSO helps the UK defence and security
sectors succeed internationally. With the continued
support of the MoD, UKTI DSO delivers the essential
government-to-government dimension to company-led
marketing campaigns in pursuit of maintaining the UK’s
strong position in the global defence export market.
International Group (IG)
5.3.4 International Group manages UKTI’s extensive
overseas network and co-ordinates action on the
development and implementation of new strategies and
structures in posts overseas to take account of changes
and new priorities in the business environment. IG
delivers its targets in partnership with the overseas
network. IG is also the main UKTI brieﬁng, visits and
geographical policy co-ordinator with FCO and
other parts of Whitehall.
Marketing Group (MG)
5.3.5 The role of the Marketing Group is to both
empower and inspire our sales force and to promote the
UK as the best place in which and with which to do
business, as well as to drive UKTI’s global reputation.
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5.3.6 The IT Team provide our ICT and information
management infrastructure. This includes signiﬁcant
business output related systems: Web hosting, CRM
and OMIS. The Finance Team contributes to
the top-level targets by securing and allocating the
resources UKTI needs to achieve the successful delivery
of our objectives.
Economics and Evaluation Team (EET)
5.3.7 The Economics and Evaluation Team provides the
economic evidence and analysis which underpin the
economic rationale for UKTI policy, and which are used
to inform UKTI strategic planning, resource allocation
and performance management.
Strategy and Human Resources Group (SHRG)
5.3.8 Strategy and Human Resources Group provides
strategic direction, performance management and
reputation management for UKTI, working closely with
the Executive Team and Executive Board and in
partnership with other Groups. It delivers the
organisation’s Human Resources, Internal
Communications and Board Secretariat functions and it
leads on the delivery of change across UKTI.

5.4

THE ORGANISATION OF UKTI (PEOPLE)

5.4.1 UKTI is not an employer in its own right. For the
majority of its human resource requirements it draws
on civil service staff employed by one or other of its
two parent departments. In the UK most of its staff
are drawn from BERR while overseas most of its staff
are from the FCO. UKTI also draws on its parent
departments for some business support functions
including certain aspects of HR and related IT
support systems.
UKTI – the organisation by numbers…
UÊ Ó]{ääÊ«i«i]ÊvÊÜ ]
– 1,300 overseas
– 700 HQ posts, (approximately 655 in London, 40 in
Glasgow and 5 in Cambridge),
– 400 staff in the nine English regions.
of which 90% are in front line delivery posts.

FCO – staff were working in posts in 98 markets that are
the highest priority in terms of the UK’s economic
interests. Some 680 people, mostly BERR staff, were
based mainly in London and Glasgow. These include
operational, customer-facing staff as well as those in
corporate support functions. Some 370 people were
based in the English regions. These are mainly ITAs,
either Government Ofﬁce (GO) staff or people with
business experience who are under contract to deliver
UKTI services. These are supported by some 45 people
based in small teams within the nine English regions.
5.4.5 UKTI operates an interchange programme
seconding in private sector business specialists in key
areas such as sector teams (ﬁnancial services, oil and
gas, IT and sciences & technology). During 2008–09
UKTI seconded in 21 such individuals. UKTI also
seconds out public sector staff to develop a deeper
understanding of UK business. During 2008–09 20
UKTI people were seconded out to business.
Working with our People

5.4.2 UKTI focuses the work of its people, both in the
UK and overseas, on delivering the organisation’s
Strategy and targets. As a result of the restructuring in
2006, and smaller restructures since, signiﬁcantly more
of UKTI’s staff resources are being targeted at the front
line who are in direct contact with business customers.
5.4.3 From April 2008, as a result of a Machinery of
Government change, UKTI took over responsibility for
defence export support from the MoD. This means, with
the setting up of the UKTI DSO, around 240 posts
transferred to UKTI. As UKTI is not an employer in its
own right, of the 240 posts, approximately 200
transferred to BERR and 40 to the FCO overseas. The
200 posts that transferred to BERR were ﬁlled by a mix
of approximately 100 staff who transferred permanently
to BERR, and approximately 100 military and nonmilitary staff on loan from MoD. The remaining 40 or so
posts overseas were transferred to the FCO and were
ﬁlled by staff on loan to the FCO and locally engaged
by them.

5.4.6 The aim of UKTI’s people policies and practices
is to support the people working for us to enable them
to deliver the business objectives and targets. They also
need to support organisational change wherever it may
be required. We work to ensure that these policies,
practices and guidelines are implemented effectively
and professionally.

“We want to get the right people with the right
skills into the right posts when we need them. While
they are with us we want them to deliver the
strategy professionally and effectively and to
develop their skills and capability within an
inclusive culture based on excellent leadership and
best management practice. This requires clear roles
and objectives, cascading targets down to team
and individual level, so that accountability is clear.”
Edward Bell, UKTI Director of Strategy and
Human Resources

5.4.4 At April 2009 just under 2,400 people12 were
working for UKTI. Of the 2,400, some 1,300 – mainly
12 Expressed in terms of full-time equivalents (inclusive DESO staff transfer).
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5.4.7 There are several strands to achieving this.
We work closely with the FCO and BERR to ensure that
the people, policies, practices and guidance of both
departments work smoothly within UKTI. This includes
ensuring that UKTI staff understand and make the most
effective use of established organisational policies and
procedures to:
s RECRUIT THE RIGHT PEOPLE
s MANAGE THE PERFORMANCE OF INDIVIDUALS AND TEAMS
in order to maximise both their potential and their
contribution to the business,
s ENSURE THAT THEY HAVE THE OPPORTUNITY TO DEVELOP
their skills and capability and to acquire new ones
as appropriate,
s DEVELOP LEADERSHIP CAPABILITY
s PURSUE THEIR CAREER DEVELOPMENT
s SUPPORT AND DEVELOP AN INCLUSIVE CULTURE WHICH
values the contribution of all its people,
s ENSURE THE RIGHT ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE AND
s FACILITATE THE SEAMLESS MOVEMENT OF STAFF INTO AND
out of UKTI posts.

Investors in People (IiP)
In October 2008 UKTI’s accreditation as an IiP
worldwide was reviewed successfully against the
demanding IiP Proﬁle. This was an excellent outcome
with particular strengths noted in the areas of business
planning, equality of opportunity and decision-making.

Communications within UKTI
5.4.9 UKTI has a communications strategy in place to
inform and engage its staff across the network on key
strategic, corporate and operational issues and uses a
range of channels, from a dedicated staff website and
electronic bulletins to regular tele-conferences.
Professional Development Strategy

Excellent Leadership and Management

5.4.10 The UKTI Strategy included a commitment to
ensuring that its people are best placed to meet the
needs of its clients, through recruitment, learning
and development.

5.4.8 During 2009 we will be developing and
communicating best practice guidelines on the UKTI
approach to most of the points above. This will provide
managers across the network with an easy reference
point to what UKTI regards as best practice on a range
of issues and procedures directly affecting their people,
and how UKTI managers should approach these. This will
build on the recent successful re-accreditation of UKTI
(globally) under Investors in People (IiP). IiP is one of the
most important ways that UKTI measures how well it is
doing in applying best practice in the management and
development of its staff. We will continue to work on
those things we are doing well in and will work even
harder in those areas where further improvement is
required, such as learning and development.

5.4.11 Our overall objective has been to support a
step change in UKTI’s culture towards a more clientfocused, marketing-led, performance-driven
organisation. During 2008, the organisation launched
a new corporate learning and development programme
across the networks. This supports the Professional
Skills for Government Framework and is designed to
give our staff the skills needed to deliver excellent
services to customers. These opportunities have been
developed to improve customer focus across key
groups of people working in trade development and
inward investment roles. A very successful Developing
Client Relationship Skills programme has been
delivered in nearly 40 markets to almost 600 people
in overseas markets.
5.4.12 UKTI’s Postgraduate Diploma Programme in
Management, Trade & Investment, delivered in
partnership with the Open University Business School
(OUBS), has attracted over 80 successful participants
since its inception in 2004. UKTI’s pass rate has
consistently exceeded the OUBS national average for
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In October 2008 UKTI’s worldwide
IiP accreditation was reviewed
successfully against the
demanding new IiP Proﬁle

postgraduate management diploma students. Our study
programme was increased to provide opportunities for
our people to strengthen their knowledge of business in
an international and economic context, through a series
of modules which cover globalisation and the importance
of regionalisation and emerging markets. Since its
launch, over 70 modules have been completed: this
represents 20 people who have worked through the one
or two modules and ten who have completed all three.
We also launched a new programme in partnership
with the OU that provides opportunities for continuous
professional development through further education.
From April 2008 to March 2009, UKTI’s Professional
Development Unit
UÊÊ>>}i`Ê>`Ê`iÛiÀi`Ê>ÀÕ`ÊÓÈäÊVÕÀÃiÃÊvÀÊÛiÀÊ
2,380 delegates,
UÊÊii`L>VÊÃ Üi`ÊÌ >ÌÊÀiÊÌ >Êx¯ÊvÊÃÌ>vvÊÜiÀiÊ
either “very satisﬁed” or “mostly satisﬁed” with the
training they received, and
UÊ"ÛiÀÊÓÇxÊÃÌ>vvÊÕÃi`ÊÌ iÊiÊii>À}Ê«À}À>i°Ê
5.4.13 In April 2008 we began delivery of a
programme to increase the customer focus of the
relationship managers for the FTSE 100 programme.
This programme concentrated on understanding
strategy and communication with this key group
of stakeholders. We have now delivered the programme
to nearly 40 senior managers in UKTI.

5.4.16 UKTI does not discriminate against staff or
eligible applicants for posts on the grounds of gender,
marital status, race, colour, nationality, ethnic origin,
religion, disability, age or sexual orientation. Every
possible step is taken to ensure that staff are treated
equally and fairly and that decisions on recruitment,
selection, training, promotion and career management
are based on objective and job related criteria. UKTI
actively pursues arrangements for exible working
patterns and is committed to creating a culture where
individual differences are valued and respected. It does
not tolerate any form of discrimination, harassment or
victimisation. It is committed to providing a working
environment where no-one is disadvantaged.
5.4.17 UKTI seeks to ensure that its policies, practices
and procedures – in terms of staff and customers – are
compliant with current legislation as it develops and to
follow best practice. We are currently commissioning
external validation of our approach.
5.4.18 With staff in London, Glasgow, the English
regions and more than 100 countries around the world,
UKTI is by its nature a very diverse organisation. To
ensure that it can beneﬁt fully from the talents of its
people, UKTI works closely with its parent departments
to ensure that diversity is embedded in all aspects of its
work, both internally and externally.

5.4.14 In February 2009 we piloted a short session on
“simple strategy tools for focused discussions with
business” for FCO Heads of Mission who are in key UKTI
roles. This session will become a core part of our
brieﬁng for senior people going overseas.
Diversity
5.4.15 UKTI’s status means that it can call on the
expertise of the Diversity and Equality Units of both
BERR and the FCO. While the two departments develop
and promote diversity and equal opportunities policies
affecting UKTI, the organisation supplements these
where necessary with its own policies in these areas.
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5.4.19 UKTI contributes to the Equality Duty statements
and plans for both parent departments and, while it
undertakes diversity training and development within
the organisation it also participates in the diversity
training and development opportunities available from
BERR and the FCO.

5.4.22 For example, PIMS results for the survey carried
out during April to June 2007 and April to June 2008
show that 4% of the 1,641 ﬁrms surveyed, had owners,
partners or directors who had a disability or longstanding illness, 32% were female, and 12% were from
an ethnic minority community.

5.4.20 UKTI monitoring of performance against
organisational targets and other performance measures
through PIMS, includes data relating to the ethnicity
and gender of company directors UKTI has assisted.
These results were ﬁrst available in June 2006 and they
are reported on an annual basis. This will allow UKTI to
monitor the extent to which there is an increase in the
number of under-represented groups accessing its
services. This, in turn, will provide a robust evidence
base to inform future policy direction.

5.4.23 PIMS results in future years will allow UKTI to
monitor the extent to which there is an increase in the
number of currently under-represented groups
accessing services.

5.4.21 UKTI monitors the use of its services through its
PIMS, which is carried out by an independent specialist
market research company (see page 127). Annually, the
PIMS also obtains information about the use of its
services by minority groups. This focuses on whether
the businesses have owners, partners or directors who
are women, or from ethnic minority groups, or have
any long-standing illnesses or disabilities. This allows
data to be reported on the percentage of businesses
using the services who have one or more owner, partner,
or director in each, or in any, of these categories. It also
allows data to be reported on the percentage of
businesses using the services that have a majority
of owners, partners, or directors in each, or in any, of
these categories.
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5.5

CORPORATE RESPONSIBILITY

5.5.1 UKTI takes an integrated approach to its
environmental and social responsibility, pursuing the
Government’s agenda on environmental, economic and
social objectives.
Sustainability in our Work
5.5.2 During 2008 work began on promoting the
low carbon economy as set out in Chapter Two. UKTI
and a number of partners embarked on a low carbon
international marketing journey to position the
UK as a leader in low carbon solutions and as such
the destination of choice for low carbon trade and
investment. Work on developing the UK low carbon
international marketing strategy will continue with
individual sector and market messaging, more case
studies and the delivery of activities for UK companies
to promote their low carbon solutions.

UKTI was shortlisted as one
of the Top 4 trade promotion
agencies in the developed world
Association of Trade Promotion Organisations
Autumn 2008

Sustainability in our Operations
5.5.3 UKTI’s people are based in buildings under the
management of either of our parent departments. Both
departments have strategies in place to deliver
sustainable estates and IT. UKTI is a part of these
strategies. These initiatives include activities such as
improving energy efﬁciency, facilitating recycling and
using double–sided printers, as well as those that help to
reduce the carbon footprint of a globally diverse
organisation – reducing travel costs and CO2 emissions
by greater use of tele and video conferencing, and by
encouraging home and exible working and some
carbon off-setting.
Engaging with the Community
5.5.4 Both UKTI’s parent departments support staff
in carrying out certain voluntary public duties, from
serving as trustees on national charities to being school
governors or volunteers. Both departments also operate
salary sacriﬁce schemes whereby staff can give tax
efﬁciently to their chosen charities. During 2008 UKTI
people actively contributed to this agenda through their
respective parent departments.
5.6

5.6.2 Through the work of its Economics and
Evaluation Team, UKTI has, in recent years, taken a
number of steps to strengthen the monitoring and
evaluation of its activities. The arrangements that
have been put in place aim to meet a number of distinct
organisational needs, and to do so in a cost-effective
way that does not place undue burdens on either
customers or staff. These needs are:
s TO MEASURE IMPACT AND VALUE FOR MONEY
s TO TRACK PROGRESS AGAINST 5+4) TARGETS INCLUDING
Departmental Strategic Objectives indicators,
s TO IDENTIFY WHICH TYPES OF ACTIVITY GENERATE
greatest impact,
s TO INFORM AND DRIVE CONTINUOUS IMPROVEMENT
s TO UNDERSTAND THE NEEDS OF DIFFERENT GROUPS OF
customers, and thus inform targeting and service
development, and
s TO INFORM RESOURCE ALLOCATION
5.6.3 The approach UKTI has taken builds on work
BERR has done to upgrade its business support
monitoring and evaluation systems. The objective is to
ensure independent rigour and consistency, as well as
comparability with relevant BERR performance measures.

BETTER EVALUATION

5.6.1 UKTI places strong emphasis on evidence from
high quality, independent evaluation of its activities.
Good, independent evaluation is an essential component
of sound policy and business planning decisions.
Evaluation monitors the organisation’s performance
and demonstrates that UKTI is making a difference.
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Firms new to export experienced
on average a 34% long-term
productivity boost as a result
of beginning to export

5.6.4 There are four main elements:
s Universal capture of data on businesses helped by
UKTI. The essential underpinning to all evaluation
of what difference UKTI makes is keeping good
records of who was helped and what form of help
they received.
s The Performance and Impact Monitoring Survey
(PIMS). PIMS is UKTI’s central monitoring survey
of users of its business services. This has already
been described, in Chapter Four, in the context of
measuring UKTI’s performance against its DSO target
and indicators. PIMS also provides a wealth of other
data, including the proﬁle of supported ﬁrms and
customer perceptions of individual services, which
provide qualitative as well as quantitative
measurement of UKTI’s performance.
s Point of delivery performance assessment based on
quick and simple customer feedback. The Economics
and Evaluation Team has developed a set of short
feedback forms, consistent with the PIMS, which are
available for use at local level by UKTI teams where
appropriate. The forms will not be a substitute for
the survey interviews, but can be given by delivery
teams to customers at an earlier stage, for example,
to obtain quick feedback on the quality of events or
other services.
s An annual programme of independent economic
impact evaluations. This is a rolling programme
of studies of particular areas of UKTI’s work which
looks in depth at the economic rationale for the work
UKTI does and seeks to assess the value for money
for the taxpayer. In 2008–09, for every £1 spent by
UKTI, £16 was generated back for business. This is
explained in more detail in Annex A at the end of
the report.
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5.6.5 Impact evaluation in UKTI is supported by a
programme of wider research on issues related to
strengthening the economic rationale for government
roles in supporting trade and investment.13 Activities
are focused on two key areas: economic evaluation and
economic research.14 They show that there are economic
beneﬁts to the UK from international trade and
investment in terms of direct and indirect productivity
effects, strengthening competition and increases in
returns to business investment in innovation. The
most recent addition to this body of evidence suggests
that over the period 1996–2004 some 60% of UK
productivity growth was attributable to UK exporting
ﬁrms, both established and new exporters, despite these
being a minority of UK ﬁrms overall.15 In addition, ﬁrms
new to export experienced on average a 34% long-term
productivity boost as a result of beginning to export.
This is consistent with the ﬁndings of previous research
commissioned by UKTI, which showed new exporters
experienced a productivity gain from entering and
staying in export markets, with ﬁrms with a high share
of total sales coming from exports gaining the highest
beneﬁt.16 This indicates that the economy as a whole will
beneﬁt if more companies do business internationally.

13 BERR Economics Paper Number 18 op cit: The economic rationale for UKTI is
set out in more detail at Annex A.
14 Research commissioned during 2005: Harris, R. and Q. Cher Li, (2005a), Review
of the Literature: the Role of International Trade and Investment in Business
Growth and Development; Harris, R. and Q. Cher Li (2005b), Establishment
Level Empirical Study of Links Between Exporting, Innovation and Productivity;
SQW (2005), Review of the Evaluation Evidence on Trade Promotion: Final Report
to UK Trade & Investment.
15 Harris, R. and Q. Cher Li (2007), Firm Level Empirical Study of the Contribution
of Exporting to UK Productivity Growth.
16 Kneller R. (2004), Participation in export markets and productivity in UK
manufacturing, Final Report for UKTI.

UKTI People Delivering for the UK

DEPARTMENTAL REPORT 2008–09

71

CHAPTER SIX
RESOURCE ACCOUNTS

FACT
UKTI HAS INCREASED
ITS INCOME BY 26% TO
OVER £4.5M
72 CHAPTER
CHAPTER
SIX:XXXXX:
RESOURCE
UK TRADE
ACCOUNTS
& INVESTMENT’S STRATEGY, SERVICES AND OPERATIONS

6.1 Introduction

Management Commentary

THIS CHAPTER PRESENTS THE
RESOURCE ACCOUNTS WHICH SETS
OUT THE RESOURCES VOTED TO,
AND USED BY, UKTI.

Main Estimates

It also includes by way of “Memorandum Notes” an
estimate of the total resources used by UKTI to deliver
its activity. To arrive at the total resources used,
the resources of BERR and FCO allocated for UKTI
activity need to be added.
The resources, voted to BERR (HC447) and FCO (HC
460), are shown in their respective resource accounts.
These can be obtained from The Stationery Ofﬁce (TSO)
quoting the relevant HC number. The “Memorandum
Notes” appear on pages 113 to 117.
This re ects the shared governance arrangements
between BERR, FCO and UKTI for the delivery of their
shared departmental strategic objectives for trade
promotion and foreign direct inward investment.
Basis of Accounts
These accounts have been prepared in accordance with
directions given by HM Treasury in pursuance of
Section 5(2) of the Government Resources and Accounts
Act 2000.

Estimates are the means by which the Government seeks
authority from Parliament for its spending each year.
Main Estimates are set at departmental level with one
or more Requests for Resources (RfR) and one Net Cash
Requirement (NCR) presented to Parliament, by the Chief
Secretary to the Treasury, around the start of the ﬁnancial
year to which they relate. The UKTI Estimate has one RfR
with an associated NCR. This covers expenditure on
speciﬁed services for which the Accounting Ofﬁcer is
accountable to Parliament. Further details can be found
at www.hm-treasury.gov.uk.
The annual Appropriation Act, passed before the
summer Parliamentary recess each year, authorises the
issue of Supply and appropriates resources to particular
RfRs in the Main Estimates.
Financial Structure
The Chief Executive, as Accounting Ofﬁcer, is responsible
for all of UKTI’s programme expenditure, including any
capital items (assets) purchased out of UKTI’s programme
budget. The controls exercised over these resources are
reported on by the Accounting Ofﬁcer in the Statement
on Internal Control. All administration and capital
expenditure items other than those purchased from
UKTI’s programme budget during 2007–08 were funded
by BERR or the FCO and remained the responsibility
of the Accounting Ofﬁcers for those departments.
The controls BERR and the FCO exercised over these
resources are reported on in the individual Statements
on Internal Control in their respective accounts.
The Accounting Ofﬁcers for BERR and the FCO have
provided UKTI’s Accounting Ofﬁcer with details of
administration expenditure and capital items for
inclusion as Memorandum Notes in these accounts.
These Memorandum Notes are not covered by the
Comptroller and Auditor General’s (C&AG’s) opinion
on pages 89 to 90.
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Going Concern

unspent monies, including those derived from UKTI’s
income, are surrenderable to the Fund.

The balance sheet at 31 March 2009 shows negative
taxpayers’ equity of £10.4m (£11.4m). This re ects the
inclusion of liabilities falling due in future years, which
are to be ﬁnanced by drawings from the UK
Consolidated Fund (the Fund). Such drawings will be
from grants of Supply approved annually by Parliament
to meet UKTI’s NCR. Under the Government Resources
and Accounts Act 2000, no money may be drawn from
the Fund other than required for the service of the
speciﬁed year or retained in excess of that need. All

In common with other government departments, the
future ﬁnancing of UKTI’s liabilities is accordingly to
be met by future grants of Supply and the application
of future income, both to be approved annually by
Parliament. There is no reason to believe that future
approvals will not be forthcoming. Accordingly, it has
been considered appropriate to adopt a going concern
basis for the preparation of these ﬁnancial statements.

Financial Review
The total resource deployed by UKTI can be found in the memorandum notes on page 113.
The table below shows the total resources used during 2008–09 with comparators together
with key outputs/outcomes.
2008–09
Objective

Resource £m

To enhance the
competitiveness
of companies in
the UK through
overseas trade and
investments

249.9

To attract a
continuing high level
of quality foreign
direct investment

73.3

Total

323.2
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Outputs/Outcomes

20,700 business assists

2007–08
Resource £m

238.7

Outputs/Outcomes

15,900 business assists

£3.6bn additional proﬁt
for UK business

£3.2bn additional proﬁt
for UK business

£4.6m income

£3.6m income

600 inward investment
decisions (signiﬁcant
assists)

76.8

549 inward investment
decisions (signiﬁcant
assists)

10,678 new jobs created

14,274 new jobs created

18,600 jobs safeguarded

9,824 jobs safeguarded
315.5

The resource accounts only show the resource voted
directly to UKTI to deliver programme activity
(eg grants/marketing). Other resources relating to UKTI
are included within the audited accounts of BERR and
FCO respectively. The ﬁnancial performance of UKTI is
reported in the ﬁnancial statements and supporting
notes to the accounts, which can be found on pages 96
to 112.
The Statement of Net Operating Costs by Departmental
Strategy Objectives, on page 95, indicates the net
programme expenditure incurred in delivering against
each of UKTI’s two sub-objectives. Highlights by
sub-objective are shown on page 74.
Resources consumed by major programmes in enhancing
the competitiveness of companies in the UK through
overseas trade and investments, during 2008–09, were
as follows (2007–08 ﬁgures are shown in brackets):
s aM aM WAS SPENT ON FUNDING CUSTOMER
facing activity delivering international trade support
in the English regions. The budget for the year was
£17.4m.

s aM aM WAS SPENT ON TRADE MARKETING EVENTS
and publicity. The budget for the year was £4.7m.
The additional spend was a result of reprioritising
our resource to align with the global economic
downturn, which resulted in the “Take It To The
World” campaign, and
s aM WAS SPENT ON MAJOR $EFENCE  3ECURITY
events. The budget for the year was £2.2m.
Some events were postponed in the year.
To attract a continuing high level of quality foreign
direct investment, resources consumed by major
programmes during 2008–09 were as follows:
s 'RANT IN !ID FOR 2$!S TOTALLED aM aM 
This was in line with the budget, and
s aM aM WAS SPENT ON INWARD INVESTMENT
programmes. This included marketing the UK abroad,
production of publicity materials and advertising.
The budget for the year was £15.1m.
Outturn against Estimate

s aM aM WAS SPENT ON SECTOR SPECIlC ACTIVITIES
in markets and sectors with strong potential for
British business. The budget for the year was £9m,

In 2008–09, UKTI’s Net Request for Resources (RfR)was
£91.5m (£91.7m) and Net Resource Outturn was £90.9m
(£90.2m) – a 0.7% (1.6%) underspend.

s aM aM WAS SPENT TO SUPPORT NEW AND
inexperienced exports through overseas exhibitions,
seminars and mission support schemes. The budget
for the year was £7.8m,

This represents a small underspend of £600k against
Estimate and was a result of acitivity in demand led
programmes slipping into the next ﬁnancial period.

s aM aM WAS SPENT ON THE 0ASSPORT TO %XPORT
programme, aimed at providing practical advice
and support to Small and Medium-sized Enterprises
(SMEs), which are new to or inexperienced in
exporting. The budget for the year was £4.1m.
Some events were cancelled or postponed at the
year end,
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Reconciliation of resource expenditure between Estimates, Accounts and Budgets
2008–09
(£000)

2007–08
(£000)
(restated)

Net Resource Outturn (Estimates)

90,927

90,167

Less Operating Income – Excess A-in-A

(112)

–

Net Operating Cost (Accounts)

90,815

90,167

Resource Budget Outturn (Budget)

91,527

91,689

Departmental Expenditure Limits (DEL)

91,506

91,668

Annually Managed Expenditure (AME)

21

21

of which:

There is one adjusting item between Net Resource Outturn and Net Operating Costs (for details see note 7.2).
Risk Management

Reporting of Personal Data Related Incidents

UKTI is committed to high standards of corporate
governance and ensuring that a robust system of risk
management is fully implemented throughout the
organisation.

UKTI reported no incidents of the loss of any “Protected
Personal Data” to the Information Commissioners Ofﬁce
in 2008–09 (or prior years). There were no “Other
Protected Personal Data” incidents in 2008–09 (or prior
years) such as the loss of: inadequately protected or
insecure disposal of electronic equipment, devices or
paper documents from secured Government premises,
or any other unauthorised disclosure.

The framework for the management and control of
corporate activities has been developed to ensure that
signiﬁcant risks to the attainment of UKTI’s objectives
are identiﬁed, well managed and monitored. A corporate
risk register provides a focus for identiﬁed risks and
includes “risk owners” at senior management level.
Group level operational risk registers are also in place,
covering the risks to delivering Group business
objectives and the controls in place to reduce the
likelihood of these risks occurring and their impact.
The corporate risk register uses a trafﬁc light system
to highlight areas of concern to senior management.
Risk registers are reviewed regularly to ensure that any
new risks are identiﬁed and any signiﬁcant changes to
the assessment of likelihood/impact of existing risks
are captured.

UKTI will continue to monitor and assess its information
risks, in order to identify and address any weaknesses
and ensure continuous improvement of its systems.
Corporate Governance
Ministers
During 2008–09, joint ministerial responsibilities were
as follows:
Secretary of State for Foreign and
Commonwealth Affairs
The Rt Hon David Miliband MP
(from 28 June 2007 to present)

Liquidity and Currency Risks
UKTI has no borrowings and relies primarily on voted
funds from Parliament for its cash requirements. It is
therefore not exposed to liquidity risk. It has no material
deposits and all material assets and liabilities are
denominated in sterling so it is not exposed to interest
rate risk or to material currency risk. Further disclosures
are provided in note 18 to these accounts.
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Secretary of State for BERR
Lord Mandelson (from 3 October 2008 to present)
The Rt Hon John Hutton MP (from 28 June 2007
to 3 October 2008)

Portfolio responsibility:
Minister for Trade, Investment and Business
Lord Davies of Abersoch (from 14 January 2009
to present)
Gareth Thomas MP (from 5 October 2008
to 13 January 2009)
Digby, Lord Jones of Birmingham (from 29 June 2007
to 3 October 2008)
Accounting Ofﬁcer
Sir Andrew Cahn KCMG (to 27 March 2009 and from
11 May 2009 to present)
Dominic Jermey OBE (from 28 March 2009
to 10 May 2009)
Sir Andrew Cahn took up responsibility as acting
Permanent Secretary for BERR until the appointment of
Simon Fraser and returned to UKTI on the 11 May 2009.
Board
Details of Board membership appear on pages 61 to 63.
The composition of the Board provides the organisation
with the right mix of skills required to deliver the
organisation’s strategy and is well balanced to support
objective decision-making.
The Board has determined that all Non-Executive Board
Members are independent in character and judgment
and that there are currently no relationships which could
affect a member’s judgment when participating in
Board decisions.
The Board operates within written terms of reference,
which are reviewed regularly. It meets regularly and is
supported by a dedicated secretariat.

s HELPING TO STRENGTHEN PLANNING PERFORMANCE AND
change management in UKTI and encouraging
innovation,
s ENSURING THE OPERATION OF A TRANSPARENT SYSTEM OF
prudent and effective controls (including internal
controls), and
s ADVISING ON AND CONTRIBUTING TOWARDS STAKEHOLDER
management.
There are two sub-committees of the Board.
They are the:
s !UDIT #OMMITTEE AND
s 2ESOURCES AND %VALUATION 0ANEL 2%0 
The Board’s terms of reference are available at
www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk
Audit Committee
The Audit Committee met four times during 2008–09.
The Committee acts in an advisory capacity and brings
an independent element into the consideration of audit,
risk and other corporate governance matters within the
organisation. Three of the four Non-Executive Board
Members are members of the Committee.
The Committee’s role is to promote conﬁdence in UKTI’s
systems of governance and internal control by bringing
an independent element into consideration of audit and
related matters. The Committee acts in an advisory
capacity, providing independent advice to the Board on:
s ISSUES CONCERNING THE RISK CONTROL AND GOVERNANCE OF
the organisation and the associated assurances, and
s ADEQUACY AND APPROPRIATENESS IN THE LIGHT OF BOTH
known and emerging risks, of the work plans of
bodies, including internal audit, which conduct
audit and assurance work.

The role of the UKTI Board is to provide strategic and
operational leadership. It contributes to the delivery of
the organisation’s objectives by:
s PROVIDING LEADERSHIP AND STRATEGIC DIRECTION
s ADVISING ON THE ALLOCATION OF RESOURCES AGAINST
priorities for the delivery of objectives,
s MANAGING DEPARTMENTAL RESOURCES MONITORING
the achievement of performance objectives,
s SETTING THE DEPARTMENTS STANDARDS AND VALUES AND
s ASSESSING AND MANAGING THE PRINCIPAL RISKS
facing UKTI,
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During 2008–09, the composition of the UKTI Audit
Committee was as follows:

Public Interest
Payment of Suppliers

Claire Ighodaro CBE (Chair)
Non-Executive Board Member
Barry Stickings CBE
Non-Executive Board Member
Tim Robinson
Non-Executive Board Member
Stephen French
Independent Member and Director General Acquisition
Policy, MoD
As with previous years, the following will also normally
be present at meetings:
s
s
s
s

#HIEF %XECUTIVE 5+4) 
$IRECTORS OF &INANCE 5+4) "%22 AND &#/ 
2EPRESENTATIVE FROM )NTERNAL !UDIT "%22 AND &#/ 
2EPRESENTATIVES FROM THE .!/

UKTI’s policy is to comply with the Better Payment
Practice Code, which includes the Late Payments of
Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1988.
In October 2008, the Prime Minister announced the
commitment that the Government will pay all SME
invoices within ten days. BERR are leading on this across
Government and have applied the new policy to all
suppliers rather than just SMEs. UKTI has followed
BERR’s line, which is to change our prompt payment
performance for all invoices to be paid within ten days,
from the previous target of 30 days.
UKTI standard terms and conditions for the supply
of goods and services specify payment within ten days,
or other agreed credit terms, of receipt of goods or
services or valid invoice, whichever is the later.
The payment performance for 2008–09 was:

The Committee’s terms of reference are available at
www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk
Resources and Evaluation Panel (REP)

s BETWEEN !PRIL  AND -ARCH   OF
invoices were paid within 30 days, and
s BETWEEN .OVEMBER  AND -ARCH  
of invoices were paid within ten days.

The REP is an advisory committee whose role is to:
Auditors
s ENSURE THAT ALL DECISIONS IN RELATION TO SPENDING OR
savings on programmes are supported by adequate
prior appraisal, and
s IMPLEMENT A ROLLING PROGRAMME OF EVALUATION TO
identify the achievements of UKTI’s programmes
and to provide the evidence base for future
decision-making.
The REP maximises the input of the Board to the
evaluation of programmes and projects and strengthens
the role of evaluation evidence in the policy process.
Susan Haird CB, UKTI’s Deputy Chief Executive,
chairs the REP and is supported by the organisation’s
senior Economist, Heather Booth Di Giovanni and
Managing Directors.

These ﬁnancial statements have been audited, under
the Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000, by
the C&AG, who is appointed under statute and reports
to Parliament. The audit opinion is on pages 89 to 90.
The notional cost to UKTI of the external audit of its
resource account by the NAO for the C&AG was £48.5k
(2007–08 £43k), which was split between the
administration costs of BERR and the FCO. See
Memorandum Notes for further details. A further
notional charge of £6.5k was made in relation to the
audit work to implement International Financial
Reporting Standards (IFRS). There was no auditor
remuneration (actual or notional) for non-audit work.
During the year the NAO carried out a Value for Money
audit of UKTI’s delivery of trade support to UK
businesses the details of which can be found in section
4.7.13 of this report.
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Disclosure of Audit Information
s !S FAR AS THE !CCOUNTING /FlCER IS AWARE THERE IS NO
relevant audit information of which the entity’s
auditors are unaware.
s 4HE !CCOUNTING /FlCER HAS TAKEN ALL THE STEPS THAT
he ought to have taken to make himself aware of any
relevant audit information and to establish that the
entity’s auditors are aware of that information.

Further information about the work of the Review Body
can be found at www.ome.uk.com
Senior Ofﬁcial Appointments
The Chief Executive of UKTI is appointed by the Prime
Minister on the recommendation of the Head of the
Home Civil Service and with the agreement of the
Ministerial Heads of the two parent departments.

6.2 Departmental Remuneration Report
Remuneration Policy
A Remuneration Report has been included for
transparency. UKTI has no Remuneration Committee.
This is because the remuneration of BERR and FCO
staff working for UKTI is met from the administration
resource controlled by these sponsoring departments
and both have remuneration committees. Staff costs
are reported under Memorandum Note 3 on page 115.
The remuneration of senior civil servants is set by the
Prime Minister following independent advice from the
Review Body on Senior Salaries.

Civil Service appointments are made in accordance
with the Civil Service Commissioners’ Recruitment
Code, which requires appointments to be on merit on
the basis of fair and open competition but also includes
the circumstances when appointments may otherwise
be made.
Unless otherwise stated, the ofﬁcials covered by this
report hold appointments which are open-ended until
they reach the normal retiring age of 65. Early
termination, other than for misconduct, would result in
the individual receiving compensation as set out in the
Civil Service Compensation Scheme.

s THE NEED TO RECRUIT RETAIN AND MOTIVATE SUITABLY
able and qualiﬁed people to exercise their different
responsibilities,
s REGIONALLOCAL VARIATIONS IN LABOUR MARKETS AND THEIR
effects on the recruitment and retention of staff,
s GOVERNMENT POLICIES FOR IMPROVING THE PUBLIC
services including the requirement on departments
to meet the output targets for the delivery of
departmental services,
s THE FUNDS AVAILABLE TO DEPARTMENTS AS SET OUT IN THE
Government’s departmental expenditure limits, and
s 4HE 'OVERNMENTS INmATION TARGET

s 3IR !NDREW #AHN +#-' #HIEF %XECUTIVE WAS
appointed on a four-year contract commencing
27 March 2006. His appointment has since been
extended by a further year. The notice period for the
employee is three months. For the employer the
notice period is six months or a period, if less, equal
to the unexpired part of the ﬁxed term contract.
s "RIAN 3HAW WAS APPOINTED ON A FOUR YEAR CONTRACT
commencing 3 July 2006. The notice period for the
employee is three months. For the employer the
notice period is six months or a period, if less, equal
to the unexpired part of the ﬁxed term contract.
s $ANNY ,OPEZ WAS APPOINTED ON A THREE YEAR CONTRACT
commencing 2 April 2007. The notice period for the
employee is three months. For the employer the
notice period is six months or a period, if less, equal
to the unexpired part of the ﬁxed term contract.
s 2ICHARD 0ANIGUIAN #"% WAS APPOINTED ON A THREE
year contract commencing 11 August 2008. The
notice period for the employee is three months.
For the employer the notice period is six months
or a period, if less, equal to the unexpired part of
the ﬁxed term contract.

The Review Body takes account of the evidence it
receives about wider economic considerations and the
affordability of its recommendations.

Further information about the work of the Civil Service
Commissioners can be found at
www.civilservicecommissioners.gov.uk

The Review Body also advises the Prime Minister
from time to time on the pay and pensions of
Members of Parliament and their allowances; on Peers’
allowances; and on the pay, pensions and allowances
of Ministers and others whose pay is determined by
the Ministerial and Other Salaries Act 1975.
In reaching its recommendations, the Review Body is to
have regard to the following considerations:
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Salary and Pension Entitlements
The following sections provide details of the
remuneration and pension interests of the Ministers
and most senior management (ie Board members) of
the department.
Ministerial Appointments
During 2008–09, joint ministerial responsibilities were
as follows:
Secretary of State for Foreign and
Commonwealth Affairs
The Rt Hon David Miliband MP (from 28 June 2007
to present)
Secretary of State for BERR
Lord Mandelson (from 3 October 2008 to present)
The Rt Hon John Hutton MP (from 28 June 2007
to 3 October 2008)

Portfolio Responsibility:
Minister for Trade, Investment and Business
Lord Davies of Abersoch (from 14 January 2009
to present)
Gareth Thomas MP (from 5 October 2008
to 13 January 2009)
Digby, Lord Jones of Birmingham (from 29 June
to 3 October 2008)
Lord Davies of Abersoch is not receiving a salary or
pension beneﬁts for his work as a Minister. Lord Jones’
salary is listed below. Other Ministers’ salary, pension
and beneﬁts are not disclosed in these accounts and
their details can be found in the respective 2008–09
resource accounts of BERR, the FCO and the
Department for International Development (DFID).
Remuneration Report
The following sections provide details of the
remuneration and pension interests of the Ministers and
most senior management (ie Board members) of the
department.

Ministers’ salaries, allowances, taxable beneﬁt in kind pension and beneﬁts entitlements in 2008–09 were as follows:
2008–09
Salary (in
bands of
£5,000)
(2007–08
Salary)

Lord Davies of Abersoch17
(from 14 January 2009)
Full year equivalent

Accrued
pension at
age 65 as
at 31/3/09
(£000)

Real
increase in
pension at
age 65
(£000)

CETV at
31/3/09
(£000)

CETV at
31/3/0820
(£000)

Real
increase in
CETV
(£000)

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

60–65
115–120
(85–90)
(115–120)

0
0–2.5

0–2.5

30

17

10

Gareth Thomas MP18
(from 5 October 2008 to
13 January 2009)
Full year equivalent
Digby, Lord Jones
of Birmingham19
(to 3 October 2008)
Full year equivalent
(from 29 June 2007)

Beneﬁts
in kind (to
nearest
£100)
(2007–08
Beneﬁts)

0

17. Receives no salary and no pension beneﬁts.
18. Salary and pension details are disclosed in the DFID’s accounts.
19. Salary paid by the FCO.
20. The ﬁgure may be different from the closing ﬁgure in last year’s accounts. This is due to the CETV factors being updated to comply with The Occupational Pension
Schemes (Transfer Values) (Amendment) Regulations 2008.
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Salary
“Salary” includes gross salary; performance pay or
bonuses; overtime; reserved rights to London weighting
or London allowances; recruitment and retention
allowances; private ofﬁce allowances and any other
allowance to the extent that it is subject to UK taxation.
This report is based on payments made by the
Department and thus recorded in these accounts.
In respect of ministers in the House of Commons,
departments bear only the cost of the additional
ministerial remuneration; the salary for their services
as an MP (£63,291 from 1 April 2008), and various
allowances to which they are entitled are borne
centrally. However, the arrangement for ministers in
the House of Lords is different in that they do not
receive a salary but rather an additional remuneration,
which cannot be quantiﬁed separately from their
ministerial salaries. This total remuneration, as well
as the allowances to which they are entitled, is paid
by the department and is therefore shown in full in
the ﬁgures above.
Beneﬁts in Kind
The monetary value of beneﬁts in kind covers any
beneﬁts provided by the department and treated by
HM Revenue & Customs as a taxable emolument.
Ministerial Pensions
Pension beneﬁts for Ministers are provided by the
Parliamentary Contributory Pension Fund (PCPF). The
scheme is made under statute (the regulations are set out
in Statutory Instrument SI 1993 No 3253, as amended).
Those Ministers who are Members of Parliament may
also accrue an MP’s pension under the PCPF (details of
which are not included in this report). The arrangements
for Ministers provide beneﬁts on an “average salary”
basis, taking account of all service as a Minister. The
accrual rate has been 1/40th since 15 July 2002 (or
5 July 2001 for those that chose to backdate the change)
but Ministers, in common with all other members of the
PCPF, can opt for a 1/50th accrual rate and a lower rate
of employee contribution.

those who are not MPs, on retirement from ministerial
ofﬁce from age 65. Pensions are increased annually
in line with changes in the Retail Prices Index (RPI).
Members pay contributions of 6% of their ministerial
salary if they have opted for the 1/50th accrual rate or
10% of their salary if they have opted for the 1/40th
accrual rate. There is also an employer contribution paid
by the Exchequer representing the balance of cost as
advised by the Government Actuary. This is currently
26.8% of the ministerial salary.
The accrued pension quoted is the pension the Minister
is entitled to receive when they reach 65, or immediately
on ceasing to be an active member of the scheme if they
are already 65.
The Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV)
This is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the
pension scheme beneﬁts accrued by a member at a
particular point in time. The beneﬁts valued are the
member’s accrued beneﬁts and any contingent spouse’s
pension payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment
made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure
pension beneﬁts in another pension scheme or
arrangement when the member leaves a scheme and
chooses to transfer the pension beneﬁts they have
accrued in their former scheme. The pension ﬁgures
shown relate to the beneﬁts that the individual has
accrued as a consequence of their total ministerial
service, not just their current appointment as a
Minister. CETVs are calculated in accordance with
The Occupational Pension Schemes (Transfer Values)
(Amendment) Regulations and do not take account of
any actual or potential reduction to beneﬁts resulting
from Lifetime Allowance Tax which may be due when
pension beneﬁts are taken.
The Real Increase in the Value of the CETV
This is effectively the element of the increase in accrued
pension funded by the Exchequer. It excludes increases
due to in ation and contributions paid by the Minister
and is worked out using common market valuation
factors for the start and end of the period.

Beneﬁts for Ministers are payable at the same time as
MP’s beneﬁts become payable under the PCPF or, for
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Senior Management salaries, allowances, taxable beneﬁt in kind and pension entitlements in 2008–09 were as follows:
Accrued Real increase
in pension
pension
and related
at pension
age as at lump sum at
31/3/09 and pension age
related lump
sum

CETV at
31/3/09

CETV at
31/3/0827

Real
increase
in CETV

(£000)

(£000)

(£000)

(£000)

(£000)

40–45
Plus
n/a
lump sum

0–2.5
Plus
n/a
lump sum

824

740

15

45–50
Plus
135–140
lump sum

0–2.5
Plus
0–2.5
lump sum

963

894

1

15–20
Plus
45–50
lump sum

0–2.5
Plus
0–2.5
lump sum

220

194

7

0

0–5
Plus
n/a
lump sum

0–2.5
Plus
n/a
lump sum

26

0

22

5–10
Plus
n/a
lump sum

0–2.5
Plus
n/a
lump sum

81

48

25

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

n/a

15–20
Plus
50–55
lump sum

0–2.5
Plus
0–2.5
lump sum

224

211

–3

20–25
Plus
60–65
lump sum

n/a

373

373

0

2008–09 Salary
including
Performance Pay

Beneﬁts in
Kind

(in bands of
£5,000)
(2007–08
Salary)

(to nearest
£100)
(2007–08
Beneﬁts)

245–250

0

(225–230)

(0)

120–125

0

(120–125)

(0)

95–100

0

(85–90)

(0)

105–110

Sir Andrew Cahn KCMG22,24,25,26

Susan Haird CB22,24,26

Dominic Jermey OBE 21,24,26

Richard Paniguian CBE 22,24,26
(from 11/08/08)
Full year equivalent

190–195

Brian Shaw 22,23,24,26

140–145

0

(125–130)

(0)

105–110

0

(95–100)

(0)

85–90

0

(from 01/10/07)
Full year equivalent

(35–40)
(80–85)

(0)

Michael Ward 21,24,26
(from 28/03/09)
Full year equivalent

0–5

0

Danny Lopez 22,24,26

Curtis Juman

22,24,26

65–70

21. Salary paid by the FCO.
22. Salary paid by BERR.
23. Opted out of Civil Service Pension arrangements.
24. There were no employer contributions to partnership pension account.
25. Has a supplementary pension agreed by the Cabinet Ofﬁce from 1 July 2007 with a double accrual rate. Aggregated service prior to this date is at a single rate.
26. Salary includes performance pay paid during the year.
27. The ﬁgure may be different from the closing ﬁgure in last year’s accounts. This is due to the CETV factors being updated to comply with The Occupational Pension
Schemes (Transfer Values) (Amendment) Regulations 2008.
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Civil Service Pensions
Pension beneﬁts are provided through the Civil Service
pension arrangements. From 30 July 2007, civil servants
may be in one of four deﬁned beneﬁt schemes: either
a “ﬁnal salary” scheme (classic, premium or classic plus);
or a “whole career” scheme (nuvos). These statutory
arrangements are unfunded with the cost of beneﬁts
met by monies voted by Parliament each year. Pensions
payable under classic, premium, classic plus and nuvos
are increased annually in line with changes in the Retail
Prices Index (RPI). Members joining from October 2002
may opt for either the appropriate deﬁned beneﬁt
arrangement or a good quality “money purchase”
stakeholder pension with a signiﬁcant employer
contribution (partnership pension account).
Employee contributions are set at the rate of 1.5% of
pensionable earnings for classic and 3.5% for premium,
classic plus and nuvos. Beneﬁts in classic accrue at the
rate of 1/80th of ﬁnal pensionable earnings for each
year of service. In addition, a lump sum equivalent to
three years’ pension is payable on retirement. For
premium, beneﬁts accrue at the rate of 1/60th of ﬁnal
pensionable earnings for each year of service. Unlike
classic, there is no automatic lump sum. Classic plus is
essentially a hybrid with beneﬁts in respect of service
before 1 October 2002 calculated broadly as per classic
and beneﬁts for service from October 2002 calculated
as in premium. In nuvos a member builds up a pension
based on his pensionable earnings during their period
of scheme membership. At the end of the scheme year
(31 March) the member’s earned pension account is
credited with 2.3% of their pensionable earnings in that
scheme year and the accrued pension is uprated in line
with RPI. In all cases members may opt to give up
(commute) pension for a lump sum up to the limits set
by the Finance Act 2004.
The partnership pension account is a stakeholder
pension arrangement. The employer makes a basic
contribution of between 3% and 12.5% (depending on
the age of the member) into a stakeholder pension
product chosen by the employee from a panel of three
providers. The employee does not have to contribute
but where they do make contributions, the employer
will match these up to a limit of 3% of pensionable
salary (in addition to the employer’s basic contribution).
Employers also contribute a further 0.8% of pensionable
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salary to cover the cost of centrally-provided risk beneﬁt
cover (death in service and ill health retirement).
The accrued pension quoted is the pension the member
is entitled to receive when they reach pension age,
or immediately on ceasing to be an active member of
the scheme if they are already at or over pension age.
Pension age is 60 for members of classic, premium
and classic plus and 65 for members of nuvos.
Further details about the CSP arrangements can be
found on the website www.civilservice-pensions.gov.uk
Cash Equivalent Transfer Values
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the
actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension
scheme beneﬁts accrued by a member at a particular
point in time. The beneﬁts valued are the member’s
accrued beneﬁts and any contingent spouse’s pension
payable from the scheme. A CETV is a payment made
by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension
beneﬁts in another pension scheme or arrangement
when the member leaves a scheme and chooses to
transfer the beneﬁts accrued in their former scheme.
The pension ﬁgures shown relate to the beneﬁts that the
individual has accrued as a consequence of their total
membership of the pension scheme, not just their
service in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies.
The ﬁgures include the value of any pension beneﬁt in
another scheme or arrangement which the individual has
transferred to the Civil Service pension arrangements.
They also include any additional pension beneﬁt
accrued to the member as a result of their purchasing
additional pension beneﬁts at their own cost. CETVs are
calculated in accordance with The Occupational Pension
Schemes (Transfer Values) (Amendment) Regulations and
do not take account of any actual or potential reduction
to beneﬁts resulting from Lifetime Allowance Tax which
may be due when pension beneﬁts are taken.
Real Increase in CETV
This re ects the increase in CETV effectively funded by
the employer. It does not include the increase in accrued
pension due to in ation, contributions paid by the
employee (including the value of any beneﬁts
transferred from another pension scheme or
arrangement) and uses common market valuation
factors for the start and end of the period.
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Compensation for loss of ofﬁce
No compensation for loss of ofﬁce was paid to any
senior manager.
Fees paid to Non-Executive Board Members
Below are the annual fees plus expenses paid to the
Non-Executive Board Members of UKTI. The total
payments for the year to each person were in the
following ranges:

Peter John Hill CBE
(to 31 March 2009)

2008–09
(£000)

2007–08
(£000)

0–5

5–10

5–10

5–10

Bill McGinnis CBE
(to 31 March 2008)

–

5–10

Barry Stickings CBE

5–10

5–10

Claire A Ighodaro CBE

Tim Robinson

see footnote28

28 Receives no fees; the sum of between £5k–£10k (£0k–£5k) is paid direct to a
charity, on the same basis as BERR’s salary sacriﬁce scheme.

Sir Andrew Cahn KCMG
Accounting Ofﬁcer
10 July 2009
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6.3 Statement of Accounting Ofﬁcer’s Responsibilities

6.4 Statement on Internal Control

Under the Government Resources and Accounts Act
2000, HM Treasury has directed UKTI to prepare for
each ﬁnancial year resource accounts detailing the
resources acquired, held or disposed of during the year
and the use of resources by the department during the
year. The accounts are prepared on an accruals basis and
must give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
UKTI and of its net resource outturn, resources applied
to objectives, recognised gains and losses and cash
ows for the ﬁnancial year.

This statement is given in respect of the Annual Report
and Accounts for UKTI, which incorporates the
programme transactions and assets and liabilities,
which fall within the boundary for resource accounting
purposes.

In preparing the accounts, the Accounting Ofﬁcer
is required to comply with the requirements of the
Government Financial Reporting Manual and in
particular to:
s OBSERVE THE ACCOUNTS DIRECTION ISSUED BY (- 4REASURY
including the relevant accounting and disclosure
requirements, and apply suitable accounting policies
on a consistent basis,
s MAKE JUDGMENTS AND ESTIMATES ON A REASONABLE BASIS
s STATE WHETHER APPLICABLE ACCOUNTING STANDARDS AS SET
out in the Government Financial Reporting Manual
have been followed, and disclose and explain any
material departures in the accounts, and
s PREPARE THE ACCOUNTS ON A GOING CONCERN BASIS
HM Treasury has appointed the Chief Executive as
Accounting Ofﬁcer of UKTI. The responsibilities of an
Accounting Ofﬁcer, including responsibility for the
propriety and regularity of the public ﬁnances for which
the Accounting Ofﬁcer is answerable, for keeping proper
records and for safeguarding UKTI’s assets, are set out
in the Accounting Ofﬁcers’ Memorandum issued by
HM Treasury and published in Managing Public Money.

Scope of Responsibility
As Accounting Ofﬁcer I have responsibility for
maintaining a sound system of internal control that
supports the achievements of UKTI’s policies, aims
and objectives, while safeguarding the public funds
and the organisation’s assets for which I am personally
responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities
assigned to me in Managing Public Money.
UKTI brings together the work of BERR and the FCO in
supporting companies in the UK trading internationally
and overseas enterprises seeking to locate in the UK. I
am accountable to the Secretary of State for Business,
Enterprise and Regulatory Reform and the Secretary of
State for Foreign and Commonwealth Affairs and ensure
that both parent departments are kept fully informed
and involved in risk management processes within UKTI.
I involve ministers in the management of risk at
strategic level considering major factors that could
prevent objectives being achieved through my
membership of the Management Boards of BERR and
the FCO.
In supporting Ministers in pursuit of this, I am
supported by:
s THE %XECUTIVE "OARD WHICH ) CHAIR
s THE !UDIT AND 2ISK #OMMITTEE AND
s THE 2%0
I work with Ministers and the organisation’s top
management through the UKTI Executive Board, weekly
Executive Team meetings, Director Forums, and through
meetings and correspondence.
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The Purpose of the System of Internal Control

The Risk and Control Framework

The system of internal control is designed to manage
risk to a reasonable level rather than to eliminate all risk
of failure to achieve policies, aims and objectives; it can
therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute
assurance of effectiveness. The system of internal
control is based on an ongoing process designed to:

UKTI’s risk management framework has been
constructed through the development of risk registers
for each business group within UKTI, in order to
ensure that the risks are identiﬁed and managed at the
operational level, in the ﬁrst instance. Procedures are
in place for ensuring that all aspects of risk
management and internal control are regularly
reviewed and reported on and for incorporating best
practice techniques when reporting risks and
identifying appropriate mitigation strategies. Initial
evaluations, which are carried out at the operational
level, are ratiﬁed by senior management.

s IDENTIFY AND PRIORITISE THE RISKS TO THE ACHIEVEMENT
of organisational policies, aims and objectives,
s EVALUATE THE LIKELIHOOD OF THOSE RISKS BEING REALISED
and their impact should they be realised, and
s MANAGE RISKS EFlCIENTLY EFFECTIVELY AND ECONOMICALLY
The system of internal control has been in place in UKTI
for the year ended 31 March 2009 and up to the date of
approval of the annual report and accounts, and accords
with Treasury guidance.
Capacity to Handle Risk
During 2008–09, UKTI revised its risk management
framework to take account of the Board’s desire for
a more strategic approach. The corporate risk register
is now formally reviewed at each Executive Board and
Audit Committee meeting. In addition, discussions
around speciﬁc risks take place when the cause for
concern increases. Each risk is rated for its impact,
probability, movement and relative positioning.
As Accounting Ofﬁcer, I take risk management
extremely seriously and ensure that senior
management focus attention on those risk areas
which could prevent the achievement of my
organisation’s objectives (details follow under risk
and control framework).
Work is ongoing to embed risk management into
the organisational culture, including its incorporation
into business plans at all levels; project plans; business
programmes and the procurement process. Risk
management is referenced in induction training
courses and staff are encouraged to take an active
part in informing and updating operational level risk
registers. Guidance for all staff is made available on
the organisation’s intranet as well as the material made
available by our parent departments. Membership of
HM Treasury’s Risk Improvement Management Network
and BERR’s Agencies Risk Management Network ensure
that we keep up to date with best practice on
risk management.
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The group registers are formally reviewed and updated
at least bi-monthly and inform the corporate level risk
register which re ects all higher level risks. The
corporate risk register is formally presented and
discussed at each Executive Board and Audit Committee
meeting. Named senior managers have responsibility for
risk ownership. Risk priorities for UKTI centre on: the
global economic downturn and its impact on business,
transformational change, data protection and meeting
our key strategic objectives.
A risk management policy that forms part of UKTI’s
internal control and corporate governance arrangements
has been designed to be consistent with best practice
and forms the basis of the risk control framework.
Risk assessment and management are built into all
operational activities and into the governance
arrangements for project and programme management.
Levels of risk appetite in relation to the risk themes,
which appear in the corporate risk register, have been
agreed by senior managers and communicated to staff.
The internal auditors report regularly on risk
management processes to ensure that UKTI keeps
abreast of current developments in the ﬁeld of corporate
governance. A programme of work carried out by
internal auditors also provides assurance that control
processes are working effectively within UKTI.
The Executive Board and the Audit Committee have
also provided valuable advice and guidance on the
appropriateness of risk management processes operating
within the organisation.

Review of Effectiveness
As Accounting Ofﬁcer, I also have responsibility for
reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal
control. My review of the effectiveness of the system
of internal control is informed by the work of the
internal auditors and the executive managers within
UKTI who have responsibility for the development and
maintenance of the internal control framework, and
comments made by the external auditors in their
management letter and other reports. I have been
advised on the implications of the result of my review
of the effectiveness of the system of internal control
by the Executive Board and the Audit Committee and
plan to address weaknesses and ensure continuous
improvement of the system is in place.

s

The system of internal control is under constant review,
and when speciﬁc weaknesses are identiﬁed, an action
plan is drawn up to address them. Immediate action is
taken where the risks are considered to be unacceptable.
Action plans are in place to address all of the weaknesses
identiﬁed during the accounting period, and up to the
date of the signing of the 2008–09 Annual Report and
Accounts. During the accounting period, risk
management was supported by the following processes:

s

s AN %XECUTIVE "OARD CONSISTING OF OUR SIX $IRECTORS
three Non-Executive Board Members and me, meets
at least six times a year and collectively provides
leadership and strategic direction including the
assessment and management of the principal risks
to the organisation and review of key ﬁnancial data,
s AN !UDIT #OMMITTEE WHICH MET FOUR TIMES DURING
the year, includes all of the Non-Executive Board
Members, with one as chair, and an independent
member from the Ministry of Defence. In addition,
representatives from the NAO, Internal Audit and
senior ﬁnance managers from UKTI, BERR and the
FCO usually attend. The Audit Committee regularly
reviews the risk management framework and gets
assurance from management on the appropriateness
of mitigation strategies,
s THE ORGANISATION HAS THE SERVICES OF THE )NTERNAL
Audit units of BERR and the FCO, which operate to
the Government Internal Audit Standards. They
submit reports after each assignment, which include
recommendations for improvement. The Head of
Internal Audit for UKTI issues a report, which
includes an independent opinion on the adequacy
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and effectiveness of UKTI’s system of internal
control, based on their work for the year,
THE %XECUTIVE 4EAM WHICH CONSISTS OF ALL THE
Managing Directors and me, meet regularly to
discuss performance against targets,
THE 2%0 WHOSE ROLE IS TO SCRUTINISE PROPOSALS FOR
competitive and single tender spending to ensure
that resource allocation, business planning and
expenditure proposals are supported by sound,
robust business cases, and to make recommendations
to the Executive Board,
THE )#4 0ROGRAMME "OARD WHOSE ROLE IS TO DElNE
UKTI’s Information Communication Technology (ICT)
strategy and to provide the link between business
objectives and ICT investments and also to ensure
that ICT project governance processes and best
practice are applied across UKTI,
ATTENDANCE AT MEETINGS OF (- 4REASURYS 2ISK
Improvement Management Network and BERR’s
Agencies Risk Management Network in order to
keep in touch with best practice,
FORMAL MONTHLY -ANAGEMENT 5NIT &INANCE /FlCER
meetings with my Central Finance Team to discuss
any ﬁnancial issues arising, and
POSITIVE ASSURANCE PROVIDED BY MY DIRECTORS WHO
each consider the signiﬁcant risks they manage
and provide me annually, at the year-end, with a
written formal assertion covering the effectiveness
of the internal controls operating in each of their
business groups.

Together, these processes provide me with assurance
that appropriate risk management strategies are in place
throughout UKTI.
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Data Handling
Following the Cabinet Ofﬁce’s review of data handling
and security, UKTI has made good progress in
implementing the requirements now expected of it.
All the key actions have now been implemented.
UKTI assesses data handling risks on a quarterly basis.
During 2008–09, UKTI had no reportable data losses.
UKTI has a designated Information Technology Security
Ofﬁcer (ITSO) and a Board level Senior Information Risk
Owner (SIRO). UKTI has identiﬁed all the personal
datasets across the organisation and conﬁrmed that no
personal sensitive datasets are stored or processed.
UKTI’s security and information management teams
continue to work together to ensure the requirements
and associated guidance issued by the Cabinet Ofﬁce
are clearly understood by users and key stakeholders.
The cross-Government review of data handling
procedures has resulted in UKTI taking a number
of steps to ensure best practice is understood and
embedded across the organisation. Data governance
arrangements have been strengthened so that all
identiﬁed data systems have a suitable senior identiﬁed
data owner in place to ensure the security of data.
BERR have taken the following step that directly affects
UKTI HQ:
s )NSTALLED DESKTOP ENCRYPTION ACROSS "%22S )4 SYSTEM
resulting in USB ports being re-opened.
In addition, UKTI have taken the following speciﬁc
actions:
s LOADED APPROVED ENCRYPTION SOFTWARE ONTO ALL LAPTOPS
used in UKTI HQ and in UKTI Regional Teams,
s ISSUED TO 5+4) 2EGIONAL 4EAMS DETAILS ON THE
installation of approved encryption products on
any locally sourced non-encrypted laptops, and
s WORKED WITH THE &#/ TO ENCRYPT ALL LAPTOPS USED
by UKTI’s teams overseas where this does not
contravene local laws on the use of encryption
software.
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During 2009–10, UKTI, through BERR and the FCO,
will be introducing mandatory training for data users,
and key stakeholders as Cabinet Ofﬁce sponsored
e-learning packages are released by the National
School of Government.
There were no signiﬁcant internal control issues during
the course of 2008–09. Where weaknesses in the control
environment were identiﬁed, action to strengthen
control has taken place or is planned.

Sir Andrew Cahn KCMG
Accounting Ofﬁcer
10 July 2009

6.5 The Certiﬁcate and Report of the Comptroller and
Auditor General to the House of Commons

or if information speciﬁed by HM Treasury regarding
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

I certify that I have audited the ﬁnancial statements of
UK Trade & Investment for the year ended 31 March
2009 under the Government Resources and Accounts
Act 2000. These comprise the Statement of
Parliamentary Supply, the Operating Cost Statement, the
Balance Sheet, the Cash Flow Statement and the
Statement of Net Operating Costs by Departmental
Strategic Objectives and the related notes. These
ﬁnancial statements have been prepared under the
accounting policies set out within them.

I review whether the Statement on Internal Control
re ects the Department’s compliance with HM Treasury’s
guidance, and I report if it does not. I am not required to
consider whether this statement covers all risks and
controls, or to form an opinion on the effectiveness of
the Department’s corporate governance procedures or its
risk and control procedures.

Respective Responsibilities of the Accounting Ofﬁcer
and Auditor
The Accounting Ofﬁcer is responsible for preparing the
Annual Report, which includes the Remuneration Report,
and the ﬁnancial statements in accordance with the
Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000 and
HM Treasury directions made thereunder and for
ensuring the regularity of ﬁnancial transactions.
These responsibilities are set out in the Statement of
Accounting Ofﬁcer’s Responsibilities.
My responsibility is to audit the ﬁnancial statements in
accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements, and with International Standards on
Auditing (UK and Ireland).
I report to you my opinion as to whether the ﬁnancial
statements give a true and fair view and whether the
ﬁnancial statements have been properly prepared in
accordance with HM Treasury directions issued under
the Government Resources and Accounts Act 2000. I
report to you whether, in my opinion, the information
which comprises the UK Trade & Investment Board,
Corporate Responsibility, Management Commentary,
and UKTI’s Achievement Against Targets, included in the
Annual Report, is consistent with the ﬁnancial
statements. I also report whether in all material respects
the expenditure and income have been applied to the
purposes intended by Parliament and the ﬁnancial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern
them.
In addition, I report to you if the Department has not
kept proper accounting records, if I have not received all
the information and explanations I require for my audit,
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I read the other information contained in the Annual
Report and consider whether it is consistent with the
audited ﬁnancial statements. I consider the implications
for my certiﬁcate if I become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the
ﬁnancial statements. My responsibilities do not extend
to any other information.
Basis of Audit Opinions
I conducted my audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. My audit includes
examination, on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the
amounts, disclosures and regularity of ﬁnancial
transactions included in the ﬁnancial statements and the
part of the Remuneration Report to be audited. It also
includes an assessment of the signiﬁcant estimates and
judgments made by the Accounting Ofﬁcer in the
preparation of the ﬁnancial statements, and of whether
the accounting policies are most appropriate to the
Department’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.
I planned and performed my audit so as to obtain all the
information and explanations which I considered
necessary in order to provide me with sufﬁcient
evidence to give reasonable assurance that the ﬁnancial
statements and the part of the Remuneration Report to
be audited are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or error, and that in all material
respects the expenditure and income have been applied
to the purposes intended by Parliament and the ﬁnancial
transactions conform to the authorities which govern
them. In forming my opinion I also evaluated the overall
adequacy of the presentation of information in the
ﬁnancial statements.
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Opinions

Report

Audit Opinion
In my opinion:

I have no observations to make on these ﬁnancial
statements.

s THE lNANCIAL STATEMENTS GIVE A TRUE AND FAIR VIEW
in accordance with the Government Resources and
Accounts Act 2000 and directions made thereunder
by HM Treasury, of the state of the Department’s
affairs as at 31 March 2009, and the net cash
requirement, net resource outturn, net operating
cost, net operating costs applied to departmental
strategic objectives and cash ows for the year
then ended,
s THE lNANCIAL STATEMENTS HAVE BEEN PROPERLY PREPARED
in accordance with HM Treasury directions issued
under the Government Resources and Accounts Act
2000, and
s INFORMATION WHICH COMPRISES THE 5+ 4RADE 
Investment Board, Corporate Responsibility,
Management Commentary, and UKTI’s Achievement
Against Targets, included within the Annual Report,
is consistent with the ﬁnancial statements.
Audit Opinion on Regularity
In my opinion, in all material respects, the expenditure
and income have been applied to the purposes intended
by Parliament and the ﬁnancial transactions conform to
the authorities which govern them.
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Amyas C E Morse
Comptroller and Auditor General
14 July 2009
National Audit Ofﬁce
151 Buckingham Palace Road
Victoria
London SW1W 9SS
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Accounts 2008–09

6.6 Statement of Parliamentary Supply
Summary of Resource Outturn 2008–09

Estimate
Request for
resources

RfR 1 Trade
development and
promotion and
inward investment

Outturn

2008–09
£000
Net total
Outturn
compared
with
Estimate:
saving/
(excess)

2007–08
Outturn
(restated)

Note

Gross
expenditure

A-in-A

Net total

Gross
expenditure

A-in-A

Net total

2

95,985

(4,458)

91,527

95,385

(4,458)

90,927

600

90,167

95,985

(4,458)

91,527

95,385

(4,458)

90,927

600

90,167

Total resources

Net total

Explanations of variances between Outturn against Estimate are given on page 75.

Net Cash Requirement 2008–09
2008–09
£000

Net Cash Requirement

Note

Estimate

3

93,467

2007–08
£000
(restated)

Net total outturn
compared with
Estimate: saving/
(excess)
Outturn

92,034

Outturn

1,433

94,395

The saving can be further analysed as £1,349k at bank and £84k undrawn supply. The “saving” relates to the cash ow
timing differences.

Summary of Income Payable to the Consolidated Fund 2008–09
In addition to appropriations-in-aid, the following income relates to the department and is payable to the Consolidated Fund
(cash receipts being shown in italics):
Forecast 2008–09
£000

Total income payable to the
Consolidated Fund

Outturn 2008–09
£000

Note

Income

Receipts

Income

Receipts

4

–

–

116

5

The notes on pages 96 to 112 form part of these accounts.
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6.7 Operating Cost Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2009

Programme costs
Request for resources 1

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

Note

Staff costs

5

557

519

Expenditure

6

94,828

93,249

Income

7

Net operating cost

(4,570)

(3,601)

90,815

90,167

All income and expenditure are derived from continuing operations.

6.8 Statement of Recognised Gains and Losses
There were no recognised gains or losses for the year ended 31 March 2009, other than those shown in the Operating
Cost Statement.

The notes on pages 96 to 112 form part of these accounts.
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6.9 Balance Sheet
As at 31 March 2009
2009
£000

2008
£000
(restated)

Note
Fixed assets

Tangible assets

8

177

257

Intangible assets

9

16

20

Debtors (falling due after more
than one year)

10

193

277

–

203

Current assets

Debtors

10

4,299

2,659

Cash at bank and in hand

11

1,349

4,313

5,648

6,972

Creditors (amounts falling due
within one year)

12

(16,266)

(18,825)

Net current liabilities

(10,618)

(11,853)

Total assets less current liabilities

(10,425)

(11,373)

(10,425)

(11,373)

(10,425)

(11,373)

(10,425)

(11,373)

Taxpayers’ equity

General fund

13

Sir Andrew Cahn KCMG
Accounting Ofﬁcer

10 July 2009

The notes on pages 96 to 112 form part of these accounts.
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6.10 Cash Flow Statement
For the year ended 31 March 2009
2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

Note

Net cash out ow from operating activities

14.1

(92,006)

(94,338)

Capital expenditure and ﬁnancial investment

14.2

(28)

(57)

Receipts due to the Consolidated Fund which are
outside the scope of the organisation’s activities

4

5

56

Payments of amounts due to the
Consolidated Fund

4

(5)

(56)

Financing

14.4

89,070

96,303

(Decrease)/Increase in cash in the period

14.5

(2,964)

1,908

6.11 Statement of Net Operating Costs by Departmental Strategic Objectives
For the year ended 31 March 2009
Objective
To enhance the competitiveness of companies in the UK through overseas trade and investments, and to attract a continuing high
level of quality foreign direct investment.

Sub-objectives
2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

Gross

Income

Net

Gross

Income

Net

Sub-objective 1: To enhance the
competitiveness of companies in the UK through
overseas trade and investments

63,516

(4,570)

58,946

61,187

(3,601)

57,586

Sub-objective 2: To attract a continuing high
level of quality foreign direct investment

31,869

–

31,869

32,581

–

32,581

Net operating costs

95,385

(4,570)

90,815

93,768

(3,601)

90,167

Resources that have been consumed by both BERR and the FCO in meeting UKTI’s sub-objectives 1 and 2 above are detailed in
the Memorandum Notes to these accounts.

Previous years ﬁgures (2007–08) have been restated as a result of Machinery of Government changes, the details of which appear
in note 22 on page 111.

The notes on pages 96 to 112 form part of these accounts.
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6.12 Notes to the 2008–09 Accounts
1.1. Statement of Accounting Policies

1.4 Tangible Fixed Assets

These ﬁnancial statements have been prepared in accordance
with the 2008–09 Government Financial Reporting Manual
(FReM) issued by HM Treasury. The accounting policies
contained in the FReM follow UK generally accepted
accounting practice for companies (UK GAAP) to the extent
that it is meaningful and appropriate to the public sector.

Tangible ﬁxed assets purchased by UKTI, and where the risks
and rewards of ownership lie with UKTI, are stated at the lower
of replacement cost and recoverable amount.

In addition to the primary statements prepared under UK
GAAP, the FReM also requires UKTI to prepare two additional
primary statements. The Statement of Parliamentary Supply
and supporting notes show outturn against Estimate in terms
of the net resource requirement and the Net Cash Requirement.
The Statement of Net Operating Cost by Departmental Strategic
Objectives and supporting notes analyse UKTI’s income and
expenditure by the sub-objectives agreed with Ministers.
Where the FReM permits a choice of accounting policy,
the accounting policy which has been judged to be most
appropriate to the particular circumstances of UKTI for the
purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. UKTI’s
accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing
with items considered material in relation to the accounts.

UKTI’s capitalisation threshold for tangible ﬁxed assets is
£1,000, except for furniture assets, where all expenditure in one
ﬁnancial year is pooled and capitalised, and IT hardware where
a pack of equipment purchased under the Flexible Computing
Programme (FCP), with a cost in excess of £1,000, is capitalised
as one asset.
In accordance with the FReM, the UKTI has opted to value
tangible ﬁxed assets on a depreciated historical cost basis, as a
proxy for current cost. Therefore, with effect from 1 April 2008,
UKTI ceased to use indices to restate tangible ﬁxed assets to
current cost.
Much of the business of UKTI is conducted through the ofﬁces
of BERR and the FCO. The use of these departments’ assets
is re ected in appropriate cost allocations, which appear as
Memorandum Notes to these accounts. Control and beneﬁcial
interest in these tangible ﬁxed assets vest in BERR and the FCO,
who re ect their total value in their respective balance sheets.

1.2 Accounting Convention
1.5 Depreciation
These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost
convention modiﬁed to account for the revaluation of ﬁxed
assets.
1.3 Basis of Accounting
These accounts cover all activities for which the Chief Executive
of UKTI has Principal Accounting Ofﬁcer responsibility. They
cover all income, expenditure, gains, losses, assets, liabilities
and cash ows which do not appear in the annual report and
accounts of either of the two parent departments, the FCO, and
BERR.
Because Accounting Ofﬁcer responsibility for the cost of
administering UKTI’s programmes currently remains with one
or other of its two parent departments, these accounts report
only on the programme activities and resources of UKTI in the
primary statements and related notes. Indicative administration
and programme expenditure and the cost of the associated
assets used are included by way of Memorandum Notes to the
accounts (pages 113 to 117).
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Tangible ﬁxed assets are depreciated at rates calculated to
write them down to their estimated residual value on a straight
line basis over their estimated useful lives. Assets are normally
depreciated over the following periods:
IT Assets
Ofﬁce Machinery

3 to 5 years
5 years

1.6 Intangible Fixed Assets
Intangible ﬁxed assets are stated at the lower of amortised
replacement cost and recoverable amount. The minimum level
of capitalisation of an intangible ﬁxed asset is £1,000. Software
licences are amortised on a straight line basis over the shorter
of the term of the licence and the useful economic life. The
amortisation period is normally three to ﬁve years.
1.7 Research and Development
Expenditure on research and development is treated as an
operating cost in the year in which it is incurred.

1.8 Operating Income
Operating income is income which relates directly to the
operating activities of UKTI. It principally comprises fees and
charges for services provided to external customers. It includes
not only income appropriated in aid of the Estimate but
also any income payable to the Consolidated Fund which, in
accordance with the FReM, should be treated as operating
income. Operating income is stated net of VAT.
1.9 Administration and Programme Expenditure
The Operating Cost Statement shows programme costs only.
Programme costs are non-administration costs including
payments of grants and other disbursements by UKTI, as well
as certain staff costs where they relate directly to front-line
service delivery. Administration costs are the costs of running
UKTI as deﬁned under the administrative cost-control regime.
UKTI is not, however, reporting on its administration costs in its
primary statements.

annual reports and accounts. The amounts incurred in respect
of those staff working for UKTI are shown in the Memorandum
Notes to these accounts.
1.13 Private Finance Initiative (PFI) Transactions
PFI transactions have been accounted for in accordance with
Technical Note No 1 (Revised), entitled “How to Account for
PFI Transactions”, as required by the FReM. Where the balance
of the risks and rewards of ownership of the PFI property is
borne by the PFI operator the PFI payments are recorded as an
operating cost.
1.14 Grants Payable
Grants payable are recorded as expenditure in the period that
the underlying event or activity giving entitlement to the grant
occurs. Grants related to activity occurring over a speciﬁc time
period (usually a ﬁnancial year) are recorded as expenditure for
that period.
1.15 Value Added Tax

1.10 Capital Charge
A charge, re ecting the cost of capital utilised by UKTI is
included in operating costs. The charge is calculated at the
real rate set by HM Treasury (currently 3.5%) on the average
carrying amount of all assets fewer liabilities, except for:

Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure
category or included in the capitalised purchase cost of ﬁxed
assets. Where output tax is charged or input VAT is recoverable,
the amounts are stated net of VAT.
1.16 Comparative Amounts

i.

cash balances with the Ofﬁce of the Paymaster General,
where the charge is nil, and
ii. balances owed to or due from the Consolidated Fund,
where the charge is nil.

Comparative amounts are restated where necessary to conform
to current presentation.

1.11 Foreign Exchange
Transactions which are undertaken in the UK and are
denominated in a foreign currency are translated into sterling
at the exchange rate ruling on the date of the transaction.
Current assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currency
are translated into sterling at the date on which they are
recorded in the accounts, on average no more than 30
days prior to the balance sheet date. UKTI does not have
the authority to undertake exchange rate risk management
(hedging) and as a consequence all gains or losses on exchange
differences are charged direct to the Operating Cost Statement
during the period in which they occur.
1.12 Pensions
Staff working for UKTI are employees of either BERR or the
FCO. Past and present employees are covered by the provisions
of the Civil Service Pension Schemes. BERR and the FCO
recognise the relevant costs for the year in their respective
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2. Analysis of Net Resource Outturn by Section

Other
current

Grants

Gross
resource
expenditure

A-in-A

2007–08
£000

Outturn

2008–09
£000
Estimate

Net total

Net total outturn
compared with
Net total
Estimate

Prior year
outturn
(restated)

RfR 1: To enhance the competitiveness of companies in the UK through
overseas trade and investments, and attract a continuing high level of quality
foreign direct investment
Central Government spending
A Trade development and promotion and inward investment

Resource
outturn

78,575

16,810

95,385

(4,458)

90,927

91,527

(600)

90,167

78,575

16,810

95,385

(4,458)

90,927

91,527

(600)

90,167

3. Reconciliation of Resources to Cash Requirement
2008–09
£000
Estimate

Outturn

Net total Outturn compared
with Estimate: saving/(excess)

91,527

90,927

600

8,9

48

28

20

6

(108)

47

(155)

15.1

2,000

1,144

856

7.2

–

(112)

112

93,467

92,034

1,433

Note

Net resource outturn
Capital
Acquisition of ﬁxed assets
Accruals adjustments
Non-cash items
Changes in working capital
other than cash
Excess cash receipts
surrenderable to the
Consolidated Fund
Net Cash Requirement

The difference between the estimated change in working capital and the outturn was mainly due to additional cash requested in
anticipation of paying more creditors, which did not materialise.
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4. Analysis of Income Payable to the Consolidated Fund
In addition to appropriations-in-aid, the following income relates to UKTI and is payable to the Consolidated Fund (cash receipts
being shown in italics):
Forecast 2008–09
£000

Outturn 2008–09
£000

Income

Receipts

Income

Receipts

Excess Appropriations in Aid

–

–

112

–

Other amounts collectable on behalf of the
Consolidated Fund

–

–

4

5

–

–

116

5

5. Numbers and Costs of People Engaged in Delivering UKTI’s Objective
Most personnel engaged on UKTI business are employees of either BERR or the FCO and details are shown in Memorandum
Note 3. Contributions to the costs of employing International Business Specialists, seconded from private sector organisations for
periods of up to ﬁve years, are made to the seconding organisations. The organisation also uses consultants for specialist tasks.
Details are:
2008–09

2007–08

Sub-objective 1: To enhance the competitiveness of companies in the UK
through overseas trade and investments

7

8

Sub-objective 2: To attract a continuing high level of quality foreign
direct investment

3

4

10

12

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000

557

519

Average full time equivalent number of international business specialists and
consultants

Staff costs
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6. Non-Staff Programme Costs

Current grants
PFI service charges: off-balance sheet contracts

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

16,810

17,230

3,749

Consultancy

3,712

8,530

6,667

External services

25,115

26,117

Customer grants

10,292

10,907

Promotions and publications

10,587

9,602

Events

12,728

12,001

7,064

7,059

Other costs
Non-cash items
Depreciation

105

137

Amortisation

6

10

Revaluation of ﬁxed assets

–

(34)

Loss on disposal of ﬁxed assets
Cost of capital (credit)

1

21

(159)

(180)
(47)

Non-staff programme expenditure

(46)
78,018

76,019

94,828

93,249

External services consist mainly of costs for International Trade Teams, Passport, High Growth Markets (new programme) and the
Export Market Research Scheme.

6.1 Consultancy Spend
The outturn for consultancy in 2008–09 was £8.5m (2007–08 £6.7m). The increased spend was mainly the result of a planned
upswing in inward investment activity, in particular in relation to R&D. Consultancy spend includes payments to contractors for
third party delivery of UKTI services, and technical and economic consultancy support.
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7. Income
7.1.

Operating Income

Fees and charges to external customers for market information reports
Other charges

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

3,634

2,172

936

1,429

4,570

3,601

An analysis of income from services provided to external customers is as follows:
2008–09
£000
Service

2007–08
£000

Income

Full cost

Deﬁcit

Income

Full cost

Deﬁcit

3,634

5,593

(1,959)

2,172

3,079

(907)

Provision of overseas market information to
UK exporters

This information is provided for fees and charges purposes.

7.2. Reconciliation of Income Recorded within the Operating Cost Statement to Operating Income Payable to
the Consolidated Fund
2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

4,570

3,601

(4,458)

(3,601)

112

–

Note

Operating Income
Less Income authorised to be Appropriated-in-Aid
Operating Income Payable to the Consolidated Fund
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8. Tangible Fixed Assets
Information technology
£000

Ofﬁce machinery
£000

Total
£000

661

119

780

Additions

–

26

26

Disposals

(118)

(61)

(179)

–

–

–

543

84

627

At 1 April 2008

(414)

(109)

(523)

Charge in year

(100)

(5)

(105)

117

61

178

Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2008

Revaluations
At 31 March 2009
Depreciation

Disposals
Revaluations

–

–

–

(397)

(53)

(450)

Net book value at 31 March 2009

146

31

177

Net book value at 31 March 2008

247

10

257

Owned

146

31

177

Net book value at 31 March 2009

146

31

177

At 31 March 2009

Asset ﬁnancing

9. Intangible Fixed Assets
Purchased software licences
£000
Cost or valuation

At 1 April 2008

23

Additions

2

Disposals

–

At 31 March 2009

25

Amortisation

At 1 April 2008

(3)

Charge in year

(6)

Disposals

–

At 31 March 2009

(9)

Net book value at 31 March 2009

16

Net book value at 31 March 2008

20
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10. Debtors
Analysis by type
31 March 2009
£000

31 March 2008
£000

1,750

371

799

490

1

1

1,532

1,690

217

107

4,299

2,659

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade debtors
VAT
Other debtors
PFI prepayment
Other prepayments and accrued income

Included within trade debtors is £112k (2007–08 £1k), which will be paid to the Consolidated Fund on receipt.
31 March 2009
£000

31 March 2008
£000

PFI prepayments

–

203

Other prepayments and accrued income

–

–

–

203

Amounts falling due after more than one year

Intra-government balances
Amounts falling due within Amounts falling due after more than
one year
one year
£000
£000

Balances with other central government bodies
Balances with other local government bodies
Balances with public corporations and trading funds

31 March 2009

31 March 2008

31 March 2009

31 March 2008

2,187

798

–

–

250

–

–

–

–

–

–

–

Intra-government balances

2,437

798

–

–

Balances with bodies external to government

1,862

1,861

–

203

4,299

2,659

–

203
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11. Cash at Bank and in Hand
2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000

4,313

2,405

(2,964)

1,908

1,349

4,313

Ofﬁce of HM Paymaster General

976

3,994

Commercial banks

373

319

1,349

4,313

31 March 2009
£000

31 March 2008
£000

1,627

3,457

13,178

11,054

1,349

4,313

Balance at 1 April
Net change in cash balances:
Balance at 31 March
The following balances at 31 March were held at

Balance at 31 March

12. Creditors
Analysis by type

Amounts falling due within one year

Trade creditors
Accruals and deferred income
Amounts issued from the Consolidated Fund for
Supply but not spent at year end
Consolidated Fund Extra Receipts due to be paid to
the Consolidated Fund
Received
Receivable

–

–

112

1

16,266

18,825

31 March 2009
£000

31 March 2008
£000

3,084

6,814

3

17

124

119

Intra-government balances
Amounts falling due within one year

Balances with other central government bodies
Balances with local authorities
Balances with public corporations and trading funds
Intra-government balances
Balances with bodies external to government
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3,211

6,950

13,055

11,875

16,266

18,825

13. General Fund
The general fund represents the total assets less liabilities to the extent that the total is not represented by other reserves
and ﬁnancing items.

Balance at 1 April

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

(11,373)

(15,421)

Net Parliamentary funding
Drawn down
Deemed supply
Net ﬁnancing from Contingencies Fund

89,070

96,303

4,313

2,405
93,383

98,708

–

–

(1,349)

(4,313)

(112)

–

(90,815)

(90,167)

Year end adjustment:
Supply creditor
CFER Excess A-in-A
Net transfer from operating activities: net operating
cost
Non-cash charges: cost of capital credit
Balance at 31 March
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14. Notes to the Cash Flow Statement
14.1 Reconciliation of operating cost to operating cash ﬂows
2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

Note

Net operating cost

90,815

90,167

6

47

46

Increase/(decrease) in debtors

10

1,437

37

Decrease/(increase) in creditors

12

2,559

2,180

Add movements in creditors relating to
items not passing through the Operating
Cost Statement

12

(2,852)

1,908

92,006

94,338

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000

26

39

2

18

28

57

Adjustments for non-cash transactions

Net cash outﬂow from operating activities

14.2 Analysis of capital expenditure and ﬁnancial investment

Tangible ﬁxed asset additions
Intangible ﬁxed asset additions
Net cash outﬂow from investing activities
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14.3 Analysis of capital expenditure and ﬁnancial investment by request for resources

Request for resources 1

Note

Capital expenditure
£000

8,9

28

Net movement in debtors/creditors

–

Total 2008–09

28

Total 2007–08

57

14.4 Analysis of ﬁnancing
2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

89,070

96,303

–

6,000

Note

From the Consolidated Fund (Supply) –
current year

13

Advance from Contingency Fund
Repayments to Contingency Fund
Net ﬁnancing

–

(6,000)

89,070

96,303

14.5 Reconciliation of net cash requirement to increase/(decrease) in cash
2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

(92,034)

(94,395)

89,070

96,303

–

–

–

–

(2,964)

1,908

Note

Net Cash Requirement
From the Consolidated Fund (Supply) –
current year

13

Amounts due to the Consolidated Fund –
received in a prior year and paid over
Receipts due to BERR
(Decrease)/Increase in cash
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15. Note to Statement of Net Operating Costs by Departmental Strategic Objectives
All programme costs of UKTI have been directly attributed to sub-objectives and there has been no apportionment between
sub-objectives except for the attribution of the cost of capital credit which has been apportioned on the basis of capital
employed where known or the proportion of expenditure where not known. Net average capital employed has been allocated
to sub-objectives on the basis of use.

15.1 Capital Employed by Departmental Aims and Objectives at 31 March 2009
2008–09
£000
Net average capital
employed

Cost of capital
credit

Sub-objective 1

(7,490)

Sub–objective 2

(2,937)
(10,427)

2007–08
£000
Net average capital
employed

Cost of capital
credit

(111)

(9,308)

(128)

(48)

(3,759)

(52)

(159)

(13,067)

(180)

16. Commitments under PFI Contracts
UKTI has entered into the following off-balance sheet PFI contract.

ELGAR
UKTI’s HQ utilises BERR’s ELGAR contract with Fujitsu to deliver key e-business projects to support services to customers and staff.
In BERR, ELGAR covers the provision of a wide range of information systems and services including IT infrastructure management,
IT development, business process re-engineering, consultancy advice and technology refresh. Under this agreement Fujitsu was also
contracted to develop projects identiﬁed as part of UKTI’s e-business strategy, which was ﬁrst published in November 2000.
UKTI’s agreement under the contract for its e-business projects started during 2000–01 and is due to expire in 2009–10.
The public-facing elements of UKTI’s new portal and customer relationship management (CRM) system went live on a pilot basis
during 2004–05. Managed service charges in respect of these services became payable from October 2004. The service charges
for the portal (provision of system, hosting, development and support) and CRM (provision of system, hosting and support) are
being paid annually in advance. As a result £240,000 was transferred to the balance sheet as a prepayment for services due to be
received in the ﬁrst six months of 2009–10. Payments for the initial development of the CRM application are being made monthly
in arrears.
During 2008–09 further enhancements were made to the public-facing element of the Portal and CRM applications, for which
£376,094 was recorded in the accounts as paid or payable.
The current estimated total capital value for the public web-based services provided under the agreement is £6.99m
(2007–08 £6.97m).
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Charge to the Operating Cost Statement and Future Commitments
The total amount charged to the Operating Cost Statement in respect of the managed service element of off-balance sheet PFI
transactions was £3.75m (2007–08 £3.71m); and the charges to which UKTI is committed during 2009–10, analysed by the period
during which the commitment expires, is as follows:

Expiry within one year
Expiry within two to ﬁve years

2009–10
£000

2008–09
£000

1,975

200

–

3,546

1,975

3,746

17. Losses and Special Payments
During 2008–09 UKTI made no special payments and had no reportable losses.

18. Financial Instruments
Due to the largely non-trading nature of UKTI’s activities and the way in which government departments are ﬁnanced, UKTI is
not exposed to the degree of ﬁnancial risk faced by business entities. Financial assets and liabilities are generated by day-to-day
operational activities and are not held to change the risks facing UKTI in undertaking its activities.

Liquidity, interest rate and foreign currency risk
Resources voted annually by Parliament ﬁnance UKTI’s net resource and capital requirements. UKTI is not therefore exposed to
signiﬁcant liquidity risks. UKTI does not access funds from commercial sources and so is not exposed to interest rate risk. UKTI’s
exposure to foreign currency risk is not signiﬁcant. Foreign currency income is negligible and foreign currency expenditure
accounts for less than 1% of total expenditure.
There is no material difference between the fair values and book values of UKTI’s ﬁnancial instruments.

19. Post Balance Sheet Events
19.1 Machinery of Government Change
On 5 June 2009, the Government created a new Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) whose key role will be
to build Britain’s capabilities to compete in the global economy. The Department was created by merging the Department for
Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform (BERR) and the Department for Innovation, Universities and Skills (DIUS).

19.2 Accounting Ofﬁcer Responsibility
Sir Andrew Cahn KCMG was UKTI’s Accounting Ofﬁcer until the 27 March 2009. He then took up responsibility as the Permanent
Secretary for BERR until the appointment of Simon Fraser and returned to UKTI on the 11 May 2009. There was an interim UKTI
Accounting Ofﬁcer, Dominic Jermey OBE, during the period 28 March 2009 to 10 May 2009 when the responsibility reverted back
to Sir Andrew Cahn.
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19.3 International Financial Reporting Standards
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) will be adopted by UKTI and other departments from 2009–10. A project team
HAS BEEN SET UP TO ENSURE THAT NEXT YEARS RESOURCE ACCOUNTS ARE )&23 COMPLIANT (- 4REASURY SET OUT A @TRIGGER POINT PROCESS FOR
Departments to manage the transition from FRS based accounts to IFRS accounts:
s 4RIGGER POINT 

n  3EPTEMBER  5+4) PREPARED AN )&23 RESTATED "ALANCE 3HEET AS AT  !PRIL 
and submitted it to the NAO.
s 4RIGGER POINT 
n  $ECEMBER  MARKED THE COMPLETION OF THE .!/S DRY RUN AUDIT 4HERE WERE NO SPECIlC
recommendations arising from the audit.
s 4RIGGER POINTS    n 2EFER TO THE FUTURE PREPARATION AND AUDIT OF @SHADOW )&23 lNANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR n

20. Related Party Transactions
UKTI is a joint operation between BERR and the FCO. These bodies are regarded as related parties with which UKTI has had various
material transactions during the year.
In addition, UKTI has had a small number of transactions with other government departments, central government bodies
or trading funds. Most of these transactions have been with the Advantage West Midlands, Yorkshire Forward, North West
Development Agency, Ministry of Defence, COI Communications and the London Development Agency.
No minister or member of the Executive Board of UKTI or other related party has undertaken any material transactions with UKTI
during the year.
Barry Stickings, a Non-Executive Board member of UKTI is also Chairman of Promethean Particles Ltd. Promethean Particles
applied for a Tradeshow Access Programme (TAP) support grant to attend the Nanotech 2009 exhibition in Japan on 18 February
2009. The amount of grant paid was £1,800. This was paid to Promethean via one of our Accredited Trade Organisations (ATO)
the Birmingham Chamber of Commerce and Industry (BCCI). BCCI organised a group of UK business exhibitors on our behalf and
they were responsible for managing the application process.
TAP support is available to all UK based “new” exporting SME businesses who wish to promote their products or services at
overseas exhibitions. Promethean’s application was dealt with against set eligibility criteria and the same procedures used for all
applications.
UKTI made a charitable donation of £500 to CBBC, towards the Sichuan Earthquake Appeal. As set out on page 25 of the report,
CBBC deliver a range of UKTI services in China for which UKTI paid a grant of £1.8m in 2008–09.

21. Contingent Liabilities disclosed under FRS 12
UKTI has no Contingent Liabilities.
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22. Restatement of Balance Sheet and Operating Cost Statement as a result of Machinery of
Government (MOG) changes
UKTI had one MOG change affecting its Estimates and Resource Accounts where functions or responsibilities were transferred
within Government.
On 1 April 2008 the Defence Export Service Organisation transferred to UKTI from the Ministry of Defence and was renamed the
Defence and Security Organisation.
MOG changes which involve the merger or the transfer of functions or responsibility of one part of the public service sector
to another, are accounted for using merger accounting in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard (FRS) 6. This requires
the restatement of the opening Balance Sheet and prior year’s Operating Cost Statement, Cash Flow Statement, Statement of
Operating Costs by Departmental Strategic Objectives and associated Notes to the Accounts. The Balance Sheet and the Operating
Cost Statement were restated as follows:

22.1 Operating Cost Statement
Published
2007–08
£000

Movements arising
on transfers
£000

Restated
2007–08
£000

519

–

519

Programme costs

89,613

3,636

93,249

Income

(2,325)

(1,276)

(3,601)

Net operating cost

87,807

2,360

90,167

Programme costs:
Request for Resources 1
Staff costs
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22.2 Balance Sheet
Published 2007–08
£000

Transfers
£000

Restated 2007–08
£000

257

–

257

20

–

20

–

–

–

–

–

–

203

–

203

2,659

–

2,659

–

–

–

4,313

–

4,313

Fixed assets:
Tangible assets
Intangible assets
Investments
Current assets:
Stocks
Debtors (amounts falling due after more than one year)
Debtors
Investments
Cash
Creditors (amounts falling due within one year)
Creditors (amounts falling due after more than one year)
Provisions

(18,825)
–

(18,825)
–

–

–

–

–

(11,373)

–

(11,373)

(11,373)

–

(11,373)

Taxpayers’ equity:
General fund
Revaluation reserve

–

–

–

(11,373)

–

(11,373)

At the transfer date UKTI took on no assets or liabilities relating to the Defence Export Service Organisation.

23. Date of Authorisation for issue of the Resource Accounts
The certiﬁcation by the Comptroller and Auditor General is considered to be the issue date of the entity’s resource accounts.
For these 2008–09 UKTI Resource Accounts the issue date is 14 July 2009, the accounts do not re ect any adjustment after
this date.
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Memorandum Notes on Total Resources Used to Deliver UKTI’s Services
These Memorandum Notes are not covered by the C&AG’s opinion on pages 89 to 90.
This section sets out the resources voted to, and used by, UKTI. It also includes an estimate of the total BERR and FCO resources
allocated to UKTI activity.
This re ects the shared governance arrangements between BERR, FCO and UKTI for the delivery of their shared departmental
strategic objectives for trade promotion and foreign direct inward investment.
UKTI’s total estimated resource and the cost of the associated assets used is shown in the following Memorandum Notes.

1. Statement of Net Operating Costs by Departmental Strategic Objectives
The Statement of Net Operating Costs by Departmental Strategic Objectives shows programme resources consumed in the meeting
of UKTI’s sub-objectives (see page 95).
Resources consumed by UKTI’s parent departments in meeting UKTI’s sub-objectives were as follows:
UKTI Programme

BERR Administration

FCO Admin and
Programme

Total

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

Sub-objective 1:
To enhance the
competitiveness
of companies in
the UK through
overseas trade and
investments

58,946

57,586

48,801

45,632

142,172

135,525

249,919

238,743

Sub-objective 2:
To attract a
continuing high level
of quality foreign
direct investment

31,869

32,581

6,924

8,123

34,525

36,115

73,318

76,819

Net operating costs

90,815

90,167

55,725

53,755

176,697

171,640

323,237

315,562

Within BERR and the FCO’s “Statement of Net Operating Costs by Departmental Strategic Objectives” UKTI is included under
Departmental Strategic Objective 1 and Departmental Strategic Objective 2 respectively.
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2. Operating Costs Statement
The Operating Costs Statement shows a further breakdown of the total estimated resources consumed in meeting UKTI’s
sub-objectives.

UKTI Programme
2008–09
£000
Note

BERR Administration

2007–08
£000
(restated)

FCO Admin and
Programme

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

2008–09
£000

Total

2007–08
£000
(restated)

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

Staff costs

3

557

519

30,519

29,234

51,371

43,384

82,447

73,137

Expenditure

4

94,828

93,249

25,206

24,521

125,326

128,256

245,360

246,026

Income

5

(4,570)

(3,601)

–

–

–

–

(4,570)

(3,601)

90,815

90,167

55,725

53,755

176,697

171,640

323,237

315,562

Net operating
cost
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3. Staff Numbers and Related Costs
Staff working for UKTI are employees of either BERR, FCO or from the private sector.
Staff costs consisted of:
UKTI Programme
2008–09
£000

BERR Administration
2007–08
£000

2008–09
£000

Permanent
staff

Other

Total

Total

Permanent
staff

Wages and
salaries

–

557

557

519

22,737

Social security
costs

–

–

–

–

1,838

–

Other pension
costs

–

–

–

–

4,578

Locally employed
staff costs

–

–

–

–

–

–

557

557

519

29,153

Less recoveries
for outward
secondments

–

–

–

–

(265)

Total net costs

–

557

557

519

28,888

FCO Admin and Programme
2007–08
£000
(restated)

2008–09
£000

Total

2007–08
£000
(restated)

2008–09 2007–08
£000
£000
(restated)

Total

Total

Permanent
staff

Other

Total

Total

Total

Total

1,631 24,368

23,107

14,984

–

14,984

14,034

39,909

37,660

1,838

1,842

465

–

465

600

2,303

2,442

–

4,578

4,488

2,189

–

2,189

2,106

6,767

6,594

–

–

–

33,733

–

33,733

26,644

33,733

26,644

1,631 30,784

29,437

51,371

–

51,371

43,384

82,712

73,340

Other

(265)

(203)

–

–

–

–

(265)

(203)

1,631 30,519

–

29,234

51,371

–

51,371

43,384

82,447

73,137

The average numbers of full-time equivalent persons employed during the year are shown in the table below. These are based
on ﬁgures supplied by BERR and the FCO to the Ofﬁce for National Statistics (ONS) in accordance with ONS guidance, Guide to
Ofﬁcial Statistics, 2000 edition, Chapter 17.2. The numbers are as follows:
UKTI

BERR

2008–09
FTE

Sub-objective 1:
To enhance the
competitiveness
of companies in
the UK through
overseas trade
and investment
Sub-objective 2:
To attract a
continuing high
level of quality
foreign direct
investment

2007–08
FTE

FCO

2008–
09 FTE

2007–08
FTE
(restated)

Total

2008–
09 FTE

2007–08
FTE
(restated)

2008–09 2007–08
FTE
FTE
(restated)

Permanent
staff

Other

Total

Total

Permanent
staff

Other

Total

Total

Permanent
staff

Other

Total

Total

Total

Total

–

7

7

8

372

64

436

483

1,045

–

1,045

978

1,488

1,469

–

3

3

4

200

31

231

167

257

–

257

261

491

432

–

10

10

12

572

95

667

650

1,302

–

1,302

1,239

1,979

1,901
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4. Non-Staff Costs
UKTI Programme

BERR Administration

FCO Admin and
Programme

Total

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

2008–09
£000

2007–08
£000
(restated)

16,810

17,230

–

–

–

–

16,810

17,230

Expenditure
Current grants
PFI service charges:
off-balance sheet
contracts

3,749

3,712

–

–

–

–

3,749

3,712

Consultancy

8,530

6,667

–

–

–

–

8,530

6,667

External services

25,115

26,117

–

–

–

–

25,115

26,117

Customer grants

10,292

10,907

–

–

–

–

10,292

10,907

Promotions and
publications

10,587

9,602

–

–

–

–

10,587

9,602

Events

12,728

12,001

–

–

–

–

12,728

12,001

–

–

14

23

–

–

14

23

Rentals under
operating leases
Accommodation

–

–

3,920

4,907

20,678

15,345

24,598

20,252

7,064

7,059

12,914

13,740

9,622

9,506

29,600

30,305

Depreciation

105

137

3

22

4,519

3,750

4,627

3,909

Other costs
Non-cash items
Amortisation

6

10

–

–

–

–

6

10

Revaluation of ﬁxed
assets

–

(34)

–

(32)

–

–

–

(66)

Loss on disposal of
ﬁxed assets

1

21

–

36

–

–

1

57

(159)

(180)

–

–

3,967

3,408

3,808

3,228

Apportionment of
central overheads
attributable to UKTI
activities (b)

–

–

8,327

5,802

86,512

96,227

94,839

102,029

Auditor’s
remuneration and
expenses (a)

–

–

28

23

28

20

56

43

94,828

93,249

25,206

24,521

125,326

128,256

245,360

246,026

Cost of capital
(credit)

Non staff
expenditure
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5. Income
The amounts included in the FCO’s ﬁnancial statements which underpin the ﬁgures shown in these Memorandum Notes include
apportioned income that is not directly attributable to UKTI’s activities. FCO income is therefore not identiﬁed separately but is
included as part of the net ﬁgures disclosed in Memorandum Notes 1 and 4.

6. Tangible Fixed Assets: Capital
Capital tangible ﬁxed assets used in the delivery of UKTI’s objective were as follows:
UKTI
£000

BERR
£000

FCO
£000

Total
£000

Net book value at 31 March 2009

177

1

–

178

Net book value at 31 March 2008

257

5

–

262

The FCO has purchased no tangible ﬁxed assets for the sole purpose of delivering UKTI’s objectives.
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Annexes

!..%8 ! n 4ECHNICAL .OTE ON -EASUREMENT OF &INANCIAL "ENElTS 'ENERATED BY 5+4) 4RADE 3ERVICES
Introduction
1. An estimate of total ﬁnancial beneﬁts generated by UKTI trade services is published annually in reports by OMB Research
on results from the Performance and Impact Monitoring Survey1. Results published at the end of March 2009, based on
data derived from surveys carried out during the ﬁnancial year 2008–09, reported estimated total beneﬁts of £3,640m. This
translates into a beneﬁt–cost ratio for UKTI trade services for the period of some £16:£1. For brieﬁng purposes, UKTI has
reported this ﬁgure rounded down to £3.6 billion.
2. The estimates re ect businesses’ own judgments about the value of additional proﬁts which they expect to achieve as a
direct result of the help provided. Evidence from businesses is gathered through surveys carried out by OMB Research, an
independent market research company specialising in business surveys. Interviews are conducted at two stages, the ﬁrst
being between 4–7 months of the support, and a follow up, with a smaller sample, a year later. Interviews are designed to
capture a rounded picture of the quality and impact of the support, taking into account the business context.
3. The values of ﬁnancial beneﬁt given by the ﬁrms themselves, in the context of PIMS interviews, are then adjusted downwards
through application of discounting and a number of robustness checks. These adjustments cover the following:
s Discounting: Expected future proﬁts are discounted at 8% and counted over a limited period, normally up to ﬁve years,
exceptionally up to a maximum of ten years. After this period, the discount rate is, in effect, increased to 100%.
s Additionality: Two separate additionality tests are applied. Beneﬁts which are not explicitly attributed by the client
directly to the support are excluded.
s Consistency: Additional proﬁts attributed to UKTI by the client are not counted unless the client has also reported
signiﬁcant impact on one or more qualitative indicators, showing how the service had enabled the additional proﬁts
to be made.
4. Details of these adjustments, and of their effects on the mean reported additional proﬁt attributable to UKTI support, are
published quarterly in the summary reports by OMB Research on PIMS results. A more detailed description is provided by
OMB Research in its full annual report on PIMS.
5. Analysis of PIMS data shows that the signiﬁcant qualitative impacts most frequently reported by UKTI clients who consider
that the support has enabled them to generate additional proﬁt are:
s
s
s
s
s
s

GAINED ACCESS TO CUSTOMERSBUSINESS PARTNERS NOT OTHERWISE AVAILABLE
GAINED ACCESS TO INFORMATION NOT OTHERWISE AVAILABLE
IMPROVED PROlLE OR CREDIBILITY OVERSEAS
IMPROVED KNOWLEDGE OF THE COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT
IMPROVED OVERSEAS MARKETING STRATEGY AND
GAINED THE CONlDENCE TO EXPLORE OR EXPAND IN AN OVERSEAS MARKET OR MARKETS

6. These ﬁndings conﬁrm that the reported ﬁnancial beneﬁt is generated as a result of UKTI trade services enabling clients to
upgrade their approach to overseas business and overcome barriers to accessing overseas opportunities.

1 The ﬁgure appears in two contexts: Summary Results (a PowerPoint slide pack) for PIMS waves 7–10 (slide 146) and for PIMS waves 11–14 (slide 149), and in the
annual full text report, which for PIMS 8–11, is in Table 1.3.6.4 Estimated Total Financial Beneﬁt – FY 2007/8, page 20. The full text report for 2009 will be published
in October 2009.
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Scope of Beneﬁts Measured
7. The £16:£1 beneﬁt cost ratio counts only the additional proﬁts attributable to UKTI trade services, net of the above
adjustments. It does not include any allowance for wider economic beneﬁts which are likely to occur through the following:
s Effects on jobs: Additional earnings are likely to accrue to staff in the supported ﬁrms, some of whom might otherwise be
unemployed or earning lower wages elsewhere. These beneﬁts are likely to be signiﬁcant, as academic research shows that
exporters have higher productivity and stronger ﬁnancial performance than non-exporters. Exporting ﬁrms are also some
11.4% more likely to survive. Accordingly they are likely to be able to offer better paid and more secure jobs.
s Effects of knowledge transfer to other UK ﬁrms: Beneﬁts are likely to occur through knowledge transfer from supported
ﬁrms to other UK ﬁrms, either through business networks or through movement of staff, or both. Recent surveys of users
and non-users of UKTI trade services show that nearly half report that they have taken on members of staff who had
brought with them expertise in doing business overseas, or speciﬁc overseas contacts, or both, which had been acquired
while employed by another ﬁrm.
s Effects on UK reputation in overseas markets: Promotional activity, which showcases UK capability and promotes the
reputation of the UK business in overseas markets, is likely to beneﬁt other UK ﬁrms, as well as those who take part directly
in the promotional events. Although difﬁcult to measure, these wider beneﬁts are expected to be substantial.
Other Possible Measures of Beneﬁt
8. Two other measures of economic beneﬁt which are sometimes used in evaluation of trade services or other business support
services are:
s Additional exports: This measure was commonly used in evaluations of trade services carried out in the UK prior to 2002,
and featured in the Public Service Agreement Targets for British Trade International for the period 1999–20022. For the
Spending Review period 2002–04 it was replaced by a measure of improved business performance of users of the trade
services, where performance was deﬁned in terms of improved productivity and proﬁtability3. This change re ects the
fact that export activity is not an end in itself, but beneﬁts the UK economy through enabling businesses to improve
their performance. Focus on additional exports can potentially be misaligned with the business development needs of
a company, whereas focus on a business performance improvement target ensures clear alignment with these needs.
s Gross value added (GVA): This measure is closer to the concept of improved business performance, and is often used in the
context of evaluating other forms of publicly funded business support. However, as the measure includes wages, there is a
need to take into account the likelihood that staff in the supported business might be able to earn similar wages in another
company or sector, possibly in another UK region. The measure should therefore be reported net of displaced alternative
wage earnings, either at regional or national level, as appropriate in context.
9. It should be noted that both of these alternative measures would give much larger headline beneﬁt numbers than the
additional proﬁt measure. In the case of additional exports, as the measure is gross of production costs, including purchased
inputs, using it would substantially overstate the contribution to the UK economy.
10. Additional GVA would be a more accurate measure of beneﬁt to the UK economy, assuming it is reported net of
displacement. However, UKTI has not identiﬁed examples of successful practical methodology for measuring GVA net of
displacement. Experience from PIMS indicates that business surveys are not a suitable method for collecting GVA data,
as respondents are generally not well placed to make the necessary assessments, and these lines of enquiry are perceived
as burdensome by interviewees.

2 The target was set on “the value of additional exports generated for each £1 DTI/FCO expenditure”, with the baseline set at £20:£1.
3 The target was to “Deliver a measurable improvement in the business performance of UKTI customers”.
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Calculation of Total Beneﬁt
1. The method of calculation of the £3.6 billion estimated total beneﬁt generated by UKTI trade services is summarised below, in
three parts:
s Estimation of mean beneﬁt per business supported: For this period, the mean was £170k across all trade services, including
website users, and £175k excluding web site users. The former ﬁgure has been used in the illustrative example in paragraph
2 below;
s De-duplication to count the number of businesses who received support during the year: De-duplication is necessary
because some businesses will have used more than one service in the course of a year. For purposes of measuring
performance against UKTI’s CSR2007 target, this ﬁgure is shown excluding website users, and was 20,700. An alternative,
21,400, which includes website users, is also published in the PIMS results.
s Grossing up from the mean: The total de-duplicated number of businesses is multiplied by the mean. For all trade services
excluding web site, this is £175k x 20,700 = £3,620m; including website users, this is £170k x 21,400 = £3,640m.
2. Calculation of the mean beneﬁt, in terms of additional proﬁt attributed speciﬁcally to the help provided by UKTI, follows the
following steps:
s 3TAGE  n &IRMS ASKED TO ESTIMATE THE EXPECTED BENElT IN TERMS OF BOTTOM LINE PROlT a % n a 
s 3TAGE  n %STIMATES CONVERTED TO PROlT FOR THOSE INDICATING lGURE GIVEN IS IN TERMS OF TURNOVER %% n a 
s 3TAGE  n &UTURE EXPECTATIONS ALLOWED FOR USING ANNUAL DISCOUNTING RATE OF   NUMBER OF YEARS IN THE FUTURE IS NORMALLY
CAPPED AT lVE YEARS FOR EXAMPLE WHEN THE RESPONDENT SAYS THE REVENUES WILL CONTINUE @INDElNITELY %XCEPTIONALLY UP TO TEN
years are counted, where the respondent is speciﬁc about the number of years (E11–13) – £388,000.
s 3TAGE  n !LLOWANCE MADE FOR ACTIONS NOT TAKEN AS A RESULT OF SUPPORT %n n a 
s 3TAGE  n !DJUSTMENT FOR NON ADDITIONALITY 4OTAL PROlT IS WEIGHTED BY PROPORTION hWOULD HAVE REALISED ANYWAYv
(E14) – £179,000.
s 3TAGE  n #ONSISTENCY CHECK AND FURTHER ADDITIONALITY CHECK !DJUSTED TO ZERO IF NO IMPACT HAS BEEN RECORDED AGAINST AT
least one of two qualitative impact measures, namely: “change in behaviour (A83)” or “barriers to market access overcome”
(A92) – £170,000. Impact is not counted in these qualitative measures if the ﬁrm has said they would have achieved similar
results in any case.
3. To calculate the average beneﬁt-costs ratio, the total additional proﬁt generated by UK businesses is divided by the total costs
of trade support (adjusted to remove the defence exports promotion costs as these are NOT included in the scope of beneﬁts
measured for 2008–09).
s a M DIVIDED BY aM aM n 5+4) $3/ COSTS OF aM  a TO a
4. All outliers are checked by a qualitative call back to the respondent by one of the OMB Research Directors. (If the respondent is
not able to provide a credible or consistent explanation the observation is reduced to zero.)

120 ANNEXES

!..%8 " n 5+4) #32 0ERFORMANCE &RAMEWORK !GREEMENT
Technical note on deﬁnitions and measurement of high level targets
Note: The measurement mechanism for CSR2007 Target 1 includes a survey-based instrument which was tested through
surveys of respondents from previous years’ inward investment involved successes. Analysis of the ﬁndings has shown
that the initial formulation of some of the detail was not fully capturing some aspects of the impact and inﬂuence of the
support. The rating used for measuring inﬂuence of the support against the 70% target has been revised to take account of
these ﬁndings.
Deﬁnitions and measurement mechanisms
Target 1: Attract high value foreign direct investment to the UK.
(a) Number of involved inward investment successes:
Measurement mechanism: Project records on UKTI’s CRM.
Deﬁnition: Criteria deﬁning an involved inward investment success were set out by the International Business Development
Forum (IBDF) and agreed by IBDF members including the RDAs, Devolved Administration and UKTI. The IDBF was formerly
known as the Committee on Overseas Promotion (COP). The criteria has recently been reviewed by the IBDF Output Measures and
Benchmarking Sub Group.
(b) Number of “high value” and “good quality” projects:
Measurement mechanism: Via independent survey of a random sample of the reported involved successes. The survey collects
data on project characteristics which are used to classify the projects as “high value”, “good quality”, or other. The fraction of
projects classiﬁed in each category is then grossed up to provide estimates of the total number of involved successes which are
“high value” and “good quality”.
Deﬁnitions: The project characteristics which are used to classify the projects as “high value” or “good quality” capture features
of projects which have been identiﬁed by academic research as likely to be associated with a positive impact on UK productivity,
in particular through knowledge spillovers and increases in knowledge intensive economic activity in the UK. Project characteristics
are classiﬁed as high, medium or low indicators of value, and projects are then classiﬁed according to the number and quality of
these indicators which are present. Indicators include: having R&D as the main focus of a project is classiﬁed as a high indicator
of project value; having new to the world, new to the sector, or new to UK business models or technical processes at the site.
Background: Identiﬁcation of project characteristics likely to be associated with positive impact on UK productivity and knowledge
spillovers beneﬁted from advice provided by Professor Richard Harris, of the University of Glasgow. Professor Harris carried out a
project for UKTI in this context to analyse characteristics of inward investment projects using data from the Community Innovation
Survey, and made recommendations about indicators which should be used to classify projects as “high value” and “good quality”.
These indicators were then tested for practical use through a pilot survey of involved inward investment successes, carried out
by OMB Research during 2006–07. Recommendations from the pilot were then used to reﬁne details of the methodology,
in particular to ensure that the required data could be captured without undue interview length. UKTI continues to monitor
developments in the academic literature with respect to factors associated with productivity growth and knowledge spillovers, and
would expect to review the set of value indicators periodically, to take account of relevant new evidence.
(c) Percentage agreeing that UKTI or its RDA delivery partner had signiﬁcant favourable inﬂuence on the decision to locate
or expand in the UK, or on the scale or scope of the project:
Measurement mechanism: Via the same independent survey of a random sample of the reported involved successes as is used to
measure project value.
Deﬁnition: Respondents are asked about the extent to which the support provided had in uenced the project with respect to
decisions on a number of project features, including aspects of project scope such as increased the amount of R&D at the site,
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as well as the decision to go ahead with the investment at all. A 1 to 5 rating scale is used, where 1 = no in uence, and 5 = very
signiﬁcant in uence. Performance against the target is measured as the percentage rating the in uence at 4 or 5.
Background: A former UKTI Public Service Agreement (PSA) target on major projects focused on “the percentage of ﬁrms
reporting that UK T&I support was a signiﬁcant factor in their performance”. The target level was 70%. A higher level is not
realistic, because experience of previous research has demonstrated that the extent to which businesses are willing to attribute
in uence to support re ects variable subjective judgments by individual business people about the relative signiﬁcance of internal
vs. external in uences on their business’s management decisions. In addition, performance against the target is likely to be
in uenced by UKTI’s strategic policy focus on high value projects, which means that lower priority projects are expected to receive
less intensive forms of assistance, making recall by respondents for these projects more difﬁcult. Given that decisions relating to
inward investment projects are likely to be of substantial strategic importance to the company concerned, scores of 3–5 against
this target as deﬁned above could be seen as a challenging indicator of signiﬁcant in uence.
Target 2: Improve the performance of UK businesses by helping them to internationalise.
(a) Number of businesses helped to exploit overseas business opportunities
Measurement mechanism: Via independent analysis of data from UKTI’s CRM and from the administrative records of businesses
that have paid for trade development support under the Overseas Market Introduction Service (OMIS). The analysis is carried out by
the market research specialist who also uses these data to conduct the PIMS for UKTI trade services.
Deﬁnitions: Businesses are counted against the target only once in the year, even if they have received support relating to more
than one overseas market during the year. A business is deﬁned as a separate legal entity. Businesses are only counted against the
target for which details of support have been provided to the independent market research specialist for inclusion in PIMS. All such
businesses are eligible for interview and are selected for interview at random.
(b) Number of innovative businesses helped to exploit overseas business opportunities
Measurement mechanism: Via independent survey of a random sample of businesses who have received help from UKTI to exploit
overseas business opportunities (PIMS).
Deﬁnition: PIMS respondents are asked about characteristics of their business including R&D activity and other key indicators of
innovation, and are classiﬁed as innovative if they report such characteristics. The indicators used for this classiﬁcation are based
on relevant questions from the Community Innovation Survey, and are deﬁned to capture innovation in services sectors as well
as in manufacturing. Full details are published in the annual reports on PIMS on the UKTI website at www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk/
UKTI/pims. The fraction of respondents classiﬁed as innovative is grossed up to provide an estimate of the number of innovative
businesses helped. A business is counted against the target only once in the year, even if they have received help in more than one
market.
Background: Details of the methodology for capturing data about R&D and other key indicators of innovation activity were tested
through a number of waves of PIMS, seeking to ensure that the questions used would capture innovation activity in services
sectors as well as in manufacturing. Analysis of responses by sector suggests that services sector respondents are somewhat less
likely to be classiﬁed in PIMS as innovative. It is not clear whether this re ects a true picture, or perhaps a slight remaining bias
in the methodology which may not fully capture innovation in services sectors. However, analysis of PIMS results has consistently
shown that businesses classiﬁed as innovative are more likely to derive substantial beneﬁt from UKTI support, as measured by
the percentage reporting improved business performance. This is consistent with recent academic research which shows that
innovative companies have greater capacity to identify and beneﬁt from new ideas and knowledge from external sources, or
”absorptive capacity”.4
(c) Percentage improving business performance as a result of UKTI support
Measurement mechanism: Via independent survey of a random sample of businesses who have received help from UKTI to
exploit overseas business opportunities (PIMS).

4 A discussion of the concept of “absorptive capacity” is provided in Harris and Li (2006) and (2007), together with quantitative evidence showing clear links between levels
of absorptive capacity and innovation, as well as links to export activity.
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Deﬁnition: The deﬁnition used for this measure was developed by a team of academic researchers at the University of Reading,
and focuses on capturing medium term impact on overall business productivity and proﬁtability, rather than on additional sales
or exports. In order to be counted against the measure, the respondent must report impact on both productivity and proﬁtability.
In addition, as a robustness and consistency check, the respondent must also have reported evidence of new business having been
won as a direct result of the support.
Background: This deﬁnition has remained unchanged from the previous Spending Review period, in order to ensure continuity
and comparability of results over time. Details of the data collection methodology changed on 1 January 2006, when OMB
Research took over responsibility for the survey from the University of Reading, and the scale of the survey was also substantially
increased. Prior to the change, a large scale pilot survey was carried out to test details of the new methodology; full details are
described in the report on the pilot, available on the UKTI website at www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk/ukti/pims As another approach to
testing the validity of the measure, analysis has been carried out to investigate the speciﬁc mechanisms through which the support
leads to impact on business performance. For each trade service, the most frequently reported mechanisms of impact are reported
regularly in the PIMS results. These show that impact on business performance results from enabling the client to overcome key
barriers to overseas markets, and/or to upgrade their approach through learning more about how to go about overseas business.
The most frequently cited mechanisms of impact are:
s
s
s
s
s
s

GAINED ACCESS TO CUSTOMERSBUSINESS PARTNERS NOT OTHERWISE AVAILABLE
GAINED ACCESS TO INFORMATION NOT OTHERWISE AVAILABLE
IMPROVED PROlLE OR CREDIBILITY OVERSEAS
IMPROVED KNOWLEDGE OF THE COMPETITIVE ENVIRONMENT
IMPROVED OVERSEAS MARKETING STRATEGY AND
GAINED THE CONlDENCE TO EXPLORE OR EXPAND IN AN OVERSEAS MARKET OR MARKETS

Target 3: R&D activity
Measurement mechanism: Via independent survey of a random sample of the reported FDI involved successes, and a separate
independent survey of a random sample of businesses who have received help from UKTI to exploit overseas business opportunities.
Deﬁnition: Respondents are asked about additional R&D activity as a result of the support provided. The fraction of respondents
reporting such additional R&D for involved inward investment projects, and the fraction of businesses who have received help to
exploit overseas business opportunities, are then grossed up, respectively, to provide estimates of the total number of businesses
increasing R&D activity in the UK.
Background: Details of the methodology for capturing data about additional R&D activity were tested through a number of
waves of UKTI’s PIMS. In addition, follow-up qualitative research was conducted to investigate interpretation of the R&D
results, and to explore the mechanisms which were generating in uence on business R&D. A full report on this research,
Internationalisation, Growth and Novel Product Development in Young Innovative Businesses, is published on the UKTI website.
The research found that trade development support generates additional business investment in R&D through a combination of
learning beneﬁts, which give rise to ideas for new R&D, and business performance beneﬁts, which enable the ﬁrm to afford the
increased investment. The ﬁndings are consistent with recent quantitative academic research,5 which demonstrates that exporting
and investment in R&D are closely linked.
Target 4: UK reputation
Measurement mechanism: Via independent survey of businesses and opinion formers in four key sectors: ﬁnancial services, ICT,
Life science and energy; and three major overseas markets: USA, China and India. A baseline survey was carried out by RSM during
2007–08, and change will be monitored by annual replication of the baseline survey.

5 Reports for UKTI on this issue are available on the UKTI website, and include: Harris and Li (2006) [Establishment Level Empirical Study of Links between Exporting,
Innovation, and Productivity]. Reports to UKTI including [Participation in Export markets and Productivity in Uk Manufacturing] (2004) and Harris and Li (2007)
[Firm Level Empirical Study of the contribution of Exporting to UK Productivity Growth]
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Deﬁnitions: As the target relates to impact over the Spending Review period, success will be measured by comparing the results
of the survey in the ﬁnal year of the period with those of the baseline. Success is deﬁned as an increase in a range of Key
Performance Indicators (KPIs) which capture the various aspects of UK reputation. The indicators are:
KPI 1: UK favourability
Measure (QC1): Increased mean favourability score for UK relative to average score for comparator countries.
KPI 2: UK reputation measures
Measure (QC4a): Increase in one or more of the four reputation measures (RM1 – RM4) compared to 2008 benchmark.
RM1 = Average score across all Business Environment indicators
RM2 = Average score across all Innovation, Creativity indicators
RM3 = Average score across all Connections indicators
RM4 = Average score across all Quality, Value and Delivery indicators
KPI 3: Overall UK reputation
Measure (QC4b): Increased mean score for UK compared to 2008 benchmark.
KPI 4: Current/intention to invest/source
Measure (QA1/2/7/8): Increase in those currently investing in, or very likely to invest in/source from, the UK in the next ﬁve years.
KPI 5: Positive associations
Measure (QC5): Increase in scores relative to one or more comparator countries in the number of attributes associated with the UK.
Background: A review of literature on measurement of reputation could not identify any examples of research which had
very similar objectives, although some examples of academic research in broadly related areas were found. In order to inform
development of methodology, UKTI hosted a seminar in September 2007, which included presentations from a number of these
researchers. One of these, Dr Nicolas Papadopoulos from Carleton University, Ottawa, Ontario, Canada, also contributed more
detailed advice on the methodology for the baseline survey during the course of its development. A pilot qualitative survey was
conducted by RSM prior to ﬁnalising details of the methodology for the main baseline survey.
Target 5: Improve UKTI’s operational performance.
(a) Increase professionalism
Measurement mechanism: Via independent survey of a random sample of businesses who have received help from UKTI to exploit
overseas business opportunities (PIMS).
Deﬁnition: Quality and satisfaction ratings are measured as the percentage of respondents giving scores of 4 or 5 on a 1 to
5 rating scale, where 1 = very poor and 5 = very good, in response to a speciﬁed set of questions. The quality measure, PIMS
measure A09, is deﬁned as the average score across ratings for a number of speciﬁc aspects of service quality, details of which vary
by service. Satisfaction is deﬁned as PIMS measure B10, and is based on a single question, which is the same across all services.
Full details are provided in PIMS reports available at www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk/ukti/pims
Background: For purposes of comparability, the PIMS quality and satisfaction measures are based on measures which were used
in the BERR Business Support Cross-Product Monitoring Survey (BSMS), and which can be identiﬁed in reports on these surveys
by the same reference numbers. Variation in the detailed set of questions used to measure quality allows the surveys to capture
ratings on the speciﬁc aspects of service quality which are most relevant in the business context. Analysis of PIMS data shows
that quality scores are signiﬁcantly correlated with impact scores, particular on aspects of service which relate most closely to the
mechanisms of impact on business performance, such as the quality and relevance of information and advice provided.
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(b) Increase charging
Measurement mechanism: Via actual revenue, received into UKTI’s OMIS account on a monthly basis.
Deﬁnition: Customers pay for OMIS services online. Revenue is received via Worldpay and credited to UKTI’s OMIS account after
reconciliation. The ﬁnal ﬁgure for each month is available around the third day of the following month.
Background: The work that the staff in UKTI’s overseas network achieves for private sector companies is charged for via OMIS.
Companies and groups of companies can commission work online through ITAs in the English regions, equivalent staff in the
Devolved Administrations or direct from posts overseas. Charges are based on the amount of time estimated to complete the work
requested. Work covered includes market information, contacts, face-to-face advice, programme arranging, product launches,
organisation of receptions, etc. UKTI does have other income sources but OMIS is by far the largest. OMIS Income has grown from
under £1m per annum in 2006–07 to more than £3.6m in 2008–09. This has been achieved by:
s
s
s
s

HIGHLIGHTING THE mEXIBILITY OF UKTI services available from the network,
SPREADING BEST PRACTICE IN THE OVERSEAS NETWORK
TARGETING OVERSEAS NETWORK AND %NGLISH REGIONAL NETWORK AND
INTRODUCING CHANGES TO THE /-)3 SYSTEM TO ENABLE GREATER VOLUMES OF WORK TO BE DELIVERED MORE EFlCIENTLY
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!..%8 # +EY 3OURCES OF 5+4) $ATA
The key source of data for measuring how we are performing against our targets is UKTI’s CRM system, which provides the
foundation information used within our PIMS.
s #2- n PROVIDES 5+4) STAFF WORLDWIDE WITH A SINGLE VIEW INTO CUSTOMER HISTORY ALLOWING US TO SHARE RELEVANT CUSTOMER
information across the organisation and avoid duplication of effort. In doing this, it enhances the quality and
professionalism of the service we provide to customers.
s 0)-3 n OUR KEY PERFORMANCE MEASUREMENT TOOL )T IS AN INDEPENDENT SURVEY OF OUR PERFORMANCE CARRIED OUT ON OUR BEHALF
by a leading market research organisation, OMB6.
2.3.2 It is, therefore, vital for measuring our progress, as well as for the delivery of high-quality, professional services to our
customers, that all customer interactions, service deliveries and active and successful inward investment projects are
recorded fully and accurately on the CRM system throughout the year. To underline the importance of this to UKTI, all
CRM users are required to meet a 100% accuracy target for entering customer data onto the CRM system within 48 hours.
Customer Relationship Management (CRM)
2.3.3 UKTI’s implementation of a web-based CRM system was further progressed in 2008–09 and the system is now available in
all 98 markets where UKTI has a presence, the nine English regions and HQ. The system:
s
s
s
s
s

PROVIDES UKTI staff worldwide with a single view into customer history,
SHARES RELEVANT CUSTOMER INFORMATION ACROSS THE ORGANISATION
AVOIDS DUPLICATION OF EFFORT
ENHANCES THE QUALITY AND PROFESSIONALISM OF THE SERVICE PROVIDED TO CUSTOMERS AND
HELPS TO MEASURE 5+4)S ACTIVITIES AND PERFORMANCE

2.3.4 CRM therefore helps customers by enabling UKTI staff to respond to them more quickly and efﬁciently, and with a greater
understanding of their needs.
2.3.5 The data from CRM underpins UKTI’s PIMS. This client interview based survey provides evidence about service quality and
about what difference UKTI makes to business.
2.3.6 The CRM system now has details of over 120,000 organisations, half a million services and interactions with our customers
and 17,000 inward investment projects.

6 PIMS Research Reports, providing quarterly assessments of our performance can be found at www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk/ukti/pims
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The Performance and Impact Monitoring Survey (PIMS)
PIMS is an independent central monitoring survey of users of UKTI’s business services. It measures the performance and
impact of UKTI support.
PIMS covers all signiﬁcant customer-facing trade services and provides evidence about service quality and about what
difference UKTI makes to businesses. It uses a range of measures, including information on the overall performance of UKTI
against its DSO indicators.
The percentage ﬁgures in these indicators re ect those ﬁrms reporting that they have achieved sustainable (ie longer-term)
improvements in productivity and proﬁtability, after they have secured additional export business as a result of support from
UKTI. Measures of a range of other business activities that are covered by PIMS have improved UKTI’s measurement of other
aspects of its impact on business capabilities.
PIMS quarterly surveys are based on telephone interviews with a sample of users of UKTI’s principal services. The interviews
are carried out in two waves.
The ﬁrst wave provides an initial assessment of the difference that UKTI’s support has made, taking into account changes
the business may have made to its products, practices or marketing strategies, or impact on other business decisions. These
interviews are carried out four to seven months after support has been provided.
Subsequent waves of interviews are designed to assess the longer-term impact of UKTI services. These second wave interviews
are carried out 12 months later. The surveys concentrate on gathering information on business performance and processes;
how these have changed over the period since service delivery; and the factors which lie behind the reported changes, such
as improved knowledge and capabilities, or help with overcoming other barriers to overseas market entry. The emphasis is
on factors affecting business competitiveness, and the measurement methodology aims to capture sustainable rather than
unsustainable increases.
Other issues covered by the survey questions include:
s NEW BUSINESS BOTH IN THE TARGET MARKET AS WELL AS NEW SALES IN ANY OTHER MARKET AND ANY POSITIVE OR NEGATIVE
effect on domestic sales,
s IMPACT ON SKILLS AND BUSINESS BEHAVIOUR INCLUDING IMPROVEMENTS IN PRODUCTS PROCESSES OR STRATEGIES AND IMPACT
on investment in research and new product development,
s QUALITY RELEVANCE AND USEFULNESS OF INFORMATION ADVICE OR CONTACTS PROVIDED BY 5+4)
s THE EXTENT TO WHICH SIMILAR BENElTS COULD HAVE BEEN ACHIEVED THROUGH OTHER MEANS INCLUDING THE AVAILABILITY OF
any private sector sources of advice or information, and
s BUSINESS PROlLE CHARACTERISTICS AND STRATEGIC MOTIVES FOR EXPORTING
Data gathered on business proﬁle characteristics and strategic motives for exporting are used in analysis of the survey results,
to help identify characteristics of businesses most likely to beneﬁt from UKTI support. The questions also contain crosschecks,
including data about actual performance, enabling the consultant carrying out the interview to identify inconsistent
responses. The follow-up interviews provide a further opportunity for crosschecks with ﬁrms’ initial responses.
The results indicate how UKTI’s assistance has improved ﬁrms’ performance, especially productivity and proﬁtability, and
enable a judgment to be made as to whether UKTI has met the “new-to-export” and “new-to-market” indicators. Results
from the initial wave of interviews also provide UKTI managers with early indications of how well different services are
performing, so that any necessary adjustments can be made to drive up service quality.

DEPARTMENTAL REPORT AND RESOURCE ACCOUNTS 2008–09

127

!..%8 $ n #OMPLAINTS TO THE $EPARTMENT
Dealing with complaints
UKTI is committed to providing a high quality, accessible and responsive service to businesses and the community and takes
all complaints very seriously, although in fact we receive few complaints. We give all our staff guidance on how to deal with
complaints in line with Cabinet Ofﬁce guidance7 and the Freedom of Information Act.
Complaints are handled by our parent Departments FCO and BERR8 and UKTI.9
For further details please contact the:
s "%22 %NQUIRY 5NIT ON    OR EMAIL AT ENQUIRIES BERRGSIGOVUK
s &#/ AT +ING #HARLES 3TREET ,ONDON 37! !(
s 5+4) %NQUIRY 5NIT ON   MINICOM    OR EMAIL AT ENQUIRIES

UKTIGSIGOVUK

Complaints to the Parliamentary Ombudsman about UKTI
Reported on:
not upheld (%)

In hand at
1 April 2008

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

0

In hand at
1 April 2007

Reported on

Reported on:
Reported on:
fully upheld (%) partly upheld (%)

BERR

0

0

0

FCO

0

0

UKTI

0

0

During 2007–08 period there were no complaints upheld by the Parliamentary Ombudsman. Figures for 2008–09 are not yet
available.
Further information can be found in the Parliamentary Ombudsman’s Annual Report 2007–2008.10

7 For further information about Service First – The Six Standards for Central Government see: http://archive.cabinetofﬁce.gov.uk/serviceﬁrst/2000/introduc/six.htm
8 The current guidance can be found at: www.berr.gov.uk/administration/contact/complaints/index.html
9 The current guidance can be found at: www.uktradeinvest.gov.uk
10 Parliamentary and Health Service Ombudsman Annual Report 2007–08 and previous reports are available from:
www.ombudsman.org.uk/improving_services/annual_reports/index.html
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UKTI programme expenditure: Major programmes
2005–06
Outturn
£m

2006–07
Outturn
£m

2007–08
Outturn
£m

2008–09
Outturn2,3
£m

2009–10
Plans2
£m

Trade Development which includes:

68.0

63.4

57.6

58.9

60.2

Support for Exhibitions and Seminars Abroad (SESA)

14.7

International Trade Advisers

16.1

17.6

16.4

17.3

18.4

Sector Speciﬁc Support

13.1

13.5

9.3

8.8

8.9

–

10.5

8.5

7.7

8.2

Passport

5.8

6.1

4.9

3.9

3.2

Marketing and Publicity

6.3

5.7

3.4

5.4

4.9

Defence & Security Export Services

–

–

3.6

1.9

2.8

High Growth Market Specialists

–

0.3

2.4

2.6

–
2.4

Tradeshow Access

Fiscal Compass (formerly High Growth Market)

Replaced by Tradeshow Access
Programme from 2006–07

–

–

–

–

Export Promoters

1.0

0.8

0.5

–

Business Specialists

1.9

2.6

3.6

3.6

4.4

Income

(1.1)

(1.7)

(3.6)

(4.6)

(4.7)

Inward Investment which includes:

27.4

30.7

32.6

31.9

31.2

Grants to RDAs

15.2

17.2

17.2

16.8

16.4

Promotional Expenditure

12.2

13.5

15.4

15.1

14.8

New Industry New Jobs additional resource

–

–

–

–

5.0

R&D Programme1

–

4.7

7.7

7.6

7.2

This is not a comprehensive list of all UKTI-funded programmes but includes the main areas of spend only. Overseas Project
Fund, Outward Missions and Sales Lead Service, reported in previous Departmental Reports, ceased from 2006–07 and have been
removed from this table.
Notes
1. R&D programme budgets started in September 2006, following the March 2006 pre-Budget Announcement on a new
strategy for UKTI, which included committing up to £9m budget to R&D during the SR2004 period. This encompassed both
existing UKTI programmes (eg Global Entrepreneurs Programme) and other new activities listed elsewhere in this Report. Our
Strategy is committed to continuing to devote resources to R&D in the CSR2007 period. R&D expenditure covers both trade
development and inward investment.
2. Includes Defence & Security Organisation, budget transferred 2008–09. The 2007–08 ﬁgures are restated to include
this change.
3. Plans for 2009–10 include £5m additional resources in the 2009 budget.
Where ﬁgures differ slightly between published reports (Departmental Report and Accounts) the latest published account ﬁgures
have been used.
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Expenditure on trade and investment

Expenditure

2005–06
Outturn

2006–07
Outturn

2007–08
Outturn

2008–09
Outturn

2009–10
Plans4

96.5

95.8

93.8

95.4

101.1

Income

(1.1)

(1.7)

(3.6)

(4.6)

(4.7)

Net

95.4

94.1

90.2

90.8

96.4
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UKTI continues to follow strictly the recommendations of the Committee on Standards in Public Life and Cabinet Ofﬁce
guidelines in handling sponsorship arrangements with the private sector. It uses detailed guidelines and central advice from its
parent departments.
During 2008–09 UKTI received the following private sector sponsorship (only sponsorship exceeding £5,000 for a single event
is shown here).
Sponsorship table of amounts received during 2008–09
Sponsor

Amount + notes Event / Note

Harvey Ingram LLP

£3,000

East Midlands
Development
Agency

£5,000

Crayﬁsh Design

£1,000

London Chamber
of Commerce &
Industry
London
Development
Agency
Barclays

£6,500 Passport to Export Awards (London Region)

One North East

£10,000
£5,000
£10,000

Barclays

£5,287.50

Emirates

£2,000

Annual exporters dinner (North East Region)

HSBC

China: Regional Cities Roadshow, seminar across
£10,000 UK regions to promote regional cities report,
Dec08–March09 – organised by CBBC

IBW

£10,000

Taiwan Public
Construction
Commission
Bronzeoak,
Shell, BP, HSBC,
Prudential, Rio
Tinto, Premier Oil,
Unilever.
HSBC

Sponsorship received by
regional delivery partner,
indirect beneﬁt to UKTI

£20,000
£2,500

Royal Bank of
Scotland

Sponsorship received directly
by UKTI

£25,000

Greater London
Enterprise
Regional Language
Network

International Business Awards (East Midlands
Region)

Comments

Sponsorship received by
regional delivery partner,
indirect beneﬁt to UKTI

Going Global seminars in China, June 2008
organised by CBBC

Costs relating to Architecture seminar in Taiwan
(venue, brochures, interpretation) October 2008
£5,900
UKTI recruited the speakers and co-organised
the event
£7,900 Celebration of HM The Queen’s Birthday, held in
(IDR 135 million) Jakarta on 25 June 2008. The theme for the event
was Climate Change. The sponsorship covered the
cost of display panels featuring British Companies
activities
£45,250 Britain in the Region, Dubai, November 2008
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Sponsor

Portland Trust
Marketing
Manchester

BBC World Wide

Grant Thornton

Amount + Notes Event/Note

£6,327.50
£10,000

Palestinian Investment Conference, London,
December 2008
UKTI Winning Beyond 2012 Global Sports
Conference held on 1 April 2008 in Manchester

Approx £50,000 of
material from motion
gallery. Estimate
is based on what
they would have Contribution of motion gallery material to
charged a commercial Love & Money.
organisation for a
ﬁve-year international
licence for approx 11
minutes of material
£5,000

London Stock
Exchange

£10,000

Yorkshire Forward

£15,000 UKTI Business Awards (Mumbai)

SEEDA/SWERDA

£15,000

NWDA

£15,000

British Midlands

£15,000

Virgin Atlantic

Comments

approx. £15,000 UKTI Business Awards (Mumbai)
in value 10 Upper Class tickets

Conversion into Sterling is at the average exchange rate for the year.
The North America Scholarship Programme
The North America Marketing Scholarship Programme gives representatives from selected UK SMEs the opportunity to attend an
intensive marketing course at one of the world’s leading business schools, JL Kellogg School of Management in Illinois, Chicago.
This is followed by a one week executive attachment to high proﬁle American businesses and corporations, to see the marketing
process in action. The Programme supports up to 20 scholarship placements a year, ten in the Spring and ten in the Autumn.
The Programme, which has been running since 1992, covers the latest management theories and case studies to help participants
develop long-term business relationships in the US, and the unique skills needed to succeed in North America. UK SMEs would be
very unlikely to get access to the courses without the assistance of UKTI.
The course Programme is run at zero cost to the companies and each placement is worth in the region of £6,200 (excluding
expenses). Overall costs per year are approximately £124,000. The Programme is funded by UKTI with its partner sponsors; the Ellis
Goodman Foundation, which provides US$2,500 per Scholar each year and British Airways (BA) who provide ights.
In 2009/10 Ellis Goodman will contribute approx £35,000 (30%) against UKTI’s contribution of £80,000 (70%).
The Canadian element of this scheme was discontinued in 2006.
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A-in-A

Appropriations in Aid

DVD

Digital Versatile Disc

AME

Annually Managed Expenditure

ECR

Export Communications Review

AO

Accounting Ofﬁcer

EET

Economics & Evaluation Team

ATF

Asia Task Force

EIU

Economist Intelligence Unit

ATO

Accredited Trade Organisation

EMEA

Europe, Middle East and Africa

AUSA

Association of the United States Army

EMRS

Export Marketing Research Scheme

B2B

Business to Business

EST

British Army Extra Support Team

BA

British Airways

EU

European Union

BCCI

Birmingham Chamber of Commerce
and Industry

FCO

Foreign and Commonwealth Ofﬁce

FCP

Flexible Computing Programme

BCSB

Banking Code Standards Board

FDI

Foreign Direct Investment

BERR

Business, Enterprise & Regulatory Reform

FReM

Financial Reporting Manual

BG

Business Group

FRS

Financial Reporting Standards

BIGT

Bioscience, Innovation and Growth Team

FSSAB

Financial Services Strategy Advisory Board

BIS

Business, Innovation and Skills

FTE

Full Time Equivalent

BRIC

Brazil, Russia, India and China

FTSE

Financial Times Stock Exchange

BSMS

Business Support Cross-Product Monitoring
Survey

FY

Financial Year

BSSP

Business Support Simpliﬁcation Programme

GAAP

Generally Accepted Accounting Practice

C&AG

Comptroller and Auditor General

GDP

Gross Domestic Product

CB

Companion of the Order of the Bath

GEP

Global Entrepreneurs Programme

CBBC

China-Britain Business Council

GO

Government Ofﬁce

CBE

Commander of the British Empire

GPP

Global Partnership Programme

CBI

Confederation of British Industry

GPS

Global Positioning System

CETV

Cash Equivalent Transfer Value

GVA

Gross Value Added

CIPFA

Chartered Institute of Public Finance and
Accountancy

HGMP

High Growth Markets Pilot

HMG

Her Majesty’s Government

CMG

Companion of the Order of St Michael
and St George

HMT

Her Majesty’s Treasury

HQ

Headquarter

COP

Committee on Overseas Promotion

HRH

His Royal Highness

CRM

Customer Relationship Management

IATC

International Agri-Technology Centre

CSR

Comprehensive Spending Review

IBDF

International Business Development Forum

CT

Computerised Tomography

IBM

International Business Machines

CUE

Coventry University Enterprises

IBT

International Brieﬁng Tour

DA

Devolved Administration

ICT

Information and Communication Technologies

DAG

Defence Advisory Group

ID

Investor Development

DEL

Departmental Expenditure Limit

IDEX

International Defence Exhibition

DESO

Defence Export Service Organisation

IG

International Group

DFID

Department for International Development

IiP

Investors in People

DIUS

Department for Innovation, Universities and Skills

IOD

International Organisation Development

DSO

Departmental Strategic Objective

IPR

Intellectual Property Rights
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ITA

Independent Trade Adviser

RSA

Royal Society of Arts

ITFG

Information Technology and Finance Group

S&I

Science and Innovation

ITS

Immune Targeting Systems

SAG

Security/Sector Advisory Group

ITSO

Information Technology Security Ofﬁcer

SBAC

Society of British Aerospace Companies

ITT

International Trade Team

SDI

Scottish Development International

JETCO

Joint Economic Trade Committee

SESA

Support for Exhibitions and Seminars Abroad

KCMG

Knight Commander of St. Michael
and St. George

SG

Sectors Group

KPI

Key Performance Indicator

SHRG

Strategy & Human Resources Group

LCEGS

Low Carbon Environmental Goods and Services

SIRO

Senior Information Risk Owner

LSC

National Learning and Skills Council

SITPRO

Simplifying International Trade Promotions

MG

Marketing Group

SLZ

Soft Landing Zones

MoD

Ministry of Defence

SME

Small and Medium-sized Enterprises

MOG

Machinery of Government

SR

Spending Review

TAP

Tradeshow Access Programme

MP

Member of Parliament

MVS

Market Visit Support

TSO

The Stationery Ofﬁce

NAO

National Audit Ofﬁce

UK

United Kingdom

NCR

Net Cash Requirement

UKAN

UK Advisory Network

OBE

Order of the British Empire

UKIBC

UK India Business Council

OECD

Organisation for Economic Co-operation
and Development

UK-IPO

UK Intellectual Property Ofﬁce

UKTI

UK Trade & Investment

OGC

Ofﬁce of Government Commerce

UKTI DSO

UKTI Defence & Security Organisation

OGD

Other Government Department

UNCTAD

OMIS

Overseas Market Introduction Service

United Nations Conference on Trade
and Development

ONS

Ofﬁce for National Statistics

URL

Uniform Resource Locator

OUBS

Open University Business School

VAT

Value Added Tax

PCPF

Parliamentary Contributory Pension Fund

VFM

Value For Money

PFI

Private Finance Initiative

WFE

World Future Energy

PIMS

Performance and Impact Monitoring Survey

PR

Public Relations

PSA

Public Service Agreement

PWP

Public Web Presence

R&D

Research and Development

RDA

Regional Development Agency

REP

Resources and Evaluation Panel

RfR

Request for Resources

RPI

Retail Prices Index
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